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Statement of compliance 
 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council hereby confirms that all statutory requirements in relation to 
the annual report, as outlined in the Local Government Act 2002, have been complied with. 
 

 
 
Ross Paterson Glenn Snelgrove 
His Worship the Mayor Chief Executive Officer 
Western Bay of Plenty District Western Bay of Plenty District Council 

 
 

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial 
statements  

This audit report relates to the financial statements of Western Bay of Plenty District Council (the 
District Council) for the year ended 30 June 2011 included on the District Council‟s website. The 
Council is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the District Council‟s website. We have 
not been engaged to report on the integrity of the District Council‟s website. We accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since it was 
initially presented on the website.   
The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an 
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the financial 
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic 
data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and the related audit report dated 22 September 2011 to confirm the information 
included in the audited financial statements presented on this website. 
Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Papamoa Hills Regional Park 
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Chief Executive’s Report  
 
  With little sign of the global recession 
abating, Council continues to operate in an 
extremely constrained financial environment. 
  After reviewing its capital expenditure plans 
for the next 12 months, Council has 
succeeded in keeping the District Rate 
increase for the average ratepayer during 
2011/12 year to 3% (including inflation).  
  This minimal increase was achieved by 
deferring capital works, cutting operational 
expenditure and putting all discretionary 
funding on hold. 
  Council is pleased to report that $31 million 
of the $49 million capital works programme 
has been completed in the past financial 
year.  The $31 million completed capital 
works does not include $16 million for the 
Maketu/Little Waihi wastewater scheme that 
began in August this year and will be 
completed in 2012.  This makes up the 
majority of the budget variance. 
  With the prolonged global recession 
continuing to impact across the entire 
economy, Council is greatly concerned about 
the ability to fund future capital projects and 
the ability of ratepayers to sustain further 
rates increases. 
  The comprehensive review of the 2009-19 
Long Term Plan takes place next year and 
will include a thorough revision of Council‟s 
work programme with a commitment to 
make savings wherever possible. 
  Adding to Council‟s concerns and those of 
the wider community is the unknown 
economic impact of the bacterial kiwifruit 
vine disease Psa.  At present the worst 
affected area is Te Puke.  If Psa becomes 
more widespread, the knock-on effect to the 
economy of the Western Bay communities 
would be significant as a result of the 
depressed viability of the kiwifruit sector. 
  Underpinning the kiwifruit industry is a vast 
network of businesses across all sectors – 
professional, trades, commerce, service 
industries and the accommodation sector. 
  All Western Bay communities are in some 
way reliant on the health of the kiwifruit 
industry for economic wellbeing.  Council is 
working closely with Kiwifruit Vine Health 
Inc. and all experts within the industry in 
order to keep in touch with developments so 
as to be in an informed position to respond 
to this challenging situation. 
  Recreation and leisure remain a focus of 
Council. 

  There is a strengthening relationship 
between Western Bay of Plenty District 
Council and its neighbours Tauranga City 
Council and Bay of Plenty Regional Council 
with regard to ensuring that our regional 
parks continue to progress with adequate 
resources and joint funding. 
  Development in the 1,638 ha TECT 
(Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust) All 
Terrain Park in upper Pyes Pa is exciting and 
has been enabled by significant investment.  
(50% funded by Council and 50% funded by 
Tauranga City Council.) 
  It is great to see the many user groups 
rolling up their sleeves to get stuck in to 
develop their respective areas.  It is this 
voluntary commitment and vision that will 
ultimately result in the Park being a fantastic 
playground for a variety of outdoor pursuits. 
  The Huharua Harbour Park at Plummer‟s 
Point has had a tremendous boost in the 
past year with the involvement of Māori 
Television and the filming of the Marae DIY 
project for the restoration of the historic 
Ongarahu Pa. 
  Council was very involved with the 
implementation of this project and staff 
worked alongside the programme‟s 
presenters to make this a successful 
community project.  The success of this 
project and the national exposure it gained is 
testimony to what can be achieved through 
the collaboration of community volunteers, 
tangata whenua, local government and 
private enterprise working towards a united 
vision. 
  SmartGrowth continues to be the long term 
vision for the development and settlement of 
the Western Bay subregion (Tauranga City 
and the Western Bay of Plenty District) 
despite the slow-down in growth.  
Assumptions for growth over the next ten 
years have been reduced which means 
expenditure on infrastructure can also be 
postponed. 
  The postponement of the 2011 census to 
March 2013 as a result of the February 2011 
earthquake in Christchurch has impacted on 
Council‟s ability to give accurate population 
statistics and trends over the past three 
years.   
  This delay means that Council does not 
have factual data of population densities and 
demographic trends on which to base its 
forward planning. 
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  This has a flow-on impact on Council‟s 
ability to determine changes in ethnic 
variances in our communities with a view to 
long term funding and community wellbeing 
requirements.  It is expected that research 
work, as part of the SmartGrowth review in 
2011/12 will help to fill this gap. 
  Work is well under way on preparatory 
work for the $455 million Tauranga Eastern 
Link.  Construction began in May this year 
and it has been especially valuable to have 
Transport Minister Stephen Joyce regularly 
visiting the project to ensure this road of 
national significance is on target. 
  Council is pleased to report that work is 
now underway on the wastewater scheme 
for the Maketu and Little Waihi communities.  
This project is expected to be completed in 
mid-2012. 
  Council has received the first instalment of 
the $10.5 million subsidy from Central 
Government for the Maketu/Little Waihi 
wastewater scheme and is awaiting the 
balance.  A further $2.1 million has been 
received from the Bay of Plenty Regional 
Council. 
  Development within our communities 
continues despite the constrained economic 
environment. 
  Council continues to advance 
comprehensive Community Development 
Plans in Maketu, Te Puke, Te Puna, 
Omokoroa, Katikati and Waihi Beach.  These 
plans are all at implementation stage and 
under the direction of community focus 
groups.  Council monitors their progress. 
  These plans, alongside other Council 
initiatives such as the Built Environment 
Strategy and Town Centre Plans are 
fundamental to our District‟s growth and so 
will not be cut-short by the tough economic 
climate. 
  Council‟s 10-year Performance Based 
Contract (PBC) for roading has entered its 
final year with In3roads.  This $125 million 
contract began in 2002 and has consistently 
delivered savings in roading expenditure and 
is on track to meet all performance measures 
by the end of the contract in 2012. 
  Despite the prolonged and deeper than 
expected economic downturn, particularly in 
relation to property development, Council 
has reported a net surplus of $6.718 million, 
compared to a budgeted surplus of  
$7.967 million. 
  Much of this budgeted variance is due to 
Council receiving to date just $4.2 million of 
the $10.5 million subsidy for the 

Maketu/Little Waihi wastewater scheme.  
The balance will be received in the 2011/12 
financial year as work progresses on the 
scheme. 
  Council had budgeted on revenue of  
$6.4 million from financial contributions on 
new subdivision development.  However, the 
significant reduction in subdivision 
development has resulted in Council 
receiving only $3 million of this expected 
revenue.  This shortfall has been offset partly 
by $2 million in revaluation of forestry asset 
gains in the TECT All Terrain Park. 
  Devaluation of Council‟s interest rate 
hedges has resulted in a $1.8 million non-
cash expense.  This is an unrealized loss that 
has been offset by a real saving of more 
than $1 million as a result of Council bringing 
its Utilities operations in-house from July 
2010 and a continued focus on reducing 
operational costs. 
  Council‟s balance sheet continues to 
strengthen with asset values increasing 
through valuation by $28.8 million compared 
to the budgeted increase of $46.8 million 
indicated in the Long Term Plan. 
  This has been offset by an increase in net 
debt of $13.5 million and this increase is 
within the budget forecast by Council for this 
financial year. 
  The global recession is a reality and there is 
no doubt it will continue to impact on 
Council‟s operations and the wider 
community over the next 12 months. 
  As the organisation moves into these 
troubled waters it is heartening to know that 
Council‟s strict adherence to financial 
prudence is paying off. 
  We remain in good financial stead.  
Providing we hold firm to the same financial 
discipline and have the support of united 
political governance, I have no doubt this 
Council will move to a stronger financial 
position over the next 12 months. 
  I thank elected members and Council staff 
for their cooperation and willingness to work 
as a team for the benefit of residents across 
the Western Bay of Plenty District.  It is in 
constrained times such as these that a united 
force and committed vision are the key to a 
successful outcome. 

 
Glenn Snelgrove 
Chief Executive Officer 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council
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Council at a glance 
  The Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
is the local authority for an area of 212,000 
hectares from Waihi Beach, through Katikati, 
Kaimai and Te Puke to Maketu.   
  The District‟s population of 42,075 people 
(Statistics NZ, 2006 Census) currently has 
19,941 ratepayers.  The annual rates 
revenue is $45.483 million. 
  The significant capital expenditure in recent 
years to upgrade infrastructure has increased 
Council‟s external debt to $150 million. 
 
Further information about the District can be 
found on page 140. 

Role of this Annual Report  
Purpose 
  This Annual Report is provided to compare 
the Council‟s actual performance for the year 
against what was forecast in the LTCCP or 
Annual Plan. 
 
Planning and Reporting Framework 
  Under the Local Government Act 2002, a 
Local Authority must prepare and adopt the 
following documents: 
 
 Long Term Council Community Plan 

(LTCCP) (Section 93) identifies Council‟s 
plans for the Western Bay over a 10 
year period.  It is reviewed every three 
years. 
 

 Annual Plan (Section 95) is produced in 
the two intervening years between each 
LTCCP.  It outlines any significant 
changes Council has made to the LTCCP 
and contains the annual budget. 

 
 Annual Report (Section 98) provides 

details of Council‟s actual performance 
for all activities against the plans for a 
specific year of the LTCCP or Annual 
Plan.  

 
 

 
 

Annual Plan 
Annual Budget 

Annual Report 
What was achieved 

Long Term Council Community Plan 
How Council will go about achieving the 
Community Outcomes 

Community Outcomes 
How the Community 
wants the District to be 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bringing the planning process together 
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Overview of Council’s performance 
 

Five year summary - financial overview  
 

Council’s five year financial performance summary 
 
 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Rates revenue 35,051 38,031 41,113 42,899 45,483 

Vested assets revenue 3,813 2,554 331 2,905 5,211 

Financial contributions revenue 9,323 5,191 3,783 5,003 2,990 

Total expenditure 44,967 59,473 69,044 67,096 69,896 

Total operating revenue 70,946 60,190 61,057 67,928 76,518 

Operating surplus/(deficit) 26,158 737 (8,493) 830 6,718 

Capital expenditure 61,406 27,657 23,083 24,654 29,554 

Working capital/(deficit) (13,427) (26,404) (3,795) (34,764) (36,184) 

External debt 85,773 96,120 126,517 122,514 150,437 

Fixed assets (net book value) 953,657 965,938 1,064,434 1,082,876 1,129,392 

 
 

Council’s five year financial statistics summary 
 
 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 

Proportion of rates to total operating revenue 0.49% 0.63% 0.67% 0.63% 0.59% 

External debt as a percentage of total assets 0.10% 0.11% 0.12% 0.11% 0.13% 

External debt per rateable property ($000s) 4.59 5.03 6.47 6.23 7.54 

Rateable properties 18,671 19,140 19,551 19,674 19,941 

Net debt to total revenue as a percentage 1.21% 1.60% 2.07% 1.80% 1.97% 

 
 
 
 

Treasury Ratios  
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External Debt per Rateable Property 
 

 
 
This graph shows that for each rateable property in the District there was $7,544 of external debt 
at 30 June 2011. 
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Service delivery performance 
 
  Council has structured its activities into 12 
groups which comprise a total of 32 
activities.  The 12 Activity Groups provide the 
main means of delivering Council‟s services 
and work programmes.  Our Achievements 
section of this document (from page 15) 
provides a detailed assessment of how well 
Council‟s activities performed during 
2010/11. 
 
 

Performance against 2010/11 targets 
  The LTCCP 2009-2019 identifies 
performance measures and targets for each 
activity.  These measures reflect the diversity 
of the activities and were developed from a 
range of sources.  Opportunities to 
benchmark Council activities with other local 
authorities or external agencies have been 
used where data is available. 
  Our Achievements section (from page 15) 
provides detailed financial and non-financial 
results for each activity.  A summary of 
Council‟s performance against the 2010/11 
targets are shown in the table below. 
 
 

 

 
* Partial Met – achieved within 5% of target. 

 
 

 

Activity Group Target Met 

 
 

Partial Met* 
 

Not Met 

 
 

TOTAL 

Representation 12 1 1 14 

Sustainable Development 6  1 7 

Communities 6 3 1 10 

Recreation & Leisure 3 1 2 6 

Regulatory 6 1 1 8 

Stormwater 3  2 5 

Transportation 10  2 12 

Water Supply 7 2  9 

Natural Environment 3  2 5 

Solid Waste 3  3 6 

Wastewaster 3  1 4 

Economic 5  1 6 

Total 67 8 17 92 
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Community outcomes monitoring  
 
Historically Council has been required under 
the Local Government Act 2002 to facilitate a 
process for identifying community outcomes 
for its District at least every six years.  
Further, Council has been required to report 
on progress against those outcomes every 
three years.   
  However, recent changes to the Act have 
seen the repeal of sections 91 and 92 so that 
the obligation to facilitate the identification of 
community outcomes and then report on 
them every three years has been removed.  
Instead, Council is now only responsible for 
community outcomes where it has a direct 
involvement.   
 
 
 
 

 
  While the changes noted above will 
significantly impact the Long Term Plan for 
2012-2022, Council decided not to proceed 
with community outcomes monitoring 
scheduled for 2011 until the changes to the 
Act were confirmed.  
  Despite the changes to the Act, Council will 
continue to monitor its SmartFuture 
community outcomes noting that this data 
provides a useful tool for strategic planning 
both at a local and regional level.  Council 
envisages that going forward the collection 
and interpretation of data for SmartFuture 
will continue to be led by the Community 
Outcomes Bay of Plenty (CoBoP) Monitoring 
and Reporting sub-group. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Te Puke recycling centre 
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Report on development of Māori capacity to 
contribute to decision making 2010/2011 
 

Ongoing Processes 

Māori Representative 
Committee 

Māori Forum Committee The Forum is not a formal Standing 
Committee but has recently been 
restructured to allow it to have 
recommendatory powers directly to Council.  
It continues to liaise between Council and 
tangata whenua and membership has 
increased to include six councillors, the 
mayor (ex officio) and ten hapu/iwi 
representatives. 
 
Workshops with the hapu/iwi representatives 
on the Māori Forum continue to be a 
recognised component of Council‟s policy 
development process. 

Formal relationship 
agreements 

Te Arawa Māori Trust 
Board Maketu 
Committee 

Status quo. 

Consultation process Tangata Whenua 
Consultation Guidelines 

Internal consultation guidelines for staff 
needing to consult with tangata whenua on 
Council projects.  

Iwi Consultation 
Protocols 

Organisational protocols for hapu/iwi 
consultation in resource consent processes. 

Consideration of Māori 
Interests - Roading 

Status quo. 

Iwi Liaison  Employment of full time Māori 

advisory/Cultural Development Officer who 
works on developing the relationship 
between Māori and Council. 

Co-management 
regimes 

Papamoa Hills Cultural 
Heritage Regional Park 
TECT All Terrain Park 

Tangata whenua continue to participate in 
the development of a management plan for 
the parks with Environment Bay of Plenty 
(the regional council). 

SmartGrowth Combined Tangata 
Whenua  

Hapu/iwi collective of representatives from 
Tauranga City Council and Western Bay of 
Plenty District Council formed to participate 
in the strategic plan and implementation of 
tangata whenua actions identified in the 
SmartGrowth sub-regional growth 
management strategy. 

Policy Development Input to reviews of 
policies and strategies 
through Māori Forum 
workshops 

Policy and strategy development. 

Community 
Development Plans 

Hapu Development Supporting the development of Hapu 
Management Plans. 
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Audit Report 
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Introduction to service performance reporting 
 
 
  Council has structured its activities into 12 
groups.  These activity groups are comprised 
of individual activities which have a similar 
nature.  The following table identifies each of 
the Activity Groups and their corresponding 
activities.  It also shows the Community 
Outcomes the activity primarily contributes 
to. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Activity Groups Activities Primary Community Outcomes Page  
 

Representation  Subregional, District and 
Community representation 

 Financial Planning 

 Effective, informed and 
inclusive leaders 

19 

Sustainable 
Development 

 Policy and planning 
 Resource management planning 
 Infrastructure planning 

 Vibrant and welcoming 
communities 

 Effective, informed and 
inclusive leaders 

 Thriving economy 

23 

Communities  Community development 
 Cultural development 
 Information centres 
 Emergency management 
 Community facilities 

 Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 Vibrant and welcoming 

communities 

27 

Recreation and 
Leisure 

 Coastal and marine Structures 
 Recreation reserves and facilities 
 Subregional reserves 

 Vibrant and welcoming 
communities 

 Clean, green and valued 
environment 

31 

Regulatory  Animal control 
 Building and health services 
 Compliance 
 Regulatory services 
 Resource consents 

 Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 

36 

Transportation  Roading 
 Network development 
 Network optimisation 
 Environmental mitigation 
 Transportation health and safety 

 Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 Thriving economy 

40 

Water Supply  Council water supply  Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 Thriving economy 

45 

Stormwater  Stormwater network 
 Waihi Beach coastal protection 

 Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 

49 

Natural 
Environment 

 Environmental protection  Clean, green and valued 
environment 

53 

Wastewater  Wastewater  Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 Clean, green and valued 

environment 

57 

Solid Waste  Solid waste  Healthy and safe lifestyle 
 Clean, green and valued 

environment 

61 

Economic  Economic development  
 Land drainage 

 Thriving economy 65 
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Council’s business scorecard
 
  Council‟s business scorecard ensures an 
integrated approach to delivering the 
environmental, economic, cultural and social 
outcomes in its Long Term Plan (LTP). 
  Achieving the outcomes in the business 
scorecard involves focussing on seven 
perspectives: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
1. Leadership  
2. Protecting the Environment  

External Outcomes contained in LTP 3. Building Communities 
4. Supporting the Economy 

5. Community and Customer Care  

Internal Outcomes to be contained in 
Corporate Strategy and Action Plan 

6. Internal Processes 
7. Learning and Innovating 
 
 
 
  The seven perspectives are linked to the 
District Vision (where the people of the 
Western Bay of Plenty District want to go), 
Council‟s operational mission (what Council is 
doing to help meet the District Vision) and 
the organisation‟s values (how Council staff 
work to deliver the operational mission). 
 
  The business scorecard diagram illustrates 
how the vision, mission and values line up 
with the perspectives that underpin the 
environmental, economic, cultural and social 
outcomes in the LTP. 
 
Monitoring trends in the business 
scorecard  
  For each of the Activity Groups key 
measures have been identified to monitor 
Council‟s performance and resident 
perception. 
 
  For each activity two key measures have 
been identified.  These measures monitor 

Council‟s performance and resident 
perception.  Many of these measures show 
Council‟s achievements over a number of 
years. 
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Customer satisfaction 
  In the statements of service performance 
there are references to an Annual Residents 
Survey. 
  This survey was undertaken by Key 
Research and the sample included all 
residents within the Western Bay of Plenty 
District Council area with a sample size of 
726 and margin of error of +/- 3.6%, with a 
confidence level of 95%. 
 

Effects on community 

wellbeing 
  The table on page 16 identifies the activity 
groups and their primary contribution to the 
Community Outcome. 
  The Long Term Plan (LTP) has identified 
significant or potential negative effects that 
may occur as a result of providing the 
following activities: 
 

 Wastewater 
 Solid Waste 
 Communities (Interment) 

 Transportation 
 Water Supply 
 Stormwater 
 Economic 

 
  During 2010/2011 there has been no 

material change in these negative effects. 
 

Content of this section 
  This section reports on how well Council‟s 
Activities performed during 2010/11 against 
the goals and targets set out in Part II of the 
2009-19 LTP.  The reporting covers how 

effectively services have been delivered to 
the community and financial results. 
  Reporting on service performance is 
provided for each activity group and includes 
the following information: 
 

Outcomes 
  This provides a high level overview or 
explanation of the activity and the outcomes 
agreed in the Council‟s 2009-19 LTP.   
 

2010/11 highlights 
  Highlights can include key initiatives 

undertaken, projects completed, and 
milestones achieved for the activity.  A graph 
will also be included to show the results and 
trends for the Council‟s measures for 
performance and customer satisfaction. 

 

Service performance results 
  The 2009-19 LTP identifies performance 
measures and targets to monitor Council‟s 
achievement of the agreed outcomes and 
levels of service.  This section reports the 
results and provides explanation for any 
significant variances.  Results are classified 
as follows: 
 

 Target Met  

 Partial Met (within 5% of target)  

 Not Met 

 

Future initiatives 
  This section looks ahead and identifies key 
initiatives planned for the next 2-3 years.  

 

Cost of service statements 
  The cost of service statement shows 
financial information for that activity, 
comparing actual expenditure against budget 
and the previous year‟s actual.  The 
statements provide details of income and 

expenditure and, where relevant, capital 
expenditure.   
  Where there are major variances between 
actual expenditure and budget a further 
explanation is provided. 
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Leadership 
Representation 
  The Representation function of Council 
represents the District‟s democratic and 
decision-making processes.  Apart from the 
function of Council, it includes five 
Community Boards, Council Standing 
Committees (Regulatory Hearings, Strategy 
& Policy, Operational Services, Community 
Partnerships Sub Committee and Risk and 
Assurance Sub Committee), the Māori 
Forum, elections and public consultation.  
Direct governance support is provided by the 
Customer Services group.  
 

Outcomes 
1. The needs of the Western Bay of Plenty 

District‟s diverse rural and urban 
communities are met by providing for 
effective representation and careful 
stewardship of the District‟s resources. 

 
2. Financial management is prudent, 

effective and efficient. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  Council elections were held in October 2010 
to elect the Mayor and twelve Councillors 
and twenty Community Board members.  
After the elections significant resources were 
committed to inform all Elected Members and 
the Māori Forum about their role, legislative 
requirements and the „state of the District‟.  
This provided a sound platform to enable the 
Elected Members to fulfil their roles. 
  A key initiative has been to raise the profile 
and involvement of the Māori Forum.  During 
the year: 

 Workshops were held to clarify the 
role and function of the Māori Forum 
and accountability to iwi. 

 Participation in policy development 
and representation of Māori interests 

and recommendations to Council 
Committees. 

  A petition to transfer the Waihi Beach Ward 
into Hauraki District was received by Council 
in December 2009.  The matter was referred 
to the Local Government Commission.  
Submissions were received and heard by the 
Commission between July and September 
2010.  In January 2011 the Local 
Government Commission determined the 
proposal to transfer Waihi Beach Ward from 
the Western Bay to Hauraki District would 
not promote good local government. 
  The Community Partnerships Sub 
Committee meetings are now being held 
around the District.  This provides an 
opportunity to showcase community success, 
the value of Council partnerships with 
community groups and a forum for sharing 
lessons learned in community development 
projects.    
  To date meetings have been held in Te 
Puna and Paengaroa (encompassing Maketu, 
Pukehina, Pongakawa and Paengaroa).  The 
community‟s response to this initiative has 
been positive. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 

 
The financial performance index has achieved the target of 1.00 in recent years.  The peak in 2007 
was a result of „other income‟ received that was more than budget.  This included a subsidy for 
Omokoroa wastewater and vested assets. 
 
The level of resident satisfaction with representation has remained consistent over the past 7 

years.  2009 was the highest level of satisfaction when 58.6% was achieved.   
 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
The level of achievement in the financial 
performance index (the index has been 
developed to monitor Council‟s financial trends 
and level of compliance with its Treasury 
Policy.  Result < 1.00 is unfavourable, >1.00 
is favourable). 

1.00 1.00 
 

1.00  
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
Level of community satisfaction with the 
opportunities to participate in decision-making 
and the level of representation (Elected and 
Community Board members) to Council (3 
yearly survey). 

 
55% 

 
57% 

 
54% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Supporting Measures 
Level of tangata whenua satisfaction with 
representation provided by the Māori Forum 
(3 yearly survey). 

No 
survey 

No 
survey 

39%  
Next survey is 
scheduled for 2013. 

Affordability of rates. 
The percentage movement in total rates 
income (after allowance for growth). 

<7.0% 2.3% 4%  
 

% completion of the annual work programme 
as identified in the Leadership – 
Representation strategy and action plan.  This 
identified the total annual actions required for 
this strategy. 

90% 92% 90%  
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

Representation will be provided by: 
1 Mayor, 12 Councillors, 5 Community Boards, 1 Māori Forum. 

Number of meetings held per annum.   
Council based on a 6 weekly cycle. 
 
Community Boards based on a 6 weekly cycle. 

 
8 
 
8 

 
15 
 
6 

5 Waihi 
Beach 

 

 
17 
 
8 

 
Elections were held in 
October 2010.  As a result 
no meetings were held 
over a 3 month period. 
Omokoroa, Katikati, Te 
Puke and Maketu 
Community Boards all held 
6 meetings. 

Māori Forum based on: 
-Formal Meetings. 
-Workshops. 

 
4 
2 

 
4 
5 

 
6 
0 

 
 

% attendance of Elected Members (Councillors 
and Mayor) at Council and Committee 
meetings. 

80% 85% 83%  
 

% attendance of Community Board members 
at Community Board meetings. 

80% 89% 89%  
 

Level of compliance with statutory 
timeframes. 

100% 100% 100%  
 

Community Outcomes will be reviewed and monitored to meet statutory requirements. 

Compliance with statutory process for 
community outcomes. 

100% 0 0  
In June 2010, Policy & 
Planning Committee 
resolved not to proceed 
with the review and 
identification of community 
outcomes (refer page 10). 

Finances will be managed to comply with the limits identified in the Treasury Policy. 

Interest expense on net external borrowings 
as a % of rates revenue.  (Maximum identified 
in Treasury Policy is 25%). 

22% 18.2% 18%  
 

Council will be financially prudent in the management of rates levied. 

Stewardship of rates income, the % of District 
rates income not spent or committed at the 
end of the financial year. 

<2.0% 0.3% 0.7%  
 

% of rates to total income. 65% 59% 67%  
Council received  
$5.2 million of vested 
assets in 2011.  This was 
$4.1 million higher than 
budget and has resulted in 
a higher proportion of 
non-rates income. 

 

Future initiatives
  A review to determine how the District is 
represented by Councillors, Community 
Boards and Māori Forum is underway.  This 
review is a requirement of the Local Electoral 

Act (2001) and will be completed by June 
2012. 
  Work will continue around building 
relationships with Māori.  This will include 

working with Māori communities to build a 
greater understanding of the role and 
functions of Council.   
  Council will also be working with other 

authorities in the region to ensure it can 
effectively respond to any outcomes of treaty 
settlements that are currently being 
negotiated between iwi and the Crown. 
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Representation 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Representation 2,310 2,380 2,135 

Total operating expenditure 2,310 2,380 2,135 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 1,321 1,392 1,201 

Overhead costs 980 980 926 

Depreciation 9 8 8 

Total operating expenditure 2,310 2,380 2,135 

    

Analysis of funding required    

Targeted rates - - - 

Community Board rate 575 556 574 

Other income 100 26 13 

Total revenue 675 582 587 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (1,635) (1,798) (1,548) 

    

Capital expenditure - - - 

    

Total other funding required (1,635) (1,798) (1,548) 

    

Other funding provided by    

Rate income 1,825 1,825 1,903 

Reserves and future surpluses (190) (27) (355) 

Total other funding 1,635 1,798 1,548 

 
 
 



 PEOPLE    PLAN    PROGRESS 

 

23 

 

Leadership 
Sustainable Development
 
Sustainable development includes policy 
development and strategic decision-making 
for Council, in particular for the management 
of growth in the District, in a sustainable 
manner.  Consideration is given to the 
scheduling, resourcing and provision of 
infrastructure, amenities, services and 
facilities and detailed planning for growth 
areas. 
 

Outcomes 
1. Leadership is provided to the people of 

the Western Bay of Plenty District in the 
achievement of sustainable development. 

 
2. The rate of growth within each 

community does not exceed its ability to 
absorb it. 

 

2010/11 Highlights 
  Key plans approved during the year are: 

 Minden Structure Plan variation was 
notified in September 2010.  The 
purpose of this plan is to enable lifestyle 
subdivision and development to occur.  
Hearings on submissions were held and 
decisions made in June 2011. 

 Katikati Town Centre Plan was adopted 
by Council in September 2010.  This 
plan will guide future development in 
the town centre. 

 Te Puke Reserves Management draft 
plan was completed and publicly 
consulted between June and August 
2011.  The volume of submissions 
received indicated there are no 
significant issues and the plan will be 
adopted early September 2011. 

 
  Council received a number of appeals 
pertaining to the District Plan.  Decisions 
were released in January 2010 and appeals 
were received in March 2010.  During 2011 
Council continued to resolve the majority of 
appeal points through negotiation and 
mediation avoiding the cost and time 
involved with Environment Court hearings. 

 
  Council strategies contained in the Long 
Term Plan are reviewed on a cyclical basis.  
The Transportation, Sustainable 
Development, Representation and 
Communities strategies are currently under 
review and will be completed in the 2011/12 
financial year. 
 
  The Sustainable Development Strategy 
review is signalling a different approach to 
sustainable development by developing a 
suite of sustainable development principles 
and a greater commitment to sustainable 
development. 
  A review of the Dog Control Policy was 
undertaken during the year with a series of 
community meetings being held which 
enabled Council to explore more balanced 
options with the community.   
 
 
 
 
 
 



 PEOPLE    PLAN    PROGRESS 

 

24 

 

Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 

The actions completed by Council are showing a declining trend since the peak of 93% in 2004.  
The actions identified in this activity often require community consultation, working with external 
organisations and changes in legislation which can delay progress and can result in timeframes not 
being achieved. 
 
Resident satisfaction monitors those residents who perceive growth to have had a positive impact.  
Over the 8 years this has been monitored the District has experienced significant growth, however, 
the level of resident satisfaction has remained constant.   
 

Performance Results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
% completion of the annual work programme 
as identified in the Leadership – Sustainable 
Development strategy and action plan.  This 
identifies the total annual actions required for 
this strategy. 

 
90% 

 
79% 

 
83% 

 
The review of 
Community 
Development Plans was 
deferred due to 
resourcing issues and 
Community Board 
business planning did 
not commence.   
Work commenced on 
the Matakana Island 
Plan and is expected to 
be completed June 
2012. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
% of residents who perceive growth to have 
had a positive (or no negative) impact.  This 
includes housing, employment opportunities, 
overall pleasantness, travel time and safety 
(road and personal).  Based on a 2 yearly 
survey, which asks consistent questions. 

 
No 

Survey 

 
No 

Survey 

 
80% 

 
The next survey will be 
completed in 2012. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 
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Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Supporting Measures 
Community outcomes (Smartfuture) report 
completed and adopted by Council within 
legislative timeframes (3 yearly). 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
No report 

due 

 
 

SmartGrowth Strategy review completed and 
adopted by Council. 

No 
review 

No 
review 

No review  
Reviews are conducted 
on a 5 yearly basis.  
The next review will be 
completed in 2013. 

 

Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

District Plan updated to meet the needs of the District. 

Number of sustained challenges by the 
Environment Court to District Plan changes. 

0 0 0  
 

Council‟s strategies are aligned with direction provided in the SmartGrowth strategy. 

% of strategies aligned with SmartGrowth 
direction. 

100% 100% 100%  
 

Council will work with communities to develop and review Community Development Plans.  These are detailed 
plans which show community direction for 10 years to enable an efficient allocation of resources. 

Number of Community Development Plans in 
place. 

6 6 5  
 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  Future planning initiatives include: 

 Omokoroa Domain and Boating 
Structure Plan commences in 2012.  

This will guide the future development 
of the Omokoroa Domain Catchment 
area.   

 Matakana Whole of Island Plan to 
identify future options for development 
of the island will commence in 2012. 

 All strategies contained in the long term 
plan will be reviewed for the 2012-2022 
Long Term Plan 

 Review of existing Community 
Development Plans will commence.  The 
Te Puke and Te Puna plans are 
scheduled for review during 2012. 

 Preparation for a suite of plan changes 
to enhance the District Plan. 

 
  Ongoing reviews of Bylaws will continue 
and Policy will be developed as needed, e.g. 
Alfresco Dining Policy scheduled for 2012. 
 
  Iwi/hapu Management Plans give effect to 
the environmental, social, economic and 
cultural wellbeing of iwi.   
 
 

 

 
These plans are lodged with Council to give 
effect to the plans through the Resource 
Management Act.  Collaboration between 
Western Bay, Tauranga City Council and Bay 
of Plenty Regional Council will initiate a 
review of how best to give effect to the 
plans. 
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Sustainable Development 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Strategic planning 1,258 2,995 2,586 

Resource management 991 - - 

Environment protection - - 19 

District development (30) (10) 62 

Total operating expenditure 2,218 2,985 2,667 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 1,630 2,389 2,050 

Overhead costs 583 582 606 

Depreciation 5 14 11 

Total operating expenditure 2,218 2,985 2,667 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 12 188 13 

Interest - 71 - 

Other income 50 39 (3) 

Total revenue 62 298 10 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (2,156) (2,687) (2,657) 

    

Capital expenditure - - - 

    

Total other funding required (2,156) (2,687) (2,657) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 2,442 2,441 2,597 

Environment protection rate - - 9 

Reserves and future surpluses (285) 246 51 

Total other funding 2,156 2,687 2,657 

 

Major variances 
  Strategic Planning expenditure was $1.737 
million lower than budget due to salary 
savings and a restructure that resulted in 
resource management being separately 
accounted for. 
  Resource Management expenditure was 
$0.991 million higher than budget as a result 
of the restructure identified above 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
.
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Building Communities 
Communities 
 
  The focus of this activity is the delivery of a 
co-ordinated community development 
programme and building effective 
partnerships with other service providers to 
promote stronger communities.  This 
includes the delivery of Council‟s 
responsibilities in emergency management, 
information services (libraries and service 
centres), community development and 
community facilities (cemeteries, pensioner 
housing and halls).   
 

Outcomes 
1. Communities are healthy and safe. 
 
2.  Communities are vibrant. 
 
3. Communities participate in the 

development of their futures. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The Safer Community Forums have 
increased in value to the community.  
Participating groups are working 
collaboratively to provide enhanced safety 
outcomes in the community.  Te Puke 
Volunteer Community Patrols are making a 
significant impact by reducing rural theft 
from cars by 90%. 
  Community Grants and Discretionary Grants 
are made available to groups providing public 
benefit in the community. This year 42 
groups received grants to support activities 
that enhance the social, environmental, 
cultural and economic wellbeings of the 
communities within the District. 
  Funding expos were held in Te Puke and 
Katikati.  These expos provide communities 
„face to face‟ access to philanthropic 
information.  
  The Western Bay Māori Housing Forum is a 
joint agency group (including councils, 
government agencies, the Māori Land Court) 
to develop affordable housing on Papakainga 
multiple-owned Māori land.  A housing toolkit 
has been developed which provides a five 
step process to assist landowners from 
planning to building.  Workshops are being 
held and the Māori Housing Forum is working 
through the process with landowners. 

  The Council libraries, in conjunction with 
InfoShare Partners (Whakatane and Rotorua 
District Councils), are currently testing 
availability of the „E audio‟ collection on the 
internet.  This will enable customers to 
download audio books.   
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The actions completed by Council are showing a positive trend.  When monitoring commenced in 
2005, 76% of the actions were achieved, compared to 93% in 2011.  Actions monitored include 
payment of Community Development Contracts, provision of Library services and Emergency 
Management.   
 
Resident satisfaction has been consistent for the years 2005 – 2010, with a considerable 
improvement in 2011.  Traditionally this activity does not have a high profile in the District, 
however in recent years considerable work has been undertaken with community groups and this 
has resulted in the increased satisfaction achieved in 2011. 
 

Performance Results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
% completion of the annual work programme 
as identified in the Community strategy and 
action plan.  This identifies the total annual 
actions required for this strategy. 
 

 
90% 

 
93% 

 
83% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
Level of resident satisfaction with Community 
services based on two yearly surveys.  This 
includes community development, library 
services and cemeteries.  Based on residents 
who are very satisfied and satisfied. 
 

 
80% 

 
77% 

 
No survey 

 
Both the target and 
result were calculated 
excluding those 
surveyed who „don‟t 
know‟. 
 
The survey result 
including the 26% who 
“don‟t know” is 57%. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

Develop and deliver a co-ordinated Community Safety Programme in accordance with the Community Safety 
Policy. 

Number of Community Safety initiatives 
supported by Council. 

 
9 

 
11 

 
13 

 
 

User-friendly information and advice will be provided and all service requests will be resolved. 

% service requests resolved within specified 
timeframe. 

>95% 95% 93%  
 

% of customers surveyed where service 
requests were not actioned. 

<5% 4.8% 3%  
 

% resident satisfaction with service provided 

by frontline staff based on two-yearly survey. 

 
85% 

 
No 

survey 

 
No survey 

 
This survey did not take 
place in the 2010/11 
year.  Survey will be 
completed by the end of 
2011. 

Library services will be maintained at Waihi Beach, Katikati, Omokoroa and Te Puke. 

Number of library items available per head of 
population. 

2.2 1.96 2.0  
 

Number of times books are issued per annum. >2.75 3.47 3.5  
 

Council will provide cemeteries at Katikati, Oropi, Maketu (under review) and Te Puke (excludes old Te Puke 
Cemetery, no further plots available for purchase). 

Number of cemeteries where plot availability is 
>30% of annual plot requirements or 
minimum of 5 plots at any one time. 

4 4 4  
 

Partnerships with hall committees will be maintained.   

Number of partnership agreements in place 
with all existing hall committees. 

 
14 

 
14 

 
15 

 
Pukehina Hall (Station 
Rd) – there is no 
Committee. 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  Council will continue to promote crime 
prevention within communities.  This will 
include investigations to identify effective low 
cost technology to improve crime prevention 
outcomes and the enhanced co-ordination of 
crime and safety initiatives at Pukehina 
Beach, Te Puke and Maketu. 
  The libraries, through the InfoShare 
initiative, will explore the ability to provide  
„E books‟ to customers. 
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Communities 
Cost of service statement 
 

 
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

 $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Information centres 2,264 2,335 2,341 

Contracts, levies and grants 767 733 578 

Pensioner housing 345 367 338 

Cemeteries 126 132 104 

Community halls 150 278 449 

Emergency management 459 496 447 

Total operating expenditure 4,111 4,341 4,257 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 2,639 2,676 2,745 

Overhead costs 1,113 1,113 1,195 

Interest - 8 - 

Depreciation 359 544 317 

Total operating expenditure 4,111 4,341 4,257 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 1,096 1,071 1,011 

Financial contributions - 97 - 

Subsidies 30 15 11 

Other income 820 868 819 

Total revenue 1,946 2,051 1,841 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (2,165) (2,290) (2,416) 

    

Capital expenditure 281 427 404 

    

Total other funding required (2447) (2,717) (2,820) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 2,233 2,233 2,197 

Investment in associates - - 11 

Debt increase / (decrease) (11) 48 (16) 

Reserves and future surpluses 225 437 628 

Total other funding 2,447 2,717 2,820 

 

Major variances 
  Capital expenditure was $0.146 million 
below budget due to fewer asset 
replacements for pensioner housing than 
expected and a delay in the timing of the 
radio frequency identification project in the 
District‟s libraries. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 PEOPLE    PLAN    PROGRESS 

 

31 

 

Building Communities 
Recreation and Leisure 
 
  This activity looks after the wellbeing of 
future generations by ensuring a basic range 
of recreational opportunities is available in 
the long term.  Each community has its own 
range of outdoor and recreational facilities 
that enable people to enjoy themselves and 
feel proud about where they live.   
  Reserve management plans for Maketu, 
Waihi Beach, Te Puke, Kaimai and Katikati 
wards have been completed and the focus is 
now the implementation of these plans.  
Council has also partnered with Tauranga 
City Council in the development of sub-
regional parks – the TECT All Terrain Park 
(1,638ha) in upper Pyes Pa and the Huharua 
Harbour Park (8.7ha) at Plummers Point. 
 

Outcomes 
1. Facilities are safe, healthy and 

appropriate. 
 
2.  A basic range of public facilities is 

available. 
 
3. Council and community work together to 

provide and promote recreation and 
leisure facilities. 

 
4. Sub-regional recreation and leisure 

opportunities are available. 
 
5.  Important natural, cultural and heritage 

values are protected. 
 
6. Resources are secured for present and 

future public recreation and leisure needs. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The TECT All Terrain Park opened stage 
one of the development in December 2010.  
Around 1,000 people visited the park over 
the weekend to mark the official opening of 
the 1,638 hectare adventure playground.  
Since the opening there has been a steady 
stream of visitors exploring the facilities 
which include mountain bike and equestrian 
trails, walking tracks and stage one 
motorcycle trails. 
  Huharua Harbour Park was subject to a 
unique opportunity this year and featured on 
Māori Television‟s Marae DIY programme.  
This was the first time in New Zealand that 

this had occurred and it showed the two 
partner Councils, Western Bay and Tauranga 
City, working with the Pirirakau hapu and 
Historic Places Trust to undertake an historic 
makeover of the Ongarahu Pa site contained 
within the Park.  The screening of the Marae 
DIY programme in June demonstrated the 
success of the partnership between the 
various parties. 
  The Te Puke swimming pool has been 
closed since December 2009 due to a major 
leak in the filtration system.  Council and Te 
Puke High School (which owns and operates 
the pool) have been working together to 
have the pool operational in 2011/12.  This is 
subject to renewed resource consent 
conditions being granted by the Bay of Plenty 
Regional Council and funding for other High 
School developments that are proceeding. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The measures monitoring the amount of park land per 1,000 residents are new and were 
developed as part of the 2010 Recreation & Leisure Strategy review.  This result reflects the 
annual „Yardstick‟ survey which monitors parks and recreation facilities for 40 councils in New 
Zealand.  Over time Council intends to benchmark the level of service provided with other 
participating councils. 
 
Resident satisfaction with recreation and reserves is monitored on a two yearly basis.  In 2008 the 
level of satisfaction was 78% and in 2010 it was 68%.  Key reasons for dissatisfaction in 2010 are 
that there are not enough facilities or they are not suitable.   
 

Performance Results 
 
** NOTE: The performance measures were revised as part of the Recreation and Leisure Strategy 
review in 2010.  As a result some of the 2009/10 performance results are no longer comparable as 
they have been replaced with new measures.  
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
Total hectares of parkland provided for 
recreation or conservation purposes per 1,000 
residents. 
 
Excluding Sub-regional parks (TECT All Terrain 
Park and Huharua Harbour Park). 
Including Council‟s share of Sub-regional 
parks (TECT All Terrain Park and Huharua 
Harbour Park). 
 

 
 
 
 
 

27.1 
45.0 

 
 
 
 
 

27.1 
44.9 

 
 
 
 
 

** 
** 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

 

Key Resident Measure 
Two yearly surveys of resident satisfaction 
levels (with reserves and recreational facilities 
and amenities).  Based on residents who are 
very satisfied and satisfied. 

 
No 

survey 

 
No 

survey 

 
68% 

 
Next survey will be 
conducted in 2012. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 
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Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Supporting Measures 
Number of service requests received where 
reported injury occurred as a result of 
performance or condition of assets on a 
recreational facility. 
 

 
0 

 
1 

 
3 

 
 

Percentage of recreational facilities in asset 
management plan that have a condition rating 
less than or equal to 3 (1 excellent, 5 very 
poor as defined in NZ Park & Recreation Asset 
Grading Standard manual). 

95% 94% 93%  
Council deferred some 
renewal projects.  This 
has impacted on the 
number of assets with 
a poor condition rating.  
In 2011/12 condition 
ratings will be reviewed 
to identify the financial 
risk of deferred 
maintenance and 
renewals. 
 

Percentage of annual work programme as 
identified in the Recreation & Leisure strategy 
and action plan.  This identifies the total 
annual actions required for this strategy. 

 
90% 

 
83% 

 
49% 

 
Boat ramp 
development, 
Omokoroa Boatyard 
contamination 
remediation and Kiokio 
Place Reserves were 
delayed due to 
consultation with 
external parties. Work 
commenced at Ororoa 
Park, Pukehina Beach 
but was not completed 
by June 2011. 
 

Percentage of Reserve Management Plans that 
have scheduled reviews completed in 
accordance with the Reserves Act 1977. 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
0 

 
Draft Te Puke Reserve 
Management Plan 
completed and publicly 
consulted. 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

A basic range of public facilities will be provided. 

Number of hectares per 1,000 residents: 
 actively maintained parkland (excludes 

sports parks) 

 
5.1 

 
5.1 

 
** 

 
These measures 
were revised as part 
of the Recreation & 
Leisure Strategy 
review in 2010.  As a 
result there are  

 natural land 20.6 20.4 ** 

 sports parks 
NOTE: this excludes the joint sub regional 
TECT All Terrain Park 

1.6 1.5 ** 

Number of playgrounds per 1,000 children 
(under 15 years) 
 

2.8 2.8 ** no comparatives     
for 2009/10. 

Level of reserve-user satisfaction as monitored 
by the 2 yearly intercept surveys (satisfied or 
very satisfied) 
 

No 
survey 

No 
survey 

**  
 

Provide regional parks (TECT All Terrain Park and Huharua Harbour Park) as per joint partnership with Tauranga 
City Council. 

Percentage of actions for TECT All Terrain 
Park and Huharua Harbour Park completed as 
per development plan. 
NOTE: TECT All Terrain Park has a 30 year 
staged development plan.  It is intended to 
complete stages as forecast.  Huharua 
Harbour Park development will be completed 
by 2012. 
 

100% 100% 95%  
 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  Leaseholders at TECT All Terrain Park have 
begun excavation works in preparation for 
the shooting ranges which are expected to 
open during late 2011 or early 2012.  Work 
will continue with other leaseholders in the 
development of their designated areas. 

  A playground is to be developed at 
Jamieson Oval Te Puke in 2012.  This work is 
part of the overall town centre development 
work for Te Puke. 
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Recreation and Leisure 
Statement of cost of service 
 

 
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

 $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

District reserves 5,249 3,305 4,037 

Motor camps 49 49 25 

Swimming pool 293 245 158 

Coastal and marine structures 352 334 488 

Total operating expenditure 5,943 3,933 4,708 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 4,875 3,173 3,933 

Overhead costs 12 12 (46) 

Depreciation 1,055 748 821 

Total operating expenditure 5,943 3,933 4,708 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 173 157 137 

Financial contributions 832 1,743 1,793 

Vested assets 236 - - 

Interest - 152 - 

Forestry revaluation 2,170 - - 

Other income 1,568 1,002 1,763 

Total revenue 4,980 3,054 3,693 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (964) (879) (1,014) 

    

Capital expenditure 1,991 2,913 6,724 

Vested assets 236 - - 

    

Total other funding required (3,191) (3,792) (7,738) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 3,132 3,132 2,427 

Environment protection rate - - 625 

Debt increase / (decrease) - 320 2,920 
Reserves and future surpluses 59 340 1,766 

Total other funding 3,191 3,792 7,738 

 

Major variances 
  Direct costs were higher than budget due 
to the loss on disposal of TECT All Terrain 
Park assets to reflect the 50% ownership of 
Tauranga City Council.  These assets were 
initially recorded at 100% in Western Bay‟s 
asset register and a corresponding liability 
was shown to Tauranga City Council. The 
losses associated with these changes are 
non-cash. 
 

 

 
  The increase in depreciation expense is the 
result of TECT All Terrain Park assets being 
capitalised earlier than expected. 
  Forestry income relates to the valuation of 
forestry assets at the TECT All Terrain Park.  
This is a non-cash income item. 
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Building Communities 
Regulatory  
Territorial authorities are required to carry 
out specific regulatory functions, roles and 
duties in accordance with legislation.  These 
include animal control, building and health 
services, resource consents and compliance 
activities. 
 

Outcome 
1. Regulatory services support community 

wellbeing. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The economic downturn and reduction of 
growth in the District have resulted in an 
overall decline in applications for Building 
and Resource consents.   
  There were 16.3% fewer Building consent 
applications than in 2010.  All 1,028 consent 
applications received were processed within 
the statutory timeframes.  During the year 
Council assisted Taupo District Council with 
building consent processing and Tauranga 
City Council also assisted with some 
inspections. 
  Resource Consent applications for non-
notified land use, subdivision consent 
applications, notified and Section 223 
Resource Management Act approvals were all 
processed within the statutory timeframes.  
At 30 June 2011 there were no successful 
appeals or judicial reviews of Council 
decisions. 
  In March 2011 Council initiated an “Adopt a 
Dog” programme.  Traditionally Council 
relied on the Society for the Prevention of 
Cruelty to Animals (SPCA) to re-home dogs 
but the SPCA no longer has capacity.  As a 
result dogs were being euthanised because 
the pounds could only retain the dogs for a 
short time. 
  Council has teamed up with K9 Comms to 
temporarily house and train suitable dogs for 
adoption from Council‟s pounds after they 
have been assessed for character and 
sociability by Animal Services Officers.  Only 
one dog at a time is fostered, and in the 
three months the programme has been 
running 12 dogs have been re-homed.  This 
scheme has no cost to ratepayers as the 
adoption fee for each dog covers associated 
costs.  Re-homing also reduces Council‟s 
euthanasia costs. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
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Regulatory Services - Trends

Successful legal challenges or mediation settlements

Customer Satsifaction
 

 
The successful legal challenges are associated with building and resource consent activity and 
include weathertightness claims.  Since 2009 there have been 4 successful claims of which 3 were 

due to weathertightness.  The highest number of successful claims was in 2006; there were 5 
successful claims of which 4 were due to weathertightness issues. 
 
Resident satisfaction with the provision of regulatory services shows a consistent trend since 2004.  
The highest level of satisfaction was 87% in 2010. 
 

Performance Results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
Number of successful legal challenges or 
mediation settlements made as a result of 
Council staff error. 
 

 
0 

 
1 

 
2 

 
One weathertightness 
claim was successful. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
% level of customer satisfaction based on 
survey of regulatory services. (This survey 
includes Resource Consents, Building 
Consents and Animal Services.) 
 

 
85% 

 
86% 

 
87% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Supporting Measures 
% of resource consent processes completed in 
accordance with Council and legislative 
requirements. 
 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
99% 

 
 

% of actions completed in accordance with 
Council and legislative requirements for: 
-Animal Control 
-Building and Health Services 

100% 99% 99%  
One Project 
Information 
Memorandum (PIM) 
was not completed 
within 20 days. 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

100% of resource consent applications will be processed within the statutory timeframes. 

% of all resource consent applications 
processed within the statutory timeframes. 

100% 100% 98%  
 

98% of building and health applications and plan checking will be processed within statutory timeframes. 

Percentage of building and health applications 
and plan checking processed within the 
statutory timeframes. 

98% 100% 94%  
 

100% of Land Information Memoranda (LIM) and Project Information Memoranda (PIM) applications processed 
within statutory timeframe (10 working days). 

% of LIM and PIM applications processed 
within the statutory timeframe (10 working 
days). 

 
100% 

 
99.9% 

 
97% 

 
1 PIM application was 
not processed within the 
statutory timeframe.   

98% of dogs in the District are registered. 

Percentage of known dogs in the District that 
are registered. 

98% 98.5% 98%  
 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  Future shared services opportunities for 
Building Consents will be considered. 
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Regulatory 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

District plan implementation 1,594 1,733 1,655 

Building and health 1,979 1,797 2,010 

Animal control 801 787 673 

Other 582 676 900 

Total operating expenditure 4,956 4,993 5,238 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 3,191 3,212 3,299 

Overhead costs 1,713 1,712 1,888 

Depreciation 53 69 51 

Total operating expenditure 4,956 4,993 5,238 

    

Revenue    

User fees 2,847 4,222 3,832 

Interest 7 6 7 

Other income 63 38 44 

Total revenue 2,917 4,266 3,883 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (2,039) (727) (1,355) 

    

Capital expenditure - - - 

    

Total other funding required (2,039) (727) (1,355) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 766 766 866 

Reserves and future surpluses 1,274 (39) 489 

Total other funding 2,039 727 1,355 

 

Major variances 
  User fees were $1.375 million below budget 
as a result of lower growth and building 
activity in the District. 
  Funding provided from reserves and future 
surpluses was $1.313 million higher than 
budget due to lower than expected income. 
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Building Communities  
Transportation
 
  The Transportation activity involves the 
provision and maintenance of a system of 
roads, streets, bridges and footpaths within 
the District. 
 
Transportation includes: 

 Sealed pavements – extensions, reseals, 

repairs, maintenance and widening. 
 Unsealed pavements – pavement 

replacement and surface shape 
maintenance. 

 Pavement drainage – provision and 
maintenance of culverts, kerbs and 

channels, etc. 
 Maintenance, repair and replacement of 

the District‟s 100 bridges (including two 
barge ramps). 

 Safety management – provision and 
maintenance of appropriate lighting, 
signage, pavement marking and crash 
investigation. 

 Streetscape maintenance – provision 
and maintenance of trees, gardens, car 
parks, pedestrian facilities, footpaths, 
mowing and vegetation control. 

 Street improvements – upgrading of 
streetscapes in a coherent, affordable 

way that reflects the desires of the 
community. 

 Emergency works. 
 Cycling and walking facilities. 

 
Please note that the State Highway roading 
network within the District‟s boundaries is 
administered by the New Zealand Transport 
Agency (NZTA). 

 
District Roads – Length 

 Sealed Unsealed 

Urban (<70kph areas) 144 km 2 km 

Rural (>70kph areas) 661 km 221 km 

Total local road network 805km 223 km 

 

 

Outcomes 
1.  Transport networks support and promote 

economic development. 
 
2.  Transport systems minimise adverse 

effects on the environment. 
 
3.  Transport systems enable healthy activity 

and reduce transport-related public health 
risks. 

 
4.  Transport systems improve access and 

mobility. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The Council‟s 10-year performance based 
contract with In3roads continued to deliver 
its objectives during the 2010/11 year.  The 
contract required 950m of urban footpaths to 
be completed each year, equating to 9.5km 
over the 10-year term of the programme.  
However, through additional funding to this 
programme, Council has created 10 
kilometres of new urban footpaths in the 
District over the past eight years. 
  The contract also included a goal of 97km 
seal extension over the 10-year contract and 
at the end of June 2011 87km had been 
completed. 
  This performance based contract is due to 
finish in September 2012.  A review of the 
current contract and planning for the future 
has commenced. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
Accidents caused by road-related factors are monitored externally by the New Zealand Transport 
Agency (NZTA) which has grouped similarly-sized councils into peer groups.  The annual target for 
this measure is ≤90% and indicates Council is seeking a higher standard than its peer group.  The 
trend since 2006 is showing that Western Bay Council has consistently achieved the target of 
≤90%. 
 
The level of resident satisfaction with transportation (roading, cycling and walkways) in the District 
is showing a positive trend.  This is attributed to the seal extension programme and Council‟s 
decision to increase the length of footpaths around the District. 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
The % of crashes caused by road related 
factors (e.g. potholes, surface roughness, 
road camber) compared to Council‟s peer 
group.  (Small – medium councils as grouped 
by New Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA).)  
Council‟s target of 90% indicates an above 
average result than our peer group. 

 
<90% 

 
86.3% 

 
78% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
Facilities and services provide social benefits 
to the whole community.  Level of satisfaction 
with Transportation (roading, cycling and 
walkways) as monitored by the Annual 
Residents Survey, those residents who are 
very satisfied and satisfied. 

 
>55% 

 
55% 

 
52% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Supporting Measures 
The total social cost of crashes caused by road 
related factors compared to Council‟s peer 
group.  (A lower % is a favourable result for 
Council.  Separately monitored by the NZTA).  
Council‟s target of <95% indicates an above 
average result than our peer group. 

 
<95% 

 
85% 

 
79% 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

The network and its facilities are up to date, in good condition and „fit for purpose‟. 

The % of traffic that is exposed to smooth 
rural roads that have a high traffic volume 
(>500 vehicles per day). 

>94% 94.4% 96%  
 

Annual surfacing and pavement defect index.  
There are several potential defects in road 
pavement structure and its surface.  This 
index is a weighted measure of the fault 
types. 

 Sealed roads 
 Unsealed roads 

 
 
 
 
 

>1.25 
>2.8 

 
 
 
 
 

0.55 
2.95 

 
 
 
 
 

0.5 
3.1 

 
The defect index 
constitutes a key 
performance measure 
covering a group of 
attributes which define 
the condition of the 
road.  Defects including 
potholes, edge-break, 
etc. are measured by 
independent experts, 
weighted in terms of 
importance and then 
reported for the purpose 
of contractual 
compliance and 
statistical reporting 
against Council‟s desired 
level of service. 
 
Historically unsealed 
roads have not achieved 
the target.  2011 shows 
an improved result from 
the previous year.  

Annual seal extension completed (km). 14.6 15.0 9.5  

Adverse environmental effects, such as dust, noise and vibration are managed effectively. 

Length of unsealed roads (km). 
 
NOTE: Total length of the District‟s roading 
network (km). 

<238 
 

1,041 

223 
 

1,028 

226 
 

1,027 

 
 

Level of compliance with Resource 
Management Consents. 

100% 100% 100%  
 

The road network is convenient, offers choices for travel and is available to the whole community. 

Length (metres) of new footpaths and 
walkways constructed by Council each year. 

>950m 1,865 2,417m  
The favourable result is 
due to a variation to the 
Performance Based 
Contract approved by 
Council to increase the 
amount of footpath 
construction per year. 

Customers will be satisfied with Council‟s response to transport related customer requests for action. 

Level of customer satisfaction with action 
taken to resolve service requests. 

>85% 93% 91%  

% of service requests actioned on time. >90% 95% 94%  

The services are managed at the lowest possible cost for the required level of service. 

Operating expenditure is managed to within a 
range of +5 or -5 percent of budget. 

95%-
105% 

91% 100%  
An explanation of the 
variance is on page 44. 
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Future initiatives 
  The Council‟s 10-year performance based 
contract with In3roads is due to expire in 
September 2012.  The current contract is 
under review, planning is underway and 
negotiations will commence as to the future 
form of the contract to deliver Council‟s 
transportation activity. 
  A review of Council‟s Transportation 
Strategy began during the year and will be 
concluded during 2011/12 
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Transportation 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Roading 19,916 21,781 18,831 

Total operating expenditure 19,916 21,781 18,831 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 9,493 12,252 9,582 

Overhead costs 1,235 1,235 1,022 

Interest 1,705 1,316 1,099 

Depreciation 7,482 6,978 7,128 

Total operating expenditure 19,916 21,781 18,831 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 93 84 95 

User fees 1 0 1 

Subsidies 6,896 6,465 5,981 

Roading rate 15,655 15,251 14,520 

Financial contributions 1,399 2,353 1,864 

Vested assets 4,975 500 2,024 

Other income 101 125 103 

Total revenue 29,120 24,778 24,588 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) 9,204 2,997 5,757 

    

Capital expenditure 19,434 16,447 14,682 

Vested assets 4,975 500 2,024 

    

Total other funding required (15,204) (13,950) (10,949) 

    

Other funding provided by    

Debt increase / (decrease) 256 735 (304) 

Proceeds from sale of assets 7 - (14) 

Reserves and future surpluses 14,941 13,215 11,267 

Total other funding 15,204 13,950 10,949 

 

Major variances 
  Direct costs are $2.759 million lower than 
budget. This is due to the split between the 
operational and capital components of the 
Performance Based Contract (PBC).  This 
variance is offset by capital expenditure 
being $2.987 million higher than budget. 
  Interest costs are $0.389 million higher 
than budget due to higher than anticipated 

debt in the activity due to lower financial 
contributions being received. 
  Financial contribution income is $0.954 
million lower than budget due to lower 
growth being experienced by the District. 

 

 
  Vested assets income is $4.475 million 
higher than budget due to the vesting of the 
land for Margaret Drive in Omokoroa and a 
portion of State Highway 36 being vested by 
the New Zealand Transport Agency to 
Council during the year, this had not been 
budgeted for.  This is a non-cash revenue 
item. 

 
.
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Building Communities 
Water Supply
 

  This activity comprises bore water 
extraction, water treatment, storage and 
distribution through the operation and 
maintenance of bore heads, water treatment 
and pumping stations, reservoirs, boosters 
and the distribution network.  Water is 
delivered to 10,000 premises within the 
District.  Council has three water supply 
schemes, summarised as follows: 
 
 Western Water Supply – provides 

treated water to properties from Waihi Beach 
to Wainui Stream. 
 
 Central Water Supply – provides 

treated water to the Omokoroa community 
and the surrounding area from Wainui South 
Stream to the Wairoa River. 
 
 Eastern Water Supply – provides 

treated water to the eastern half of the 
District from Te Puke to Pukehina.  This 
supply is an amalgamation of the Bush, 
Papamoa, Rangiuru, Paengaroa and 
Maketu/Pukehina supplies and the Te Matai 
irrigation scheme. 
 

Outcomes 
1. Potable water of an appropriate standard 

and quality to meet the needs of 
consumers within the three supply areas 
is provided. 

 
2. Consumers‟ use of water across the three 

supply zones enables sustainable financial 
management of Council‟s water supply 
infrastructure and sustainable 
environmental management of the water 
resource. 

 

2010/11 Highlights 
  Water conservation and sustainable use of 

the District‟s water sources are critical in the 

management of the Council‟s water supply.  

To achieve this Council is installing water 

meters in Omokoroa over a two-year period.  

The project was 56% complete at the end of 

June 2011. 

 

  The small coastal communities of Tanners 

Point, Ongare Point and Te Puna West have 

been identified by the Bay of Plenty Regional 

Council as being in the maintenance zone.  

This means these communities require 

regular inspections of septic tanks.  These 

inspections identified a high level of 

discharge into the harbour.  There is a direct 

correlation between water supply in to a 

property and wastewater leaving the 

property (around 80%) goes through the 

septic tank.  To reduce the level of 

discharge, water management options 

available are reticulated systems or self-

management.  Council has chosen the self-

management option where the installation of 

water meters will enable users to monitor 

water usage and therefore reduce the level 

of discharge. 
  Water conservation billboards have been 
placed at strategic locations throughout the 
District to promote wise water use.  
Interchangeable boards were used 
throughout summer to signal three levels of 
availability: Normal, Limited or Restricted.  
This initiative, in conjunction with radio 
advertising, was a successful campaign 
which alleviated the need for water 
restrictions during the summer months.   
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
Council‟s water supplies are independently monitored by the Ministry of Health which awards a 
grade based on treatment and reticulation.  Council undertook considerable exploration to find 
suitable water supplies and as a result of this Council achieved a „Bb‟ grading for all water supplies 
in 2008. 
 
The level of resident satisfaction with water supply is showing a positive trend with a result of 74% 
in 2011. 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
For the three supply zones the percentage of 
Council‟s treated water supply with a Ministry 
of Health grading as per The Health (Drinking 
Water) Amendment Act 2007. 
 

 
 

   
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

„B‟ grading for treatment. 100% 100% 100%  
„b‟ grading for distribution. 100% 100% 100%  

Key Resident Measure 
Level of resident satisfaction with the quality 
of Council‟s water supply, as monitored by the 
Annual Residents Survey, those residents who 
are very satisfied and satisfied. 

 
75% 

 
74% 

 
70% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Supporting Measures 
In a one-in-50 year drought the ability of the 
water supply to meet normal daily water 
demand (1,100 litres per person per day). 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
>100% 

 
 

Ability of reservoirs to provide 24 hour storage 
for the average daily demand. 

100% 100% >100%  
 

Percentage of eligible properties that are 
connected to Council water supply. 

91% 91% 90%  
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

Council will provide good quality water to meet growth needs within the supply areas. 

Level of compliance with industry standard 
(NZ Fire Service Code NZPAS4509:2008).  This 
monitors water supply and pressure. 

95% 95% 95%  
 

Percentage of year where reservoirs are 
maintained at a minimum of 50% full, in 
accordance with Ministry of Health 
requirements. 

80% 100% 100%  
 

Council will effectively manage risks associated with the quality and quantity of the public water supply. 

Number of times when Council water supply 
does not comply with resource consents. 

<5 0 0  
 

Preventable water loss as a percentage of 
average daily production.  The acceptable 
range is between 10-20% of bulk supply 
based on the International Infrastructure 
Management Manual v1.0. 

22% 25% 28%  
Water meters are being 
installed throughout the 
District over the next 
seven years which will 
identify improvements to 
reduce water loss. 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  The installation of water meters will extend 
to the entire Western Bay District.  This will 
commence during 2012 and will continue 
over a six-year period. 
  Water reservoir and storage tanks will be 
progressively upgraded.  This will address 
leakage problems, provide the opportunity to 
increase capacity where required and 
ultimately enable Council to maintain the 
agreed level of service. 
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Water Supply 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Western water supply 3,159 3,412 3,041 

Central water supply 2,257 2,292 2,073 

Eastern water supply 3,829 4,146 3,623 

Total operating expenditure 9,245 9,850 8,737 

    

Analysis of expenditure – by class    

Direct costs 3,313 3,657 3,751 

Overhead costs 1,693 1,692 913 

Interest 1,665 1,884 1,472 

Depreciation 2,575 2,617 2,601 

Total operating expenditure 9,245 9,850 8,737 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 4,660 4,624 4,448 

User fees 1,779 1,989 1,966 

Financial contributions 276 606 528 

Vested assets - 150 208 

Other income 39 - 11 

Total revenue 6,754 7,369 7,161 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (2,491) (2,481) (1,576) 

    

Capital expenditure 1,646 1,109 1,940 

Vested assets - 150 208 

    

Total other funding required (4,137) (3,740) (3,724) 

    

Other funding provided by    

Debt increase / (decrease) (121) (321) (453) 

Reserves and future surpluses 4,258 4,061 4,177 

Total other funding 4,137 3,740 3,724 

 

Major variances 
  Total operating costs are $0.605 million 
below budget due to lower savings made as 

a result of Council providing the operational 
services for utilities in-house.  In previous 
years this function had been outsourced.  
Interest costs were also lower than budget 
due to decreased debt for the water activity. 
  Financial contribution revenue is  
$0.330 million below budget due to lower 

growth being experienced in the District 
during the 2010/11 year. 
  Capital expenditure was $0.537 million 
higher than budget due to works carried out 
on the Pongakawa water bore. 
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Building Communities 
Stormwater
 
  Stormwater systems are built to protect 
property from the effects of flooding and 
coastal erosion.  The systems include 
primary and secondary flow paths, 
stormwater detention and stormwater 
treatment.  There are legislative 
requirements regarding the quality and 
quantity of stormwater released and the 
Council is required to meet these statutory 
obligations.   
  Council manages the stormwater within 
three broad Stormwater Management Areas.  
They are urban growth nodes (main urban 
areas), small settlements (small urban 
settlements) and rural settlements. 

 

Outcomes 
1.  Stormwater systems in Urban Growth 

Nodes are progressively upgraded to 
comply with adopted structure plans. 

 
2.  Existing stormwater systems in Small 

Settlements are progressively upgraded 
to provide a minimum level of service. 

 
3.  Urban development is avoided in flood-

prone areas unless mitigation measures 
can be provided. 

 
4.  Communities are consulted and informed 

about various approaches to stormwater 
management and their views are sought 
and taken into account. 

 
5.  Compliance and monitoring activities are 

carried out. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The Waihi Beach Coastal Protection works 
continued during the year.  In addition to the 
rock revetment project, dune enhancement 
works commenced in May with school and 
community planting days.  Storms 
experienced in June have resulted in some 
damage to the initial restoration work.  
Council has taken action to alleviate the 
storm damage and is working towards the 
completion of the shoreline protection works.  
  In late June 2011 work commenced to deal 
with a number of long term flooding issues in 
the District. 

 
  To ascertain the levels of stormwater 
compliance, e.g. pipe sizing, risk to property 
and capacity requirements, in-house 
modelling is being undertaken of urban areas 
across the District.  This is an 18 month 
project and will provide key information for 
long term asset management. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The actions completed by Council are impacted by timing, weather issues and consultation with 
key groups.  As a result the actions identified in the annual work programme are not always 
completed by the end of the financial year (30 June).  This is reflected in the graph, which shows 
the variances over the past 8 years. 
 

Resident satisfaction with stormwater systems is showing a positive trend.  The 2011 result of 
67% is the highest over the 10 years this has been monitored.   The low results in 2006 were a 
reflection of the significant storm and flooding that occurred in 2005. 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
% completion of the annual work programme 
as identified in the Stormwater strategy and 
action plan.  This identifies the total annual 
actions required for this strategy. 
 

 
90% 

 
44% 

 
64% 

 
The work programmes 
at Waihi Beach, 
Omokoroa and Te Puke 
were not completed at 
year end.  Completion 
of these works is 
anticipated by 
September 2011. 
The Maketu work 
programme is subject 
to consultation with the 
Community Board. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
Resident satisfaction level with stormwater 
systems, as monitored by the Annual 
Residents Survey, those residents who are 
very satisfied and satisfied. 

 
60% 

 
67% 

 
66% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Supporting Measure 
% of Council‟s stormwater reticulation 
network that has adequate capacity in terms 
of Code of Practice design. 

 
65% 

 
74% 

 
Unknown 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

Progressively upgrade infrastructure to manage flood levels within designated areas. 

% of reticulation (by length) that is under-
size. 
 

35% 26% 28%  
 

Maintain existing stormwater system to retain flooding within designated areas. 

Number of times flooding occurs outside 
identified flood-prone areas during a one-in-
50-year or less storm event.  (1-in-50-year 
storm event is a nationally recognised 
measure and used in Council‟s Code of 
Practice.) 

2 7 0  
Flooding occurred due to 
blocked and undersize 
pipes.  Issues identified 
have been factored into 
upgrades and remedial 
planning for the future. 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  As part of the resource consent for Waihi 
Beach Coastal Protection a long term solution 
is required in regard to an alternative 
mechanism to address current erosion.  
Monitoring will continue and Council will 
ensure this resource consent requirement is 
addressed by 2020. 
  Council is developing a District-wide 
stormwater consent process.  This will 
consolidate resource consents into nine areas 
with their own footprint.  A draft resource 
consent has been prepared for Waihi Beach 
to test the methodology and Court hearings 
and consultation are planned for 2011.  Once 
this resource consent is finalised it is 
anticipated that the process can be used to 
progress the consents for the remaining 
eight areas.  Once these resource consents 
are obtained any development will go 
through this Council rather than Bay of 
Plenty Regional Council. 
  The Bay of Plenty Regional Water and Land 
Plan requires Council to monitor and treat 
stormwater to remove any contaminants.  
Council will identify options and develop 
process to meet these requirements.  
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Stormwater 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Stormwater 3,467 4,016 3,108 

Total operating expenditure 3,467 4,016 3,108 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 523 615 1,893 

Overhead costs 598 598 437 

Interest 1,396 1,739 - 

Depreciation 950 1,064 778 

Total operating expenditure 3,467 4,016 3,108 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 2,142 1,964 2,278 

Financial contributions 147 768 105 

Vested assets - 200 478 

Other income 2 - 1 

Total revenue 2,290 2,932 2,862 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (1,176) (1,084) (246) 

    

Capital expenditure 2,398 2,782 1,669 

Vested assets - 200 478 

    

Total other funding required (3,575) (4,066) (2,393) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 18 18 20 

Debt increase / (decrease) 1,351 2,390 375 

Reserves and future surpluses 2,205 1,658 1,998 

Total other funding 3,575 4,066 2,393 

 

Major variances 
  Interest expense is $0.343 million below 
budget due to lower debt requirements 
during the year. This was due to lower 
capital expenditure and operational costs. 
  Financial contribution revenue is $0.621 
million below budget due to lower growth 
being experienced in the District during the 
2010/11 year. 
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Protecting the Environment  
Natural Environment
 
  The natural environment is one of the 
District‟s most valuable resources as it 
provides the foundation for the District‟s 
economy, a wide range of recreational 
activities as well as the intrinsic value for 
many people.  The subregional growth 
strategy, SmartGrowth, has identified the 
protection and enhancement of the natural 
environment as the cornerstone of 
sustainable development.   
  Council is committed to the protection and 
enhancement of the District‟s natural 
environment.  As growth pressures continue, 
Council will focus on environmental 
enhancement to ensure a legacy is provided 
for future generations. 
 

Outcome 
1. The District‟s natural environment is 

protected, maintained and enhanced. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  Council has worked extensively with the 
Maketu Ongatoro Wetlands group to 
eradicate weeds, undertake native planting, 
monitoring and pest control on the Maketu 
Spit over the past two years.  This year the 
group won two awards, the National Dune 
Trust‟s award for Best Coastal Dune Project 
and the Supreme winner at the Trustpower 
Western Bay of Plenty Community Awards. 
  Council co-ran a pilot environmental 
education programme for Te Puna tangata 
whenua.  Delivery style, venue, and 
resources were all adapted to suit tangata 
whenua.  Inclusion of whanau principles 
meant several generations were involved. 
The programme will be held again in 2012. 
  Council provided financial support through: 

 Fencing subsidies on private land in 
support of the Bay of Plenty Regional 
Council‟s Biodiversity and Riparian 
Management Plans. 

 Sponsorship of the Tauranga 
Environment Centre‟s Sustainable 
Backyards Programme. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The increase in land which is physically and legally protected is showing variable results since 
monitoring commenced in 2007.  The significant reduction in 2009 was a result of the Regional 
Council changing the methodology for recording protected land.  Apart from this there has been an 

annual increase in the land protected. 
   
Resident satisfaction is showing a positive trend with a result of 52% satisfaction in 2011.  This is 
a significant increase from initial resident satisfaction of 30% in 2007. 
 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
Annual increase in the number of hectares 
physically and legally protected through 
various covenants. 
 

 
>100 ha 

 
227 

 
1,466ha 

 
During 2009/10 a 
significant number of 
protection lots were 
secured.  This was 
due to the District 
Plan review and 
developers chose to 
subdivide before the 
rules changed. 
 
The graph above 
shows Council‟s 
achievement over 
time for this measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
% of residents who perceive the 
environmental attributes monitored are better. 
(Environmental features monitored include 
quality of streams and rivers, harbours and 
estuaries, air quality, amount of noxious 
weeds, protection of historic places, general 
level of cleanliness and the amount and 
quality of native plants and animals.) 

 
45% 

 
52% 

 
37% 

 
The graph above 
shows Council‟s 
achievement over 
time for this measure. 
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Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Supporting Measures 
Five yearly qualitative monitoring of the 
District‟s natural environment. 

 
** 

Monitoring 
was not 

undertaken 

Monitoring 
was not 

undertaken 

 
The Bay of Plenty 
Regional Council 
undertakes 
environmental 
monitoring for all 
catchments into 
Tauranga harbour.  
As a result this 
monitoring is not 
required. 

 

** A qualitative monitoring exercise is to be undertaken before targets can be identified. 
 
 

Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

Facilitate and support community involvement in protecting and enhancing the natural environment 

Number of groups: 
 Council has association with. 
 Council actively supports. 

 
35 
15 

 
40 
19 

 
38 
21 

 

Number of staff (FTE)* to support 
Environmental Protection in the subregion.  
Council recognises a dedicated resource is 
required to raise environmental awareness. 

1.5 1.0 1  

 
* FTE – Full-time equivalent.
 

Future initiatives 
  Council will continue to explore options for 
further tangata whenua environmental 
education programmes in other communities 
within the District. 
  Social media could be a useful tool for care 
groups to provide information and promote 
environmental initiatives.  Council will 
research and validate this communication 
mechanism.  If viable, Council will assist care 
groups in establishing this medium. 
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Natural Environment 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure – by activity    

Ecological impact fees (43) (19) (41) 

Coastal protection 16 57 27 

Fencing grants 93 97 42 

Natural environment support 200 217 224 

Total operating expenditure 266 352 252 

    

Analysis of expenditure – by class    

Direct costs 220 302 216 

Overhead costs 43 43 32 

Depreciation 3 7 4 

Total operating expenditure 266 352 252 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 16 16 15 

Financial contributions 51 122 91 

Interest - - - 

Other income 1 - - 

Total revenue 68 138 106 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (199) (214) (146) 

    

Capital expenditure - - - 

    

Total other funding required (199) (214) (146) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 162 150 139 

Environment protection rate 10 22 30 

Reserves and future surpluses 27 42 (23) 

Total other funding 199 214 146 
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Protecting the Environment 
Wastewater
 
  Council operates wastewater systems at 
Waihi Beach, Katikati and Te Puke.  The 
wastewater solution for Omokoroa was 
achieved through an agreement with 
Tauranga City Council.  This means that 
wastewater is piped to Tauranga City 
Council‟s treatment plant and eliminates the 
need for Council to build a wastewater 
treatment plant in Omokoroa. 
 

Outcomes 
1.  All areas in the District served by 

Council‟s reticulated wastewater disposal 
systems meet acceptable health, safety 
and environmental standards. 

 
2.  Council assists small urban communities 

along the Tauranga Harbour to ensure 
that the wastewater disposal options 
available to them meet health and safety 
requirements. 

 

2010/11 Highlights 
  In March this year Council decided to 
proceed with the $16.3 million Maketu/Little 
Waihi wastewater scheme.  This decision 
marked the end of a 12-year journey by 
Council of exploring options, consulting with 
the community and negotiating with Central 
Government for a subsidy.  Central 
Government will subsidise the scheme by 
$10.5 million and the Bay of Plenty Regional 
Council will provide a subsidy of $2.1 million.  
This project will be commissioned and 
operational by early 2012.   
  Currently a resource consent renewal 
process for Waihi Beach wastewater 
treatment plant (expires 2012) is underway.   
  In partnership with the Regional Council a 
wastewater solution for small communities, 
i.e. Te Puna West and Ongare Point is 
currently being identified and considered. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The overall level of resource consent compliance for the wastewater schemes (Te Puke, Katikati & 
Omokoroa) has remained consistent at 93%.  While targets were achieved in 2004-2006, in recent 
years there have been some incidents of mechanical failure as well as weather-related incidents, 
i.e. high rainfall and infiltration. 
 
The level of satisfaction with Council‟s wastewater systems has been consistently high at 96%. 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
Percentage compliance with resource consents 
for each wastewater scheme: 
 

   

 
Non compliance of 
treatment plants was 
due to high rainfall and 
infiltration at Waihi 
Beach and Katikati.  At 
Te Puke mechanical 
failure and operational 
improvements resulted 
in parts of the process 
shutting down for 
periods of time. 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Te Puke 99% 94% 92% 

Katikati 99% 89% 94% 

Waihi Beach 99% 97% 96% 

Maketu 
 
This monitors compliance with critical 
measures, i.e. discharge to sea, control of 
overflows, blockages remedied. 

N/A NA N/A 

Key Resident Measure 
Level of resident satisfaction with Council 
reticulated wastewater disposal system as 
monitored by the Annual Residents Survey, 
those residents who are very satisfied and 
satisfied. 

 
95% 

 
96% 

 
94% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Supporting Measures 
Capacity of the wastewater plants to meet the 
daily peak demand.  Current capacity allows 
for future growth. 

 
>100% 

 
>100% 

 
>100% 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

100% of eligible households within the area of the Council‟s wastewater scheme are connected. 

Percentage of eligible households (excluding 
vacant sections)  connected within the 
wastewater scheme of: 

    
 

 Te Puke 98% 99.8% 97%  

 Katikati 98% 99.8% 97% 

 Waihi Beach 98% 99.8% 96% 

 Omokoroa 98% 99.6% 98% 

 Maketu New New N/A 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  Resource consents for Katikati and Te Puke 
expire in 2016.  It is planned to use the 
process currently being undertaken for Waihi 
Beach.  The application process for Katikati 
and Te Puke will commence in 2014. 
  Any future upgrades to the wastewater 
treatment plants will be driven by future 
development in the District. 
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Wastewater 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Waihi Beach wastewater 3,658 3,762 3,175 

Katikati wastewater 1,788 1,686 1,735 

Omokoroa wastewater 3,748 3,595 3,303 

Te Puke wastewater 1,691 1,726 1,421 

Maketu wastewater 30 50 271 

Total operating expenditure 10,916 10,819 9,905 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 2,749 2,844 2,923 

Overhead costs 1,531 1,531 744 

Interest 3,933 3,940 3,767 

Depreciation 2,702 2,504 2,471 

Total operating expenditure 10,916 10,819 9,905 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 5,922 5,607 5,722 

User fees 45 - 2 

Financial contributions 286 755 621 

Vested assets - 240 195 

Other income 4,200 9,887 335 

Total revenue 10,454 16,489 6,875 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (462) 5,670 (3,030) 

    

Capital expenditure 2,487 11,355 928 

Vested assets - 240 195 

    

Total other funding required (2,949) (5,925) (4,154) 

    

Other funding provided by    

Environment protection rate 277 277 265 

Debt increase / (decrease) (586) 651 (653) 

Reserves and future surpluses 3,259 4,997 4,542 

Total other funding 2,949 5,925 4,154 

 

Major variances 
  Targeted rates were $0.315 million higher 
than budget due the greater number of 
properties connected to the District‟s 
wastewater schemes at the time of the rates 
being levied compared to the number of 
connected properties at the time of the 
budget being prepared. 
  Financial contribution revenue is  
$0.469 million below budget due to lower 
growth being experienced in the District 
during the 2010/11 year. 

 

 
  Other income was $5.687 million lower 
than budget due to the timing of the 
Maketu/Little Waihi wastewater scheme 
project being delayed until the 2011/12 year.  
This resulted in only $4.200 million of the 
$9.887 million subsidy being received.  
  Capital expenditure was $8.868 million 
lower than budget due to the timing of the 
Maketu/Little Waihi wastewater scheme 
which will now be completed in the 2011/12 
year. 
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Protecting the Environment 
Solid Waste
 
  Council operates recycling and greenwaste 
centres at Katikati and Waihi Beach.  There is 
also a greenwaste collection-only site at 
Omokoroa.  Council-owned landfill sites are 
closed, however, monitoring continues to 
ensure compliance with ongoing resource 
consent conditions. 
 

Outcomes 
1.  The total quantity of residual waste for 

disposal is minimised by reduction, reuse 
and recycling. 

 
2.  People dispose of residual waste that they 

can‟t reduce, re-use or recycle in an 
environmentally acceptable manner. 

 
3.  Council and communities work together to 

create a clean environment. 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The Te Puke recycling centre opened in 
August 2010 and was a ground-breaking 
venture between Council and Avalon (BOP) 
Incorporated.  Through a service contract 
agreement Avalon has taken over the 
operation of the Eastern Recycling Centre.  
  Katikati recycling centre continues to fulfil 
the community‟s desire for a recycling 
centre.  The significant increase in patronage 
in the last 12 months provides a platform to 
upgrade the facility.  This is planned to 
commence in August 2011. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The actions completed by Council are showing variable results over the past 8 years.  The low 
results in 2007 and 2008 were a result of projects being deferred until the review of the Waste 
Management Plan and Solid Waste Strategy.  Since then there has been a significant improvement 
with the 2011 result of 100%. 
 
The level of resident satisfaction has remained consistent since monitoring began in 2002.  A key 
reason for dissatisfaction is the need for more recycling facilities, which influenced the decision to 
open the Eastern Recycling facility in 2010. 
 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 

2009/1
0 Narrative 

Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
Percentage of actions identified in the Solid 
Waste action plan for the year that have been 
completed.  This identifies the total annual 
actions required for this strategy.  Actions are 
required within specification and budget. 

 
90% 

 
100% 

 
86% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
Percentage level of customer satisfaction with 
household rubbish disposal methods. 
 

 
70% 

 
65% 

 
63% 

 
Key reasons for 
dissatisfaction were the 
activity was too 
expensive, there was no 
collation service and 
need for more recycling. 
The target and result 
were calculated excluding 
those surveyed who 
“don‟t know”.  The 
survey result including 
the 1% who “don‟t know” 
is 64%. 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 
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Performance Measures 
2010/11 

2009/1
0 Narrative 

Target Result Result 

Supporting Measure 
Percentage of waste recycled or recovered as 
estimated and reported by licensed operators 
(excludes waste disposed of privately). 

 
30% 

 
0 

 
49% 

 
Due to the change in 
services contract this was 
not completed in the 
2010/11 year.  Next 
report due September 
2011. 

 

Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

All Council-owned solid waste facilities (including closed landfills) meet environmental standards. 

Number of abatement or infringement notices 
issued. 

0 0 0  
 

Provide and maintain drop-off recycling services for the following waste streams: paper, cardboard, cans, scrap 
metal and green waste. 

Number of green waste and/or recycling 
facilities provided. 

 
4 

 
4 

 
3 

 
Te Puke Recycling centre 
opened August 2010. 

Assist the provision of opportunities for the removal of hazardous waste. 

Number of „haz-mobile‟ collection services held 
in the District each year. 

 
2 

 
1 

 
2 

 
One haz-mobile 
collection held in Te 
Puke in June 2011. 

 

Future initiatives 
  The Waste Minimisation Plan calls for 
councils to focus on ways of reducing the 
waste streams to landfills.  The waste 
minimisation levy funding provided to 
councils each year is designed to promote 
these initiatives.  As a result, councils need 
to demonstrate the use of this funding on 
projects. 
  Western Bay has focussed on Te Puke‟s 
recycling centre over the last three years and 
committed funds to the Katikati recycling 
centre for the next two years. 
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Solid Waste 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

District solid waste 411 410 387 

Western solid waste 395 510 477 

Eastern solid waste 356 378 132 

Omokoroa green waste 112 80 100 

Total operating expenditure 1,273 1,378 1,096 

    

Analysis of expenditure - by class    

Direct costs 741 884 744 

Overhead costs 463 433 306 

Interest 39 49 36 

Depreciation 30 12 10 

Total operating expenditure 1,273 1,378 1,096 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 729 713 518 

User fees 25 76 40 

Other income 50 150 144 

Total revenue 805 939 702 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (468) (439) (394) 

    

Capital expenditure 445 250 276 

    

Total other funding required (913) (689) (670) 

    

Other funding provided by    

Environment protection rate 405 384 479 

Debt increase / (decrease) (434) 176 (69) 

Reserves and future surpluses 941 129 260 

Total other funding 913 689 670 

 

Major variances 
  Capital expenditure was $0.195 million 
higher than budget due to the building of the 
Eastern recycling centre in Te Puke. 
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Supporting our Economy 
Economic
 
  Through this activity Council aims to 
support sustainable economic development 
in the region.  As a result this activity is 
closely aligned to the Regional Economic 
Development Strategy, SmartEconomy and 
SmartGrowth.  Council seeks to ensure that 
the growth of our towns Katikati, Omokoroa, 
Waihi Beach and Te Puke is sustainable and 
that the current character and identity of 
each town is strengthened through good 
urban design.   
 

Outcome 
1. Sustainable economic development in the 

sub-region is enabled, supported and 
promoted. 

 

2010/11 Highlights 
  The implementation of the Te Puke Town 
Centre Plan continued with an agreement 
reached between Council and a developer to 
build a mixed-use commercial complex and 
public car park.  The development aims to 
give the town a new „heart‟ where shopping 
and recreation are intertwined, attracting 
both residents and visitors.  Construction on 
the walkway that connects the new town 
centre with the main road has commenced. 
  Implementation of the Katikati Town Centre 
Plan has commenced through the purchase 
of property for the future relocation of the 
library and service centre. 
  Council continued to work with and fund 
the sub-regional economic development 
agency, Priority One Western Bay of Plenty 
Incorporated and, the regional tourism 
organisation, Tourism Bay of Plenty through 
service delivery contracts.  Community 
organisations continue to be contracted to 
promote Te Puke and Katikati town centres. 
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Service performance results 
 

Result trends for key measures 
 

 
 
The actions completed by Council have remained consistently high since 2004.  The target for this 
measure is 90% which has been achieved every year.   
 
Resident satisfaction with Council‟s role in economic initiatives has been consistent over the past 8 
years.  The target for this measure is 55% and this has not been achieved to date.  Council has 
limited resources in terms of the economic development activity and will continue to work with 
sub-regional agencies (Priority One, Tourism Bay of Plenty) and complete the various Town Centre 
Development Plans. 
 

Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Key Performance Measure 
% completion of the annual work programme 
as identified in the Economic strategy and 
action plan.  This identified the total annual 
actions required for this strategy. 

 
90% 

 
93% 

 
100% 

 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 

Key Resident Measure 
Level of resident satisfaction with Council‟s 
role in promoting employment and business 
opportunities within the sub-region, as per 
Annual Residents Survey, those residents that 
are very satisfied and satisfied. 

 
55% 

 
43% 

 
39% 

 
Both the target and 
result were calculated 
excluding those 
surveyed who “don‟t 
know”.  
The survey result 
including the 25% who 
“don‟t know” is 32%. 
 
The graph above shows 
Council‟s achievement 
over time for this 
measure. 
 
The 2010 survey did 
not identify reasons for 
dissatisfaction.  This 
will be included in the 
2011/12 survey. 
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Levels of service 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Result 
Narrative 

Target Result 

Economic programme identified through community development plans for each Urban Growth Node. 

Number of Economic action plans derived 
from the Community Development Plans 
(CDPs). 

5 5 4  
 

Expenditure on service delivery contracts to 
deliver economic outcomes ($ per rateable 
property).  This includes Town Centre 
Promotion (x2), Tourism, Sub-regional 
Economic Support. 

24 24 **  
 

Number of service delivery contracts. 4 4 4  
 

Number of staff (FTE)* to support Economic 
Development in the sub-region. 

1.5 1.5 1.2  
 

 
* FTE – Full-time equivalent. 
** The Economic Strategy was reviewed in 2010 and this additional performance measure was 
identified.  As a result of this there is no 2009/10 result.  
 
 

Future initiatives 
  The implementation of the Te Puke town 
centre plan will continue with the 
development of the mixed use commercial 
complex, applying for sub-division approval 
and undertaking geotechnical investigations.  
Construction is expected to start early in 
2012. 
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Economic 
Cost of service statement 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure - by activity    

Waihi land drainage 280 270 270 

Contracts, levies and grants 845 855 679 

Total operating expenditure 1,125 1,125 949 

    

Analysis of expenditure – by class    

Direct costs 1,037 980 890 

Overhead costs 85 85 53 

Interest - 55 3 

Depreciation 2 5 3 

Total operating expenditure 1,125 1,125 949 

    

Revenue    

Targeted rates 536 524 478 

Other income 3 2 2 

Total revenue 539 526 480 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (586) (599) (469) 

    

Capital expenditure 693 688 (17) 

    

Total other funding required (1,278) (1,287) (452) 

    

Other funding provided by    

General rate 706 706 676 

Interest in associates 96 - (13) 

Debt increase / (decrease) (54) (20) (205) 

Proceeds from sale of assets - 2,700 - 

Reserves and future surpluses 531 (2,099) (6) 

Total other funding 1,278 1,287 452 

 

Major variances 
 
The anticipated sale of land in Te Puke was 
not completed during the 2010/11 year, as a 
result additional reserves were required to 
fund the shortfall.  
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Council Services 
 
  Council‟s general management function co-
ordinates the activities described in previous 
chapters as well as the treasury function, 
management of Council‟s corporate property 
portfolio and internal services which keep the 
organisation operating on a daily basis. 
 
  Council‟s Corporate Plan guides initiatives 
intended to improve performance in the 
following areas: 
 

 Internal debt/treasury management 
 

 Customer care 
 

 Community care 
 

 Asset management – including 
corporate property 
 

 Key business processes 
 

 Working effectively with others 
 

 Risk management 
 

 Staff knowledge and skills 
 

 Institutional knowledge 
 

2010/11 Highlights 
  Council continued to work with the Bay of 
Plenty Local Authority Shared Services 
(BOPLASS) initiative to progress 
opportunities for shared services.  Council is 
currently participating in a BOPLASS work 
group for Geographical Information Services 
(GIS).  There are nine councils participating 
in the initiative and ultimately this would 
enable a shared GIS platform for the region 
and possible associated services.  This 
initiative will continue into the 2011/12 year. 
  The implementation of Town Centre Plans 
continued during the year.  Further details of 
this are provided on page 65. 
  The process and methodology for the 
backscanning of Council‟s records is currently 
being developed. 
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Performance results 
 

Performance Measures 
2010/11 2009/10 

Narrative 
Target Result Result 

Corporate Property 
Asset management plans updated to reflect 
Council‟s Annual Plan and Long Term Plan. 
 
Corporate property is acquired and managed 
in accordance with asset management plans, 
structure plans and Treasury Policy. 
 

 
100% 

 
 

100% 

 
100% 

 
 

100% 

 
80% 

 
 

100% 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Customer Care 
Level of resident satisfaction with service 
received when resident contacts Council. 
 

 
85% 

 
83% 

 
80% 

 
 

 

Staff 
Level of staff satisfaction with the ability to 
access the information necessary to do their 
job. 
 
Level of staff satisfaction with Council as their 
employer and the work environment. 
 
 
Staff Turnover. 
 

 
68% 

 
 
 

76% 
 
 
 

10% 

 
73% 

 
 
 

70% 
 
 
 

10% 

 
70% 

 
 
 

76% 
 
 
 

4% 

 
 
 
 
 

Organisation 
restructure occurred in 
2010. 

 
 
 

Quality 
Maintain ISO 9001:2000 Quality Standard. 
 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
100% 

 
 

 

 
 

Future initiatives 
  Council will continue to improve systems to 
achieve efficiencies and enhance customer 
experience.  This will be achieved through a 
thorough review of the corporate services 
provided and the identification of key 
initiatives to implement. 
 
 
 



 PEOPLE    PLAN    PROGRESS 

 

71 

 

Council Services 
Statement of cost of service 
 

  
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Analysis of expenditure – by activity    

Internal services 921 2,124 2,856 

Corporate property 1,342 1,484 900 

Other 1,888 1,327 1,458 

Total operating expenditure 4,151 4,935 5,214 

    

Analysis of expenditure – by class    

Direct costs 11,365 11,594 9,139 

Overhead costs (10,049) (9,802) (8,077) 

Interest 1,730 2,276 3,273 

Depreciation 1,106 867 879 

Total operating expenditure 4,151 4,935 5,214 

    

Revenue    

User fees 10 2 9 

Targeted rates 1,224 1,222 1,231 

Vested assets - - - 

Interest 1,000 2,831 769 

Other income  13,673 13,378 13,064 

General rate  (11,272) (11,272) (10,760) 

Environment protection rate allocated (704) (682) (1,410) 

Total revenue 3,932 5,479 2,903 

Net cost of service - surplus / (deficit) (219) 544 (2,311) 

    

Capital expenditure 1,159 1,573 (605) 

Vested assets - - - 

    

Total other funding required (1,378) (1,029) (1,706) 

    

Other funding provided by    

Debt increase / (decrease) (32) 518 911 

Proceeds from sale of assets 166 785 658 

Reserves and future surpluses 1,244 (274) 137 

Total other funding 1,378 1,029 1,706 

 

Major variances 
Interest expenditure and interest income are 
both below budget.  This is due to internal 
interest costs being offset against each other 
rather than separately reported. 
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Tauranga Harbour 
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Our Finances 
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Statement of comprehensive income  
year ended 30 June 2011  
 

 Note 
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 

Revenue     

Revenue from activities 2(c) 17,985 26,638 14,319 

Rate income 3(a) 28,304 28,107 26,952 

Separate rates 3(b) 17,179 16,170 15,947 

Vested assets 4(b) 5,211 1,090 2,905 

Financial contributions 5 2,990 6,444 5,003 

Finance income 4(a) 1,015 741 780 

Other revenue 5 1,664 1,665 2,022 

Gains 16 2,170 - - 

Total Operating Revenue 2(a) 76,518 80,855 67,928 

     

Expenditure     

Other expenses 6 30,998 35,746 29,786 

Personnel costs 7 12,225 12,812 11,442 

Depreciation  14 15,835 15,134 14,689 

Amortisation  15 497 300 392 

Finance costs 4(a) 10,341 8,896 10,787 

Total Operating Expenditure 2(b) 69,896 72,888 67,096 

     

Share of associates retained surplus 13 96 - (2) 

Net Surplus / (Deficit)  6,718 7,967 830 

     

Other Comprehensive Income     

Gains/(Losses) on asset revaluations 22d 28,838 46,868 8,532 
Other assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 22a (35) - 47 

Total other comprehensive income for 
the year  28,804 46,868 8,579 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  35,522 54,835 9,409 

     
 
 
Explanations of major variances against budget are detailed in note 33. 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011 
 

 Note 
Actual 
2011 

Budget 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

  $000 $000 $000 
     
Equity     

Retained earnings 22a 711,034 712,639 701,702 
Restricted reserves 22b 251 385 328 
Council-created reserves 22c 10,893 13,099 13,464 
Asset revaluation reserves 22d 270,484 295,085 241,646 

Total equity  992,662 1,021,208 957,140 
     
Assets     
Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 8 15,637 12,752 1,188 
Debtors and other receivables 9 11,543 8,538 8,401 
Non-current assets held for sale 12 - - 491 
Prepayments 9 142  26 

Total current assets  27,322 21,290 10,106 
     
Non-current assets     
Other financial assets 11 5,215 5,872 4,703 
Investments in associates 13 282 186 186 
Intangible assets 15 3,036 892 2,942 
Forestry asset 16 2,170 - - 
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,129,392 1,164,301 1,082,876 

Total non-current assets  1,140,095 1,171,252 1,090,707 

Total assets  1,167,417 1,192,542 1,100,813 
     
Liabilities     
Current liabilities     
Creditors and other payables 17 14,127 10,073 10,424 
Employee entitlements 19 1,409 989 1,230 

Borrowings 18 39,927 30,000 27,000 
Derivative financial instruments 10 6,656 4,177 4,868 
Current portion provisions 20 1,387 1,324 1,348 

Total current liabilities  63,506 46,563 44,870 
     
Non-current liabilities     
Employee entitlements 19 49 151 45 
Provisions 20 690 3,103 1,926 
Borrowings 18 110,510 121,517 95,514 
Other non-current liabilities 21 - - 1,318 

Total non-current liabilities  111,249 124,771 98,803 

Total liabilities  174,755 171,334 143,673 

Net assets  992,662 1,021,208 957,140 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
 

 

 
 
 

Ross Paterson Glenn Snelgrove 
His Worship the Mayor Chief Executive Officer 
Western Bay of Plenty District Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
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Statement of changes in equity  
year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 
 Retained 

Earnings 
Asset 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Council 
Reserves 

Total 
Equity 

     
Balance at 1 July 2009 701,135 233,114 13,482 947,731 
Total comprehensive income for the year 567 8,532 310 9,409 

Balance at 30 June 2010 701,702 241,646 13,792 957,140 

     
Total comprehensive income for the year 9,332 28,838 (2,648) 35,522 

 
Balance at 30 June 2011 711,034 270,484 11,144 992,662 

     

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows  
year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 Actual Budget Actual 

Note 2011 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 $000 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from rates revenue 46,738 42,863 43,421 
Regional Council rates  3,766 2,611 3,457 
Interest received 453 250 291 
Dividends received 113 - 84 
Receipts from other revenue 17,051 32,701 18,335 
Payments to suppliers and employees (41,051) (45,262) (41,689) 
Interest paid (8,559) (8,896) (8,256) 
Regional Council rates (3,766) (2,611) (3,457) 
Goods and services tax (net) 1,169 - 13 

Net cash from operating activities                        23                               15,914 21,656 12,199 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment 166 3,485 339 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (29,182) (37,545) (23,553) 
Purchase of intangible assets (372) - (1,101) 

Net cash from investing activities (29,388) (34,060) (24,315) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 

   

Proceeds from borrowings 41,928 36,000 30,000 
Repayment of borrowings (14,004) (17,000) (34,003) 

Net cash from financing activities 27,924 19,000 (4,003) 
 
 

   

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held 14,449 6,596 (16,119) 
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the 
beginning of the year 

1,188 6,156 17,307 

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at     8                  
the end of the year 

15,637 12,752 1,188 

 
The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the 

Inland Revenue Department.  The GST (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as the 
gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes. 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
 
Refer to Note 23 for reconciliation from net surplus to cash flows from operating activities. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
1 Statement of accounting policies  
year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Reporting entity 
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
(Western Bay) is a territorial local authority 
governed by the Local Government Act 2002 
and is domiciled in New Zealand. 
  The primary objective of Western Bay is to 
provide goods or services for the community 
or social benefit rather than making a 
financial return. 
  Accordingly, Western Bay has designated 
itself a public benefit entity for the purposes 
of New Zealand equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”). 
  The financial statements of Western Bay 
are for the year ended 30 June 2011.  The 
financial statements were authorised for 
issue by Council on 22 September 2011. 
 

Basis of preparation 
Statement of compliance 
  The financial statements of Western Bay 
have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 
2002, which includes the requirement to 
comply with New Zealand generally accepted 
accounting practice (“NZ GAAP”). 
  These financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP. They 
comply with NZ IFRS and other applicable 
Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate 
for public benefit entities. 
 

Measurement base 
  The financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, modified 
by the revaluation of land and buildings, 
certain infrastructural assets, investment 
property, forestry assets and certain financial 
instruments (including derivative financial 
instruments). 
 

Functional and presentation 

currency 
  The financial statements are presented in 
New Zealand dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($000). The functional currency of Western 
Bay is New Zealand dollars. 

Changes in accounting policies 
  All the accounting policies set out below 
have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these financial statements. 
 

Standards, amendments and 
interpretations issued that are 
not yet effective and have not 

been adopted early 
  Standards, amendments and interpretations 
issued but not yet effective that have not 
been adopted early and which are relevant to 
the Western Bay include: 

 
 NZ IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised 

2007) replaces NZ IAS 23 Borrowing 
Costs (issued 2004) and is effective 

for reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009.  The revised 
standard requires all borrowing costs 
to be capitalised if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a 
qualifying asset.  The revised 

standard will also require borrowing 
costs to be considered when 
revaluing property, plant and 
equipment to fair value based on 
depreciated replacement cost.  Any 
necessary adjustments to 
depreciated replacement cost 
carrying values will have flow on 
effects to depreciation expense.  
Western Bay has decided to 
postpone the adoption of this 
standard indefinitely as permitted 
under current NZ GAAP. 

 
 NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will 

eventually replace NZ IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. NZ IAS 39 is 
being replaced through the following 
3 main phases: Phase 1 Classification 
and Measurement, Phase 2 
Impairment Methodology and, Phase 
3 Hedge Accounting.  
 
Phase 1 on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets has 
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been completed and has been 
published in the new financial 
instrument standard NZ IFRS 9.  NZ 
IFRS 9 uses a single approach to 
determine whether a financial asset 
is measured at amortised cost or fair 
value, replacing the many different 
rules in NZ IAS 39.  
 
The approach in NZ IFRS 9 is based 
on how an entity manages its 
financial instruments (its business 
model) and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  
The new standard also requires a 
single impairment method to be 
used, replacing the many different 
impairment methods in NZ IAS 39.  
The new standard is required to be 
adopted for the year ended 30 June 
2014. Western Bay has not yet 
assessed the effect of the new 
standard and expects it will not be 
adopted early. 

 
 NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures 

(Revised 2009) replaces NZ IAS 24 
Related Party Disclosures (Issued 
2004). The revised standard 
simplifies the definition of a related 
party, clarifying its intended meaning 
and eliminating inconsistencies from 

the definition. Western Bay has not 
yet assessed the effect of the new 
standard and will not be adopting 
early. 
 

Significant accounting 
policies  
Associate entities 
  An associate is an entity over which 
Western Bay has significant influence and 
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in 
a joint venture of Western Bay.  Western Bay 
has a 50% ownership in Western Bay Moana 
Rural Fire Authority and a 1/9th share in Bay 
of Plenty Local Authority Shared Services 
Limited (BoP LASS).  The Council also has a 
50% ownership in Western Bay of Plenty 
Tourism and Visitors‟ Trust.  The investment 
in these associates is initially recognised at 
cost and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognise Western Bay‟s share 
of the surplus or deficit of the associate after 
the date of acquisition.  Western Bay‟s share 
of the surplus or deficit of the associate is 

recognised in Western Bay‟s statement of 
comprehensive income.  Distributions 
received from an associate reduce the 
carrying amount of the investment. 
  Where Western Bay transacts with an 
associate, surpluses or deficits are eliminated 
to the extent of Western Bay‟s interest in the 
relevant associate. 
 

Revenue 
  Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. 
 

Rates revenue 
  Rates are set annually by a resolution of 
Council and relate to a financial year.  All 
ratepayers are invoiced within the financial 
year for which the rates have been set.  
Rates revenue is recognised when payable. 
  Rates collected on behalf of Bay of Plenty 
Regional Council (BOPRC) are not recognised 
in the financial statements, except to the 
extent that they are included in the 
statement of cashflows, as Western Bay is 
acting as an agent for BOPRC. 
  Revenue from water rates by meter is 
recognised on an accrual basis.  Unbilled 
usage, as a result of unread meters at year-
end, is accrued on an average usage basis. 
 

Government grants 
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
receives government grants from New 
Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA), which 
subsidise part of Western Bay of Plenty 
District Council‟s costs in maintaining the 
local roading infrastructure.  The subsidies 
are recognised as revenue upon entitlement 
as conditions pertaining to eligible 
expenditure have been fulfilled. 
 

Vested assets 
  Where a physical asset is acquired for nil or 
nominal consideration the fair value of the 
asset received is recognised as income.  
Assets vested in Council are recognised as 
income when control over the asset is 
obtained. 
 

Interest income 
  Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest method. 
 

Sales of goods 
  Revenue from sales of goods is recognised 
when a product is sold to the customer. 
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Traffic and parking 
infringements 
  Traffic and parking infringements are 
recognised when tickets are issued. 
 

Dividends 
  Dividends are recognised when the right to 
receive payment has been established. 
 

Financial contributions 
  The Resource Management Act 1991 
governs the legislation regarding the 
charging of financial contributions.  Financial 
contributions are recognised as revenue 
when the Council provides, or is able to 
provide, the service for which the 
contribution was charged.  Otherwise 
financial contributions are transferred to 
reserves until such time as the Council 
provides, or is able to provide, the service. 
 

Construction contracts 
  Contract revenue and contract costs are 
recognised as revenue and expenses 
respectively by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract at balance date.  
The stage of completion is measured by 
reference to the contract costs incurred up to 
the balance date as a percentage of total 
estimated costs for each contract. 
  Contract costs include all costs directly 
related to specific contracts, costs that are 
specifically chargeable to the customer under 
the terms of the contract and an allocation of 
overhead expenses incurred in connection 
with Council‟s construction activities in 
general. 
  An expected loss on construction contracts 
is recognised immediately as an expense in 
the statement of comprehensive income. 
  Where the outcome of a contract cannot be 
reliably estimated, contract costs are 
recognised as an expense as incurred and 
where it is probable that the costs will be 
recovered, revenue is recognised to the 
extent of costs incurred. 
  Construction work in progress is stated at 
the aggregate of contract costs incurred to 
date plus recognised profits less recognised 
losses and progress billings.  If there are 
contracts where progress billings exceed the 
aggregate costs incurred plus profits less 
losses, the net amounts are presented under 
other liabilities. 

Finance costs 
  Borrowing costs are recognised as an 
expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.  The Council has not capitalised 
borrowing costs associated with funding 
capital works in progress, which represents a 
departure from NZ IAS 23: Borrowing Costs.  
However it is in line with the decision of the 
Accounting Standards Review Board to 
indefinitely defer the adoption of NZ IAS 23 
for public benefit entities. 
 

Grant expenditure 
  Non-discretionary grants are those grants 
that are awarded if the grant application 
meets the specified criteria and are 
recognised as expenditure when an 
application has been received that meets the 
specified criteria for the grant. 
  Discretionary grants are those grants where 
Western Bay has no obligation to award on 
receipt of the grant application and are 
recognised as expenditure when a successful 
applicant has been notified of the Western 
Bay‟s decision. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
  Foreign currency transactions (including 
those for which forward foreign exchange 
contracts are held) are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at year end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 

Income tax 
  Western Bay does not pay income tax as 
Section CW39 of the Income Tax Act 2007 
specifically exempts income derived by a 
local authority from income tax, unless that 
income is derived from a Council Controlled 
Organisation, a port related commercial 
undertaking or as a trustee.   
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Leases 
Finance leases 
  Western Bay does not currently have any 
finance leases. 
 
Operating leases 
  An operating lease is a lease that does not 
transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset.  
Lease payments under an operating lease 
are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand, deposits held on call with banks, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less 
and bank overdrafts. 
  Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities in the 
statement of financial position. 
 

Debtors and other receivables 
  Trade and other receivables are initially 
measured at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any provision 
for impairment. 
  A provision for impairment of receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence 
that Western Bay will be unable to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables.  The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the 
asset‟s carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted using the effective interest 
method. 
 

Non-current assets held for sale 
  Non-current assets held for sale are 
classified as held for sale if their carrying 
amount will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use.  Non-current assets held for 
sale are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. 
  Any impairment losses for write-downs of 
non-current assets held for sale are 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  Any increases in fair 
value (less costs to sell) are recognised up to 
the level of any impairment losses that have 
been previously recognised. 
 

  Non-current assets are not depreciated or 
amortised while they are classified as held 
for sale. 
 

Derivative financial instruments  
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council uses 
derivative financial instruments (interest rate 
swaps) to hedge exposure to interest rate 
risks arising from financing activities.  In 
accordance with its treasury policy, the 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council does 
not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. 
  Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value at each 
balance date. 
  The method of recognising the resulting 
gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument and, if so, the nature of the item 
being hedged.  Western Bay has elected not 
to hedge account for its derivative financial 
instruments. 
  The associated gains or losses of these 
derivatives (that are not hedge accounted) 
are recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 

Financial assets 
  Financial assets and liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs 
unless they are carried at fair value through 
profit or loss in which case the transaction 
costs are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
  Purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date, the date on which 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
Financial assets are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the Western Bay of Plenty District 
Council has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership. 
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
classifies its financial assets into the 
following categories: fair value through 
surplus or deficit, held-to maturity 
investments, loans and receivables and fair 
value through other comprehensive income.  
The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the investments were acquired.  
Management determines the classification of 
its investments at initial recognition.  
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Financial assets at fair value 
through surplus or deficit 
  Financial assets at fair value through 
surplus or deficit include financial assets held 
for trading.  A financial asset is classified in 
this category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short-term or it is 
part of a portfolio of identified financial 
instruments that are managed together and 
for which there is evidence of short-term 
profit-taking.  Derivatives are also 
categorised as held for trading unless they 
are designated as hedges.  Assets in this 
category are classified as current assets.   
Western Bay‟s financial assets at fair value 
through surplus or deficit include derivatives 
that are not designated as hedges (interest 
rate swaps). 
  After initial recognition they are measured 
at their fair values with gains or losses on re-
measurement recognised in the surplus or 
deficit. 
 

Loans and receivables 
  Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market.  They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the balance date, which are included in 
non-current assets.  Western Bay‟s loans and 
receivables comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, debtors and other receivables, 
term deposits and related party loans. 
  After initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment.  Gains and losses 
when the asset is impaired or derecognised 
are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 

Held to maturity investments 
  Held to maturity investments are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities 
that Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity.  They are included in current 
assets, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the balance date, which are 
included in non-current assets.  
  After initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment. 
  Gains and losses when the asset is impaired 
or derecognised are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

  Council does not currently hold any 
financial assets in this category. 
 

Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 
  Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income are those that are 
designated into the category at initial 
recognition or are not classified in any of the 
other categories above.  They are included in 
non-current assets unless management 
intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the balance date.  
 
This category encompasses: 
 

 investments that Western Bay of 
Plenty District Council intends to hold 
long-term but which may be realised 
before maturity; and 
 

 shareholdings that Western Bay of 
Plenty District Council holds for 
strategic purposes. 

 
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council‟s 
investments in its associates are not included 
in this category as they are held at cost (as 
allowed by NZ IAS 28:Investments in 
Associates) whereas this category is to be 
measured at fair value. 

  After initial recognition these investments 
are measured at their fair value, with gains 
and losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for 
impairment losses, which are recognised in 
the surplus or deficit. 
  On derecognition the cumulative gain or 

loss previously recognised in equity is 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
  Investments in this category include shares 
held in New Zealand Local Government 
Insurance Corporation. 
 

Fair value 
  The fair value of financial instruments 
traded in active markets is based on quoted 
market prices at the balance date.  The 
quoted market price used is the current bid 
price. 
  The fair value of financial instruments that 
are not traded in an active market is 
determined using valuation techniques.  
Western Bay uses a variety of methods and 
makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each balance 
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date.  Quoted market prices or dealer quotes 
for similar instruments are used for long-
term debt instruments held.  Other 
techniques, such as discounted expected 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value 
for the remaining financial instruments. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 
  At each balance date Western Bay of Plenty 
District Council assesses whether there is any 
objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.  Any 
impairment losses are recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. 
 

Loans and other receivables and 

held to maturity investments 
  Impairment is established when there is 
objective evidence that Western Bay will not 
be able to collect amounts due according to 
the original terms.  Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor/issuer, probability 
that the debtor/issuer will enter into 
bankruptcy and default in payments are 
considered indicators that the asset is 
impaired.  The amount of the impairment is 
the difference between the asset‟s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted using the 
original effective interest rate.  For debtors 
and other receivables, the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  When the receivable 
is uncollectible it is written off against the 
allowance account.  Overdue receivables that 
have been renegotiated are reclassified as 
current (i.e. not past due).  For local 
authority stock and government stock 
impairment, losses are recognised directly 
against the instrument‟s carrying amount. 
 

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income 
  For equity investments, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investment below its cost is considered an 
indicator of impairment.  
  For debt investments, significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the 
debtor will enter into bankruptcy and default 
in payments are considered objective 
indicators that the asset is impaired. 
 

  If such evidence exists for investments at 
fair value through other comprehensive 
income, the cumulative loss (measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost 
and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in the surplus or 
deficit) recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified from equity to the 
surplus or deficit.   
  Equity instrument impairment losses 
recognised in the surplus or deficit are not 
reversed through the surplus or deficit. 
  If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of 
a debt instrument increases and the increase 
can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed 
in the surplus or deficit. 
 

Investment property 
  Properties leased to third parties under 
operating leases are classified as investment 
property unless the property is held to meet 
service delivery objectives, rather than to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation. 
  Investment property is measured initially at 
its cost, including transaction costs. 
  After initial recognition, Western Bay of 
Plenty District Council measures all 
investment property at fair value as 
determined annually by an independent 
valuer.  Gains or losses arising from a 
change in the fair value of investment 
property are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
  There is no depreciation on investment 
properties. 
 

Intangible assets 
Software acquisition and development 
  Acquired computer software licenses are 
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred 
to acquire and bring to use the specific 
software. 
Costs that are directly associated with the 
development of software for internal use by 
the Western Bay of Plenty District Council, 
are recognised as an intangible asset.  Direct 
costs include the software development 
employee costs and an appropriate portion of 
relevant overheads. 
  Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as an expense when 
incurred. 
  Staff training costs are recognised as an 
expense when incurred.   
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Emission Trading Scheme New 
Zealand Units (NZU’s) 
  Council has been allocated and holds NZU‟s 
in respect of it forestry stands in the district. 
NZU‟s are initially recorded at cost and are 
subsequently measured at fair value each 
balance date. Any movement in fair value is 
recognised in surplus or deficit.  
  Costs associated with maintaining NZU‟s are 
recognised as an expense when incurred. 
 
Amortisation 
  The carrying value of an intangible asset 
with a finite life is amortised on a straight-
line or diminishing value basis over its useful 
life. 
  Amortisation begins when the asset is 
available for use and ceases at the date that 
the asset is derecognised. 
  The amortisation charge for each period is 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  The useful lives and 
associated amortisation rates of major 
classes of intangible assets have been 
estimated as follows: 
 
 Computer software licenses are 

capitalised at historic cost and are 
amortised over their estimated useful 
lives on a straight line or diminishing 
value basis. 

 
 Subdivision rights in relation to the joint 

purchase of land at Te Tumu, Papamoa 
by Tauranga City Council and Western 
Bay of Plenty District Council.  This land 
was purchased with the condition of 
providing the vendor the option to 

acquire it sometime in the period from 
December 2016 to December 2026.  This 
is amortised on a straight line basis over 
the 10 years.  

 
Neither Council has any intention to 
develop this land or retain ownership 

long term. 
 
 Resource consents which are not 

attributed to a specific asset are 
capitalised at historic cost and amortised 
on a straight line basis over their 
estimated useful lives (usually 20 years). 
 

Property, plant and equipment 
  Property, plant and equipment consist of: 
 
(a) Infrastructure assets  
 Infrastructure assets are the fixed 

utility systems owned by Western Bay.  
Each asset class includes all items that 
are required for the network to 
function, for example, sewer 
reticulation includes reticulation piping 
and sewer pump stations. 

 
(b)  Restricted assets   
 Restricted assets are parks and 

reserves owned by Western Bay which 
provide a benefit or service to the 
community and cannot be disposed of 
because of legal or other restrictions. 

 
(c)  Operational assets 
 These include land, buildings, landfill 

post closure, library books, plant and 
equipment and motor vehicles. 

 
 Property, plant and equipment is 

shown at cost or valuation, less 
accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

 
 In most instances, an item of property, 

plant or equipment is recognised at its 
cost.  Where an asset is acquired at no 
cost or at a nominal value, it is 
recognised at fair value as at the date 
of acquisition.  

 

Revaluation 
  Western Bay accounts for revaluations of 
property, plant and equipment on a class of 
asset basis. 
  The results of revaluing are credited or 
debited to an asset revaluation reserve for 
that class of asset.  Where this results in a 
debit balance in the asset revaluation 
reserve, this balance is expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive income.   
Any subsequent increase on revaluation that 
off-sets a previous decrease in value 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income will be recognised 
first in the statement of comprehensive 
income up to the amount previously 
expensed and then credited to the 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. 
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  Those asset classes that are revalued are 
valued with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that their carrying amount does not differ 
materially from fair value and at least on a 
three-yearly valuation cycle.  The carrying 
values of revalued assets are reviewed at 
each balance date to ensure that they do not 
differ materially from the assets‟ fair values.  
If there is a material difference, then the off-
cycle asset classes are re-valued. 
  Transportation assets including roads, 
bridges and footpaths were revalued at 
depreciated replacement cost at 1 July 2010 
and certified by Opus International 
Consultants Limited. 
  Water, wastewater and stormwater assets 
including reticulation, treatment plants, 
reservoirs and bores were revalued at 
depreciated replacement cost at 1 July 2010 
and certified by Aecom New Zealand Limited. 
  Land and buildings, excluding land under 
roads, were revalued at fair value at 1 July 
2008 by Landmass Technology Limited.  
Land under roads was revalued at 30 June 
2009 by Landmass Technology Ltd. 
  All other asset classes are carried at 
depreciated historical cost. 
 

Additions 
  The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset if and, 
only if, it is probable that future economic 
benefits or service potential associated with 
the item will flow to the Western Bay of 
Plenty District Council and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. 
 

Disposals 
  Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount of the asset.  Gains and 
losses on disposals are reported net in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  When 
revalued assets are sold, the amounts 
included in asset revaluation reserves in 
respect of those assets are transferred to 
retained earnings. 
 

Depreciation 
  Depreciation is provided on a straight-line 
basis on all buildings, bridges and other 
structures and diminishing value for motor 
vehicles, plant and equipment, office 
equipment and furnishings.  Land and drains 
are non depreciable.  The useful lives and 
associated depreciation rates of major 
classes of assets have been estimated as 
follows: 
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Buildings  
 
  - concrete 100 years Straight line 
  - wooden 40 years  Straight line 
  - improvements 10 years  Straight line 
Land (not depreciated) 
Other plant and equipment  10 years  Diminishing value 
Office equipment and furnishings 10 years Diminishing value 
Computer systems  5 years Diminishing value 
Motor vehicles   5 years  Diminishing value 
Library books  10-15 years  Straight line 
 

Infrastructural Assets 
 

Roading network 
 
Pavement (base course) 25 to 75 years Straight line 
Seal 12 years  Straight line 
Unsealed  3 to 5 years  Straight line 
Other 5 to 70 years  Straight line 
Formation (not depreciated) 
 

Bridges 
 
  - concrete 100 years Straight line 
  - steel  50 years  Straight line 
 

Reticulation 
 
Water  20 to 60 years  Straight line 
Sewerage 60 to 100 years  Straight line 
Stormwater  80 to 120 years Straight line 
Treatment plant and equipment 25 to 50 years  Straight line 
 

Other structures 
 
Wooden reservoirs 80 years Straight line 
Concrete reservoirs 100 years Straight line 
Dams 100 years  Straight line 
Bores  100 years  Straight line 
 
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed and adjusted, if applicable, at each 
financial year end.
 

Impairment of property, plant 

and equipment and intangible 
assets 
  Non-financial assets that have an indefinite 
useful life, or are not yet available for use, 
are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment.  Assets that 
have a finite useful life are reviewed for 
indicators of impairment at each balance 
date.   
 

 

 

 
 
  When there is an indicator of impairment 
the asset‟s recoverable amount is estimated.  
An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset‟s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset‟s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use.
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Value in use is depreciated replacement cost 
for an asset where the future economic 
benefits or service potential of the asset are 
not primarily dependent on the asset‟s ability 
to generate net cash inflows and where the 
entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace 
its remaining future economic benefits or 
service potential. 
  The value in use for cash-generating assets 
and cash generating units is the present 
value of expected future cash flows. 
  If an asset‟s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is impaired 
and the carrying amount is written down to 
the recoverable amount.  For revalued assets 
the impairment loss is recognised against the 
revaluation reserve for that class of asset.  
Where that results in a debit balance in the 
revaluation reserve, the balance is 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
  For assets not carried at a revalued 
amount, the total impairment loss is 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
  The reversal of an impairment loss on a 
revalued asset is credited to the revaluation 
reserve.  However, to the extent that an 
impairment loss for that class of asset was 
previously recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, a reversal of the 
impairment loss is also recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
  For assets not carried at a revalued amount 
the reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Forestry assets 
  Standing forestry assets are independently 
revalued annually at fair value less estimated 
costs to sell for one growth cycle. Fair value 
is determined based on the present value of 
expected net cash flows discounted at a 
current market determined rate. This 
calculation is based on existing sustainable 
felling plans and assessments regarding 
growth, timber prices, felling costs, and 
silvicultural costs and takes into 
consideration environmental, operational, 
and market restrictions. 
  Gains or losses arising on initial recognition 
of forestry assets at fair value less estimated 
costs to sell and from a change in fair value 
less estimated costs to sell are recognised in 
the surplus or deficit. 
 

  Forestry maintenance costs are recognised 
in the surplus or deficit when incurred. 
 

Liabilities 
  Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
are classified according to the substance of 
the contractual arrangements entered into 
and the definitions of a financial liability and 
equity instruments.  An equity instrument is 
any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Council after 
deducting all of its liabilities. 
 

Creditors and other payables 
  Creditors and other payables are initially 
measured at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 

Borrowings 
  Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts 
are initially measured at their fair value net 
of transaction costs incurred and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
  Finance charges, premiums payable on 
settlement or redemption and direct costs 
are accounted for on an accrual basis in the 
statement of comprehensive income using 
the effective interest rate method and are 
added to the carrying amount of the 
instrument to the extent that they are not 
settled in the period in which they arise. 
  Borrowings are classified as current 
liabilities unless Western Bay has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the 
balance date. 
 

Employee entitlements 
Short-term employee entitlements 
  Employee benefits that Western Bay of 
Plenty District Council expects to be settled 
within 12 months of balance date are 
measured at nominal values based on 
accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. 
  These include salaries and wages accrued 
up to balance date, annual leave earned, but 
not yet taken at balance date, retiring and 
long-service leave entitlements expected to 
be settled within 12 months. 
  Western Bay recognises a liability and an 
expense for bonuses where contractually 
obliged or where there is a past practice that 
has created a constructive obligation. 
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Long-term employee entitlements 
  Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 
months, such as long-service leave and 
retiring leave have been calculated on an 
actuarial basis.  The calculations are based 
on: 
 
 likely future entitlements accruing to 

staff, based on years of service, years to 
entitlement;  

 the likelihood that staff will reach the 

point of entitlement and contractual 
entitlement information; and 

 the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows. 

 
  The discount rate is based on the weighted 
average of interest rates for government 
stock with terms to maturity similar to those 
of the relevant liabilities.  The inflation factor 
is based on the expected long-term increase 
in remuneration for employees. 
 

Provisions 
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
recognises a provision for future expenditure 
of uncertain amount or timing when there is 
a present obligation (either legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that expenditures will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 
  Provisions are measured at the present 
value of the expenditures expected to be 
required to settle the obligation using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation.  The 
increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as an interest expense 
and is included in “finance costs”. 
 
Landfill post–closure provision 
  Council, as operator of the Te Puke and 
Athenree landfills, has a legal obligation 
under the resource consent to provide 
ongoing maintenance and monitoring 
services at the landfill sites after closure.  A 
provision for post-closure costs is recognised 
as a liability when the obligation for post-
closure arises. 
  The provision is measured based on the 
present value of future cash flows expected 
to be incurred, taking into account future 
events including legal requirements and 
known improvements in technology.  The 

provision includes all costs associated with 
landfills post-closure. 
 
Performance Based Contract Provision 
(PBC Provision) 
  The PBC contract is a roading contract 
between Opus International Consultants 
Limited and the Western Bay of Plenty 
District Council for a fixed value (plus cost 
variations) over a 10 year period in return for 
the network being maintained to the required 
standard, which is measured by a number of 
key performance indicators and operational 
performance measures.  In instances where 
the contractor has over-performed against 
key performance indicators, a provision is 
recognised, being the present value of future 
cash outflows expected to be incurred 
relating to capital works done in advance. 
 

Equity 
  Equity is the community‟s financial interest 
in the Western Bay of Plenty District Council 
as measured by the value of total assets less 
total liabilities.  Equity is disaggregated and 
classified into a number of reserves to enable 
clearer identification of the use Council 
makes of its accumulated surpluses.  The 
components of equity are: 
 

 retained earnings; 
 restricted reserves; 
 council created reserves;  
 asset revaluation reserves; and 
 fair value through other comprehensive 

income reserves 
 

Restricted reserves 
  Restricted reserves are a component of 
equity generally representing a particular use 
to which various parts of equity have been 
assigned.  Reserves may be legally restricted 
or created by Western Bay. 
  Restricted reserves are those subject to 
specific conditions accepted as binding by 
Western Bay and which may not be revised 
by Western Bay without reference to the 
Courts or a third party.  Transfers to and 
from these reserves may be made only for 
certain specified purposes or when certain 
specified conditions are met. 
  Also included in restricted reserves are 
reserves restricted by Council decision.  The 
Council may alter them without reference to 
any third party or the Courts.  Transfers to 
and from these reserves are at Council‟s 
discretion. 
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  Western Bay‟s objectives, policies and 
processes for managing capital are described 
in note 32. 
 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
  All items in the financial statements are 
stated exclusive of GST, except for debtors 
and other receivables and creditors and 
other payables, which are presented on a 
GST inclusive basis.  Where GST is not 
recoverable as input tax then it is recognised 
as part of the related asset or expense. 
  The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the Inland Revenue 
Department (IRD) is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
  The net GST paid to or received from the 
IRD, including the GST relating to investing 
and financing activities, is classified as an 
operating cash flow in the statement of cash 
flows. 
  Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed exclusive of GST. 
 

Cost of service statements 
  Council has derived the cost of service for 
each significant activity of the Western Bay 
of Plenty District Council using the cost 
allocation system set out below: 
  Direct costs are those costs directly 
attributable to a significant activity. Indirect 
costs are those costs, which cannot be 
identified in an economically feasible 
manner, with a specific significant activity. 
  Direct costs are charged directly to 
significant activities. Indirect costs are 
charged to significant activities using 
appropriate cost drivers such as actual 
usage, staff numbers and floor area. 
 

Budget figures 
  The budget figures are those approved by 
the Council at the beginning of the year in 
the annual plan.  The budget figures have 
been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, 
using accounting policies that are consistent 
with those adopted by Western Bay for the 
preparation of the financial statements. 
 

Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions 
  In preparing these financial statements 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council has 
made estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future.  These estimates and 

assumptions may differ from the subsequent 
actual results.  Estimates and assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations or future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.  The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below. 
 

Landfill aftercare provision 
  Note 20 presents an analysis of the 
exposure of Western Bay in relation to the 
estimates and uncertainties surrounding the 
landfill aftercare provision. 
 

Infrastructural assets 
  There are a number of assumptions and 
estimates used when performing depreciated 
replacement cost valuations over 
infrastructural assets.  These include:  
 

 the physical deterioration and condition 

of an asset, for example Western Bay 
could be carrying an asset at an amount 
that does not reflect its actual condition.  
This is particularly so for those assets 
which are not visible, for example, 
stormwater, wastewater and water 
supply pipes which are underground.  
This risk is minimised by Council 
performing a combination of physical 
inspections and condition modelling 
assessments of underground assets; 
 

 estimating any obsolescence or surplus 

capacity of an asset; and 
 

 estimates being made when determining 
the remaining useful lives over which 
the asset will be depreciated.  These 
estimates can be impacted by the local 
conditions, for example weather 
patterns and traffic growth.  If useful 
lives do not reflect the actual 
consumption of the benefits of the 
assets, then Western Bay could be over 
or under estimating the annual 
deprecation charge recognised as an 
expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  To minimise 
this risk Western Bay‟s infrastructural 
assets useful lives have been 
determined with reference to the NZ 
Infrastructural Asset Valuation and 
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Depreciation Guidelines, published by 
the National Asset Management 
Steering Group and have been adjusted 
for local conditions based on past 
experience.  Asset inspections, 
deterioration and condition modelling 
are also carried out regularly as part of 
the Western Bay‟s asset management 
planning activities, which gives Western 
Bay further assurance over its useful life 
estimates. 

 
  Experienced independent valuers perform 
the Council‟s infrastructural asset 
revaluations. 
 

Critical judgements in applying 
Western Bay’s accounting 
policies 
  Management has exercised the following 
critical judgements in applying the Western 
Bay‟s accounting policies for the period 
ended 30 June 2011. 
 
 

Classification of property – 
pensioner housing 
  Western Bay owns a number of properties 
which are maintained to provide housing for 
pensioners.  
  The rentals are set so that the activity 
operates on a break-even basis.  The 
property is held for service delivery 
objectives as part of Western Bay‟s social 
housing policy.  As part of the 2009-19 
LTCCP process Council resolved to retain 
pensioner housing as an activity within 
Council.  The property is accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 Summary cost of services 
2(a) Total operating revenue 
 

  

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Budget 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Significant activities:     

Representation  2,500 2,407 2,490 

Sustainable Development  2,504 2,739 2,616 

Communities  4,179 4,284 4,038 

Recreation & Leisure  8,111 6,186 6,746 

Regulatory  3,683 5,032 4,750 

Transportation  29,120 24,778 24,589 

Water Supply  6,754 7,369 7,161 

Stormwater  2,309 2,950 2,883 

Natural Environment  239 310 275 

Wastewater  10,731 16,766 7,140 

Solid Waste  1,211 1,323 1,181 

Economic  1,245 1,232 1,156 

Council Services  3,932 5,479 2,903 

Total operating revenue by activity  76,518 80,855 67,928 
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2(b) Total operating expenditure 
     

Significant activities:     

Representation  2,310 2,380 2,135 

Sustainable Development  2,218 2,985 2,667 

Communities  4,111 4,341 4,257 

Recreation & Leisure  5,942 3,933 4,708 

Regulatory  4,956 4,993 5,238 

Transportation  19,916 21,781 18,831 

Water Supply  9,245 9,850 8,737 

Stormwater  3,467 4,016 3,108 

Natural Environment  266 352 252 

Wastewater  10,916 10,819 9,905 

Solid Waste  1,273 1,378 1,096 

Economic  1,125 1,125 949 

Council Services  4,151 4,935 5,213 

Total operating expenditure by activity  69,896 72,888 67,096 
 
 

2(c) Revenue from activities 
 Actual 

2011 
$000 

Budget 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Representation 100 - 13 

Sustainable Development 52 39 (2) 

Communities 466 868 467 

Recreation & Leisure 1,232 1,002 1,236 

Regulatory 2,917 4,260 3,883 

Transportation 6,999 6,590 6,063 

Water Supply 1,818 1,989 1,977 

Stormwater 2 - 1 

Natural Environment 1 (22) - 

Wastewater 4,245 9,887 335 

Solid Waste 76 226 184 

Economic 3 2 2 

Council Services 74 1,797 160 

Total revenue from significant activities 17,985 26,638 14,319 

 
Total revenue from significant activities includes: 

   

    
User charges 4,766 6,289 5,905 

NZ Transport Agency Subsidy 6,846 6,465 5,981 

 
There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to NZ Transport Agency 
subsidies recognised. 
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3 Rates revenue 
3(a) General rate income   
 

 

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Budget 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Representation 1,825 1,825 574 

Sustainable Development 2,442 2,441 9 

Communities 2,233 2,233 - 

Recreation & Leisure 3,132 3,132 625 

Regulatory 766 766 - 

Transportation 15,655 15,251 14,520 

Stormwater 18 18 - 

Natural Environment 172 172 30 

Wastewater 277 277 267 

Solid Waste 405 384 479 

Economic 706 706 - 

Corporate Services 673 902 10,488 

Total separate rates 28,304 28,107 26,952 

    

Rates remissions 
Rates revenue is shown net of rates remissions of $38,749 (2010: $34,615).  Western Bay‟s rates 
remission policy allows Western Bay to remit rates on condition of a ratepayer‟s extreme financial 
hardship, land used for sport and land protected for historical or cultural purposes. 
 
 

3(b) Separate rates attributable to activities  
 

 

Actual 

2011 
$000 

Budget 

2011 
$000 

Actual 

2010 
$000 

Representation 575 556 - 

Sustainable Development 12 188 13 

Communities 1,096 1,071 1,011 

Recreation & Leisure 173 157 137 

Transportation 93 84 95 

Water Supply 4,660 4,624 4,448 

Stormwater 2,142 1,964 2,278 

Natural Environment 16 16 15 

Wastewater 5,922 5,607 5,722 

Solid Waste 729 713 518 

Economic 536 524 478 

Council Services 1,224 666 1,232 

Total separate rates 17,179 16,170 15,947 

Total rates 45,483 44,277 42,899 
    

Non-rateable land 
Under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 certain properties cannot be rated for general 
rates.  These properties include schools, places of religious worship, public gardens and reserves.  

These non-rateable properties may be subject to targeted rates in respect of sewerage, water, 
refuse and sanitation.  Non-rateable land does not constitute a remission under Western Bay‟s 
rates remission policy. 
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4(a) Finance income and finance costs 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Finance income   
Interest income 1,000 770 
Rates postponement scheme 15 10 

Total finance income 1,015 780 
   
Finance costs   

Interest expense:   

  - unrealised hedge 1,721 2,598 

  - interest on bank borrowings 5,851 5,303 

  - interest rate swap expense 2,769 2,886 

Total finance costs 10,341 10,787 

Net finance income/(costs) (9,326) (10,007) 
 

 

4(b) Vested assets  

Revenue 

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Budget 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Significant activities    

Transportation 4,975 500 2,024 

Water Supply - 150 208 

Stormwater - 200 478 

Wastewater - 240 195 

Other 236 - - 

Total significant activities 5,211 1,090 2,905 
 
 

5 Other revenue 
 Actual Budget Actual 
 2011 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 $000 

Rental income  1,056 970 1,254 

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 92 - 66 
Boundary change fees - 206 205 
Infringements and fines 26 26 28 
Petrol tax 377 400 385 
Dividend income 113 63 84 

Total other revenue 1,664 1,665 2,022 
    
Financial contributions    
Communities - 97 - 
Recreation & Leisure 832 1,743 1,793 
Transportation 1,399 2,353 1,864 
Water Supply 276 606 528 
Stormwater 147 768 106 

Natural Environment 51 122 91 
Wastewater 285 755 621 

Total revenue from financial contributions 2,990 6,444 5,003 
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6 Other expenses 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Fees to principal auditor:   
  - audit fees for financial statement audit 106 100 
  - audit fees for LTCCP - - 
Insurance premiums 230 182 
Consultant and legal fees 1,537 1,514 
Impairment of receivables (Note 9) 1,616 1,126 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 704 688 
Minimum lease payments under operating leases 102 79 
Loss on forward foreign exchange contracts 66 - 
Donations 5 5 
Other operating expenses 26,632 26,092 

Total other expenses 30,998 29,786 
 

7 Personnel costs 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Salaries and wages 12,145 11,374 
Employer contributions to health insurance scheme 80 68 

Total personnel costs 12,225 11,442 
   
Council‟s total Kiwisaver contributions to 30 June 2011 were $135,352 (2010: $103,327). 
 

8 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 

 $000 $000 

Cash at bank and on hand 698 188 
Term deposits with maturities less than 3 months 14,939 1,000 

Total cash and cash equivalents 15,637 1,188 
   
The carrying value of cash at bank and term deposits with maturities less than three months 
approximate their fair value. 
 
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the following for the purposes of 
the statement of cash flows: 
 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 

 $000 $000 

Cash at bank and on hand 698 188 
Term deposits with maturities less than 3 months 14,939 1,000 

Total cash and cash equivalents 15,637 1,188 
 

Interest rates  
The weighted average effective interest rates on investments (current and non-current) and 
associated repricing maturities were: 
 

 2011 2010 

Short-term deposits 3.4% 3.3% 
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9 Debtors and other receivables 

  

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Rates debtors  6,236 7,202 

Metered water debtors  562 668 

Other trade debtors  7,198 3,059 

Sundry debtors  985 1,355 

  14,981 12,284 

Less provision for impairment of receivables  3,438 3,883 

  11,543 8,401 

    

Prepayments  142 26 

  11,685 8,427 
 

Fair value 
Debtors and other receivables are non-interest bearing and receipt is normally on 30-day terms, 
therefore the carrying value of debtors and other receivables approximates their fair value. 
 

Impairment 
Western Bay provides for any impairment on rates receivable, however, it has various powers 
under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover any outstanding debts.  Ratepayers can 

apply for payment plan options in special circumstances.  Where such repayment plans are in 
place, debts are discounted to their present value of future payments if the impact of discounting 
is material. 
 
These powers allow Western Bay to commence legal proceedings to recover any rates that remain 
unpaid 4 months after the due date for payment.  If payment has not been made within 3 months 
of the Court‟s judgement, then Western Bay can apply to the Registrar of the High Court to have 

the judgement enforced by sale or lease of the rating unit. 
 
The carrying amount of receivables that would otherwise be past due or impaired, whose terms 
have been renegotiated in the year to 30 June 2011 is $Nil (2010: $Nil). 
 
The Council holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are 
either past due or impaired. 

 
The status of receivables as at 30 June 2011 and 2010 are detailed below: 
 

  2011 2010 

  
Gross   

Impairment Net 
Gross   

Impairment Net 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Not past due  9,538 387 9,151 7,465 446 7,019 
Past due 1-2 years  2,623 644 1,979 1,559 791 768 
Past due 2-3 years  863 637 226 1,152 756 396 

Past due > 3 years  1,957 1770 187 2,108 1,890 218 

Total  14,981 3,438 11,543 12,284 3,883 8,401 
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9 Debtors and other receivables (continued) 
 
The impairment provision has been calculated based on expected losses for Western Bay‟s pool of 
debtors.  Expected losses have been determined based on an analysis of Western Bay‟s losses in 
previous periods and a review of specific debtors as detailed below: 
 

  2011 2010 

  $000 $000 

Individual impairment  1,631 2,187 

Collective impairment  1,807 1,696 

Total provision for impairment   3,438 3,883 

    

 
Individually impaired receivables have been determined to be impaired because of the significant 
financial difficulties being experienced by the debtor.  An analysis of these individually impaired 
debtors is as follows: 

  2011 2010 

  $000 $000 

Past due 30-59 days  - - 

Past due 60-89 days  - - 

Past due > 90 days  1,631 2,187 

Total individual impairment   1,631 2,187 
 
Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows: 
 

    

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

As at 1 July  3,883 3,795 

Additional provisions made during the year   1,672 1,362 

Provisions reversed during the year   (501) (148) 

Receivables written off during the year  (1,616) (1,126) 

At 30 June  3,438 3,883 
 
 

10 Derivative financial instruments 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Current portion   
Interest rate swaps – fair value hedges (6590) (4,868) 
Forward foreign exchange contract– fair value hedges (66) - 

Total derivative financial instruments (6,656) (4,868) 
 

Fair Value 
Interest Rate Swaps 
The fair values of interest rate swaps have been determined using a discounted cash flows 
valuation technique based on quoted market prices.  This valuation has been performed by ETOS 
Limited, independent valuers. 
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 
The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts have been determined using a discounted 
cash flows valuation technique based on quoted market prices. The inputs into the valuation model 
are from independently sourced market parameters such as currency rates. 
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10 Derivative financial instruments (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps 
The notional principal amounts of the current outstanding interest rate swap contracts for the 
Council were $131.0m (2010: $126.0m).  At 30 June 2011, the fixed interest rates of cash flow 
hedge interest rate swaps vary from 3.57% to 6.84% (2010: 3.57% to 6.84%). 
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 
The notional principal amounts of outstanding of forward foreign exchange contracts were 
$940,000 (2010: $Nil) 
 
Unrealised gains and losses recognised on interest rate swap contracts as at 30 June 2011 are 
released to the statement of comprehensive income as interest is paid on the underlying debt. 
 
 

11 Other financial assets 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Current portion 
 

- - 

Total current portion - - 
 
Non-current portion 

  

NZ  Local Government Insurance Company Limited 24 49 
16,142 shares (no change from 2010) with a market value of $1.50 
each  (2010: $3.05) 
 

  

Zespri Group Limited 
17,660 shares (2010: 3,532) with a market value as at 30 June 2011 
of $0.45 per share (2010: $5.00 per share) 
 

8 18 

Te Tumu investment (note 31a) 5,183 4,636 

Total non-current portion 5,215 4,703 

Total other financial assets 5,215 4,703 
 

Fair value 
 
Local authority stock 
The fair value of NZ Local Government Insurance Company stock has been determined by 
reference to the current market value at 30 June 2011. 
 
Quoted shares 
The fair values of listed shares are determined by reference to published current bid price 
quotations in an active market. 
 

Impairment 
There were no impairment provisions for other financial assets.  None of the financial assets are 
either past due or impaired. 
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12 Non-current assets held for sale  
Western Bay does not currently hold any non-current assets held for sale as at 30 June 2011. 
 
 Actual Actual 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Non-current assets held for sale are:   
  - land - 491 

Total non-current asset held for sale - 491 
 
 

13 Investments in associates 

Share in associates 
 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

Western Bay Moana Rural Fire Authority (50%)  87 88 

Western Bay of Plenty Tourism and Visitors‟ Trust (50%)  166 98 

Bay of Plenty Local Authority Shared Services Limited 
BoP LASS Ltd (1/9th share)  29 - 

  282 186 

    

Western Bay Moana Rural Fire Authority 
 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

Assets  193 206 

Liabilities  17 31 

Revenues  175 179 

Surplus / (deficit)  9 28 

Share of contingent liability  6 6 

Western Bay’s % interest   50.0% 50.0% 

    

Western Bay of Plenty Tourism and Visitors’ Trust 
 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

Assets  571 488 

Liabilities  240 291 

Revenues  1,665 1,889 

Surplus / (deficit)  135 (24) 

Western Bay’s % interest   50.0% 50.0% 

    

BOPLASS Limited 
 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

Assets  1,839 1,151 

Liabilities  1,582 1,199 

Revenues  1,387 269 

Surplus / (deficit)  304 (2) 

Western Bay’s % interest   11.1% 11.1% 
 
Balance date of all associates is 30 June. 
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14 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follow: 
 

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment to statement of 

financial position 
 

 
 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

Property, plant and equipment  1,129,392 1,082,876 

Intangible assets  3,036 2,942 

Non-current assets held for sale  - 491 

Forestry assets  2,170 - 

  1,134,598 1,086,309 
 

1. In respect of the roading component of infrastructural assets: 
 
The Council has formerly recorded a decision to maintain the network in a defined and 
appropriate operating capacity by a programme of restoration to ensure that its life will be 
indefinitely prolonged. 

 
2. An appropriate Asset Management Plan has been adopted by Council. 

 
The Plan provides:  
 
 the level of service required; 
 the current physical extent, condition and capacity of the network; 
 the timing, extent and cost of work required to maintain and restore the network‟s 

defined operating capacity in future years. 
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2011

Cost / 

Revaluation

Accumulated 

 depreciation 

and 

impairment 

charges

Carrying 

amount

Current 

year 

capital 

expenditure

Current year 

disposals

Curent 

year 

disposals 

depn adj

Transfers Current year 

depreciation 

& 

amortisation

Revaluation Revaluation 

(Depn)

Cost / 

Revaluation

Accumulated 

 

depreciation 

and 

impairment 

charges

Carrying 

amount

30-Jun-10 30-Jun-10 30-Jun-10 30-Jun-11 30-Jun-11 30-Jun-11

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Council operational assets

Buildings 13,374 (414) 12,960 428 0 0 0 (218) 0 0 13,802 (632) 13,170 

Coastal marine structures 2,261 (86) 2,175 43 0 0 0 (47) 0 0 2,304 (133) 2,170 

Land 39,725 0 39,725 472 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,197 0 40,197 

Library books 1,767 (222) 1,546 345 0 0 0 (261) 0 0 2,112 (483) 1,630 

Mobile plant and vehicles 1,880 (575) 1,305 317 (316) 136 0 (309) 0 0 1,881 (748) 1,134 

Office furniture and equipment 4,407 (3,207) 1,200 511 0 0 0 (320) 0 0 4,918 (3,527) 1,391 

Other plant 326 (223) 103 38 0 0 0 (18) 0 0 364 (241) 123 

Work in progress 240 0 240 0 0 0 (17) 0 0 0 223 0 223 

Total operational assets 63,980 (4,726) 59,254 2,154 (316) 136 (17) (1,173) 0 0 65,801 (5,764) 60,038 

Council infrastructural assets

Buildings 1,473 (74) 1,399 731 0 0 0 (48) 0 0 2,204 (122) 2,082 

Land 17,821 0 17,821 2,380 0 0 491 0 0 0 20,692 0 20,692 

Land under roads 190,185 0 190,185 4,371 0 0 0 0 0 0 194,555 0 194,555 

Roading - other 38,215 (1,373) 36,842 1,224 0 0 0 (1,509) 1,791 (1,373) 39,857 (1,509) 38,348 

Roading - surfaces & carriageway 423,329 (5,726) 417,604 14,218 0 0 0 (5,945) 1,167 (5,726) 432,989 (5,945) 427,044 

Stormwater 57,320 (775) 56,545 1,012 0 0 0 (948) 13,438 (775) 70,996 (948) 70,047 

Water 82,423 (2,600) 79,823 1,960 0 0 0 (2,574) (2,606) (2,600) 79,177 (2,574) 76,604 

Wastewater 94,548 (2,450) 92,098 398 0 0 0 (2,682) 15,051 (2,450) 107,547 (2,682) 104,865 

Work in progress 3,211 0 3,211 3,522 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,733 0 6,733 

Total infrastructural assets 908,525 (12,998) 895,527 29,817 0 0 491 (13,707) 28,842 (12,924) 954,750 (13,781) 940,969 

Council restricted assets

Buildings 18,253 (1,082) 17,172 3,895 (1,651) 81 0 (955) 0 0 20,498 (1,955) 18,542 

Land 108,564 0 108,564 146 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 108,700 0 108,700 

Work in progress 2,244 0 2,244 0 0 0 (1,100) 0 0 0 1,144 0 1,144 

Total infrastructural assets 129,062 (1,082) 127,980 4,040 (1,661) 81 (1,100) (955) 0 0 130,341 (1,955) 128,386 

Total WBOPDC property, plant 

and equipment 1,101,567 (18,806) 1,082,761 36,012 (1,977) 217 (626) (15,835) 28,842 (12,924) 1,150,893 (21,500) 1,129,393  
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2010

Cost / 

Revaluation

Accumulated 

 depreciation 

and 

impairment 

charges

Carrying 

amount

Current 

year 

capital 

expenditure

Current 

year 

disposals

Curent 

year 

disposals 

depn adj

Transfers Current year 

depreciation 

& 

amortisation

Revaluation Revaluation 

(Depn)

Cost / 

Revaluation

Accumulated 

 

depreciation 

and 

impairment 

charges

Carrying 

amount

30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-09 30-Jun-10 30-Jun-10 30-Jun-10

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Council operational assets

Buildings 12,285 (206) 12,079 498 0 0 591 (208) 0 0 13,374 (414) 12,960 

Coastal marine structures 2,261 (39) 2,221 0 0 0 0 (46) 0 0 2,261 (86) 2,175 

Land 36,328 0 36,328 3,396 0 0 0 0 0 0 39,725 0 39,725 

Library books 1,705 (672) 1,033 219 0 0 0 (222) 516 (672) 1,767 (222) 1,546 

Mobile plant and vehicles 1,623 (545) 1,078 642 (385) 198 0 (228) 0 0 1,880 (575) 1,305 

Office furniture and equipment 4,078 (2,895) 1,183 329 0 0 0 (312) 0 0 4,407 (3,207) 1,200 

Other plant 299 (208) 91 27 0 0 0 (15) 0 0 326 (223) 103 

Work in progress 21 0 21 219 0 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 240 

Total operational assets 58,600 (4,566) 54,034 5,331 (385) 198 591 (1,031) 516 (672) 63,980 (4,726) 59,254 

Council infrastructural assets

Buildings 1,473 (37) 1,436 0 0 0 0 (37) 0 0 1,473 (74) 1,399 

Land 17,167 0 17,167 286 (643) 0 1,010 0 0 0 17,821 0 17,821 

Land under roads 188,830 0 188,830 1,355 0 0 0 0 0 0 190,185 0 190,185 

Roading - other 39,603 (1,396) 38,207 1,355 0 0 0 (1,373) (1,347) (1,396) 38,215 (1,373) 36,842 

Roading - surfaces & carriageway 423,231 (5,505) 417,727 11,071 0 0 0 (5,726) (5,468) (5,505) 423,329 (5,726) 417,604 

Stormwater 51,175 (816) 50,359 2,383 0 0 0 (775) 4,578 (816) 57,320 (775) 56,545 

Water 76,714 (2,436) 74,279 2,309 0 0 0 (2,650) 5,885 (2,486) 82,423 (2,600) 79,823 

Wastewater 91,656 (2,432) 89,224 1,294 0 0 0 (2,450) 4,030 (2,432) 94,548 (2,450) 92,098 

Work in progress 7,759 0 7,759 (4,548) 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,211 0 3,211 

Total infrastructural assets 897,609 (12,621) 884,988 15,503 (643) 0 1,010 (13,011) 7,680 (12,634) 908,525 (12,998) 895,527 

Council restricted assets

Buildings 8,863 (360) 8,503 9,390 0 0 0 (721) 0 0 18,253 (1,082) 17,172 

Land 107,904 0 107,904 660 0 0 0 0 0 0 108,564 0 108,564 

Work in progress 5,547 0 5,547 (3,303) 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,244 0 2,244 

Total infrastructural assets 122,315 (360) 121,954 6,747 0 0 0 (721) 0 0 129,062 (1,082) 127,980 

Total WBOPDC property, plant 

and equipment 1,078,523 (17,547) 1,060,976 27,581 (1,028) 198 1,601 (14,764) 8,195 (13,306) 1,101,567 (18,806) 1,082,761  
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Valuation 
Operational and restricted land and buildings 
At fair value, as determined from market-based evidence by an independent valuer.  The most 
recent valuation was performed by Landmass Technology Ltd and the valuation is effective as at 1 
July 2008. 
 

Infrastructural asset classes 
Land 
At fair value as determined from market-based evidence by an independent valuer.  The most 
recent valuation was performed by Landmass Technology Ltd and the valuation is effective as at 1 
July 2008. 
 
Sewerage and stormwater 
At fair value determined on a depreciated replacement cost basis by an independent valuer.  The 
most recent valuation was performed by Aecom Ltd, and the valuation is effective as at 1 July 
2010. 
 
Water 
At fair value determined on a depreciated replacement cost basis by an independent valuer.  The 
most recent valuation was performed by Aecom Ltd and the valuation is effective as at 1 July 
2010. 
 
Roading 
At fair value determined on a depreciated replacement cost basis by an independent valuer.  The 
most recent valuation was performed by Opus International Consultants Limited and the valuation 
is effective as at 1 July 2010. 
 
Land under roads 
Land under roads was valued based on average land values of the comparable surrounding land 
within wards by Landmass Technology Ltd, effective 1 July 2006.  On transition to NZ IFRS 
Western Bay elected to use the fair value of land under roads as at 1 July 2006 as deemed cost. 
Land under roads has been re-valued by Landmass Technology Ltd as at 30 June 2009.   
 

Vested infrastructural assets 
Valued based on the actual quantities of infrastructural components vested and the current in-
ground cost of providing identical services.  Assets vested to Western Bay are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income as revenue and in the statement of financial position as 
property, plant and equipment. 
 

Library collections 
At depreciated replacement cost in accordance with the guidelines released by the New Zealand 
Library Association and the National Library of New Zealand in May 2002. Library stock has been 
valued effective 1 July 2010 by independent registered valuers, Aecom Ltd. 
 
Total fair value of property, plant and equipment valued by each valuer: 
 

 
 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

Aecom   253,146 230,012 

Opus   464,552 454,445 

Landmass   395,967 387,825 

Don Hammond  2,170 - 
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Work in progress 
The total amount of property, plant and equipment in the course of construction is $8.3 million 
(2010: $5.7 million). 
 

Impairment 
There were no impairment losses incurred as a result of the revaluations performed in the year to 
30 June 2011 (2010: $Nil). 
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15 Intangible assets 
There are no restrictions over the title of Western Bay‟s intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities. 
 
Property subdivision rights – refer to Note 31(a). 

 
 

 Computer Software 
Resource 
Consents 

Emissions Trading 
Scheme NZ Units 

Property 
Subdivision 

Rights Total 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July           
Cost 2,983 1,882 482 482 - - 1,530 1,530 4,995 3,894 

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 

(1,570) (1,371) (127) (83) - - (489) (340) (2186) (1,794) 

 1,413 511 355 399 - - 1,041 1,190 2,809 2,100 

Work in progress - - 133 133 - - - - 133 133 

Opening carrying amount 1,413 511 488 532 - - 1,041 1,190 2,942 2,233 

           

Year ended 30 June           

Additions 253 1,101 119 - 219 - - - 591 1,101 

Amortisation charge (307) (199) (41) (44) - - (149) (149) (497) (392) 

Closing carrying amount 1,359 1,413 566 488 219 - 892 1,041 3,036 2,942 

           

Balance as 30 June           

Cost 3,236 2,983 734 482 219 - 1,530 1,530 5,719 4,995 

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 

(1,877) (1,570) (168) (127) - - (638) (489) (2,683) (2,186) 

 1,359 1,413 566 355 219 - 892 1,041 3,036 2,809 

Work in progress - - - 133 - - - - - 133 

Closing carrying amount 1,359 1,413 566 488 219 - 892 1,041 3,036 2,942 
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16 Forestry assets 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July - - 
Increase due to purchases - - 
Gains/(losses) arising from changes attributable to physical changes - - 
Gains/(losses) arising from changes attributable to price changes 2,170 - 
Decrease due to sale - - 
Decrease due to harvest - - 

Balance at 30 June 2,170 - 
 
The TECT all terrain park owns 427.8 hectares of pinus radiata forest, 58.9 hectares of Douglas Fir 
and 2.5 hectares of Larch which are at varying stages of maturity ranging from 1 to 17 years. June 
2011 was the first date in which the value of the forestry has been identified for valuation 
purposes as part of the development of the all terrain park and the transfers of the cutting rights. 
The total value of the forestry stand is $4.34 million of which Council owns 50%. 

 
Valuation assumptions 
Independent registered valuer, Don Hammond of Resource Management Limited, valued Councils 
forestry assets as at 30 June 2011. The following significant valuation assumptions have been 
adopted in determining the fair value of forestry assets: 

 a discount rate of 8.0 % (2010: 0%) has been used in discounting the present value of 
expected cash flows; 

 notional land rental costs have been included for freehold land; 

 the forest has been valued on a going concern basis and only includes the value of the 
existing crops on a single rotation basis; 

 no allowance for inflation has been provided; 
 costs are current average costs for established stands. Immature stands costa re 

compounded at 3.0% (2010: 0%) No allowance has been made for cost improvements in 
future operations; and 

 log prices are based on a twelve quarter rolling average to June 2011. 

 

Financial risk management strategies 
The Council is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in timber prices. The Council and 
group is a long-term forestry investor and does not expect timber prices to decline significantly in 
the foreseeable future. 
Therefore, no measures have been taken to manage the risks of a decline in timber prices. The 
Council reviews its outlook for timber prices regularly in considering the need for active financial 

risk management. 
 
 

17 Trade creditors and other payables 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Trade payables 9,295 7,310 
Deposits and bonds 1,472 1,026 
Environment Bay of Plenty, regional Council rates 265 252 
Rates in advance 1,636 1,453 
Other income in advance 117 122 
Sundry payables 247 261 
GST 1,095 - 

Total creditors and other payables 14,127 10,424 
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the 
carrying value of trade payables approximates their fair value. 
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18 Borrowings  
18(a) Current 
 

 

Actual 

2011 

Actual 

2010 

 $000 $000 

   

Secured loans fixed - - 

Secured loans floating 39,927 27,000 

Total current secured loans 39,927 27,000 

Total current borrowings 39,927 27,000 
 
 

18(b) Non-current 
 

 
 

Actual 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

 $000 $000 

Secured loans fixed 7,500 7,500 

Secured loans floating 103,010 88,014 

Total non-current secured loans 110,510 95,514 

Total non-current borrowings 110,510 95,514 

   

Total public debt 150,438 122,514 

   
Western Bay has secured debt of $142.937 million (2010: $115.014 million) issued at floating rates 
of interest. This is converted to fixed rates through the use of interest rate swaps in line with 
Western Bay‟s adopted treasury policy. 
 
Western Bay‟s secured floating debt of $39.927 million (2010: $27 million) is issued at a margin of 
between 14bps and 210bps (2010: 6bps and 210bps) above bank wholesale rates (BKBM). 
 
 

18(c) Security 
Council loans are secured over either separate or general rates of the District. 
 
 

18(d) Repayment Terms 
The following is a maturity analysis of total public debt 
 

 
Actual 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

 $000 $000 

Payable no later than one year 39,927 27,000 

Weighted average interest rate  3.47% 5.75% 
Later than one, not later than five years 72,500 82,500 

Weighted average interest rate  4.98% 5.40% 
Later than five years 38,010 13,014 

Weighted average interest rate 4.85% 6.35% 

 150,438 122,514 
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18 Borrowings (continued) 
 

18(e) Fair values of non current borrowings 

 

Carrying 
amounts 

2011 

Carrying 
amounts 

2010 

Fair 
values 
2011 

Fair 
values 
2010 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Secured loans 110,510 95,514 111,263 96,343 

Total 110,510 95,514 111,263 96,343 

     
The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rates. 
 
The carrying amounts of borrowings repayable within one year approximate their fair value, as the 
impact of discounting is not significant. 
 
 

18(f) Interest rates 
The weighted average effective interest rates on all borrowings (current and non-current) were: 
 

   
Actual 
2011 

Actual 
2010 

   % % 

Secured loans and debentures   5.37% 5.82% 
 
 

18(g) Variations from/changes to the borrowing management policy 
Western Bay has elected not to hedge account for its derivative financial instruments. 
 
Western Bay manages its borrowings in accordance with its funding and financial policies, which 
include a Borrowing Management Policy.  These policies have been adopted as part of the Long 
Term Council Community Plan. 
 
As at 30 June 2011 Western Bay had $40.0 million of undrawn cash facilities available. (2010: 
$40.0 million) 
 

Debentures 
Western Bay‟s secured debt of $150.4 million (2010: $122.5 million) is mostly issued at floating 
rates of interest. This is converted to fixed rates through the use of interest rate swaps in line with 
Western Bay‟s adopted treasury policy. 
 
For floating rate debt, the interest rate is reset quarterly based on the 90-day bank bill rate plus a 
0.14% to 2.10% margin for credit risk. 
 

Security 
The overdraft facility is secured as identified in note 18(c).  The maximum amount that can be 
drawn down against the overdraft facility is $600,000 (2010: $600,000).  There are no restrictions 
on the use of this facility. 
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19 Employee entitlements 
 Actual Actual 

 2011 2010 

  $000 $000 

Accrued pay 175 130 

Annual leave and accrued entitlements 1,233 1,100 

Retirement gratuities 49 45 

 1,457 1,275 

Made up of:   

Current 1,409 1,230 

Non-current 49 45 

Total employee entitlements 1,457 1,275 
 
 

20 Provisions 
 Actual 

2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Current portion   
Landfill aftercare provision 8 10 
Weathertight Homes Resolution Service 55 55 
Performance Based Contract provision – In3Roads 1,324 1,283 

Total current portion 1,387 1,348 
   
Non-current portion   
Landfill aftercare provision 394 399 
Performance Based Contract provision – In3Roads 296 1,527 

Total non-current portion 690 1,926 
   

Total provisions 2,077 3,274 
   
   
 
Movements for each class of provision are as follow: 
 
 
2010  

Landfill 
$000 

Weathertight 
Homes 
$000 

PBC 
Contract 

$000 

Total 
$000 

Balance at 1 July 2009 417 55 3,944 4,416 
Additional provisions - - - - 
Amounts used (8) - (858) (866) 
Discount unwinding - - (276) (276) 

Balance at 30 June 2010 409 55 2,810 3,274 
     
2011     

Balance at 1 July 2010 409 55 2,810 3,274 
Additional provisions - - - - 
Amounts used (7) - (993) (1,000) 
Discount unwinding - - (197) (197) 

Balance at 30 June 2011 402 55 1,620 2,077 
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Landfill aftercare costs 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council gained resource consents to operate the Te Puke and 
Athenree landfills.  Western Bay of Plenty District Council has a responsibility under the resource 
consents for closure of the landfills and to provide ongoing maintenance and monitoring of the 
landfills after the sites are closed.  The Te Puke landfill was closed in 1999 and the Athenree 
landfill in 2003. 
 
Western Bay‟s responsibilities include: 
 

 closure costs; 
 final cover application and investigation; 

 incremental drainage control features; 
 facilities for leachate collection and monitoring; 
 facilities for water quality monitoring. 

 
Post closure costs include: 
 

 treatment and monitoring of leachate; 
 groundwater surface monitoring; 
 implementation of remedial measures as needed for cover and control systems; 
 ongoing life maintenance of drainage systems, final cover and vegetation. 

 
The estimated remaining liability for closure and post-closure of Athenree is $0.46 million (2010: 
$0.48 million) and for post-closure of Te Puke of $0.36 million (2010: $0.37 million) over the 
remaining life (Athenree 24 years, Te Puke 21 years) of the resource consents.  This liability has 
been discounted back to a current value of $0.40 million (2010: $0.41 million) using a discount 
rate of 7% (2010: 7%). 
 
Te Puke remaining post closure costs $0.36 million over 21 years. 
Athenree remaining post closure costs$0.46 million over 24 years. 
The total liability has been discounted back to $0.41 million using a 7% discount rate. 
 
Estimates of the life have been made by Western Bay‟s engineers based on historical volume 
information. 
 

Performance based contract provision 
The seal extension provision is recognised in the statement of financial position as the net present 
value of cash outflows expected to be required to settle the current obligation under the 
performance based contract with In3Roads. 
 
The balance of the seal extension liability was $1.733 million as at 30 June 2011 (2010: $3.007 
million).  The liability has been discounted back to $1.620 million (2010: $2.810 million) using a 
discount rate of 7% (2010: 7%). 
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21 Other non-current liabilities 
 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council and Tauranga City Council (TCC) have joint ownership of the 
TECT All Terrain and Huharua Harbour sub-regional parks.  The day to day management is 
controlled by Western Bay.  Both councils contribute equally to the operational and capital 
expenditure. In 2010 100% of the assets were held in Western Bay‟s asset register, this 
arrangement required that Western Bay recognise a liability for 50% of the asset‟s values to TCC. 
In 2011 the assets have been recognised by TCC and Western Bay on the 50/50 allocation. This 
has resulted in 50% of the assets previously recorded in Western Bay‟s asset register being 
allocated to TCC and the liability extinguished. 
 

  Actual Actual 

 2011 2010 

  $000 $000 

TECT All Terrain Park - 1,018 

Huharua Harbour Park - 300 

 - 1,318 
 
 

22 Equity 
 

22(a) Retained earnings 

    

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

   

Opening balance 701,702 701,135 

Surplus / (deficit)  6,718 830 
Other surplus /(deficit) through 
comprehensive income  (35) - 

  708,385 701,965 

Transfers to:   

Restricted reserves  (11) (23) 

Council created reserves  (6,475) (6,097) 

  (6,486) (6,120) 

Transfers from:    

Restricted reserves  87 79 

Council created reserves  9,048 5,731 

Asset revaluation reserve  - 47 

  9,135 5,857 

Closing balance  711,034 701,702 
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22(b) Restricted reserves 

    

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Opening balance  328 384 

Transfers to:   

Accumulated funds (88) (79) 

  (88) (79) 

Transfers from:    

Accumulated funds  11 23 

Closing balance  251 328 
 
Restricted reserves in note 21(b) relate to: 

 Hunter Estate Reserve in Katikati – funds available for capital expenditure only on the 
Reserve. 
I‟Anson Reserve in Te Puna – funds available for operating and capital costs on the 
Reserve. 

 Hastie Bequest Restricted Reserve – funds restricted to costs for audio visual equipment 
and media purposes at Te Puke library and Pongakawa School library. 

 C E Miller Estate Restricted Reserve – funds available for the beautification of Katikati. 
 

22(c) Council-created reserves 

    

Actual 

2011 
$000 

Actual 

2010 
$000 

Opening balance 13,464 13,098  

Transfers to: Accumulated funds (9,048) (5,731) 

  (9,048) (5,731) 

    

Transfers from: Accumulated funds 6,477 6,097 

  6,477 6,097 

Closing balance  10,893 13,464 
 
 

22(d) General asset revaluation reserve 

    

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

    

Opening balance  241,646 233,114 

Change in asset value  28,838 8,532 

Closing balance  270,484 241,646 

    

Comprising    

Land  17,701 17,705 

Buildings  101 101 

Water   25,184 27,790 

Roading  152,070 149,112 

Wastewater  41,580 26,529 

Stormwater  32,700 19,261 

Coastal marine structures  363 363 

Library books  785 785 

Total asset revaluation reserve  270,484 241,646 
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22 Equity (continued) 
 

Asset revaluation reserves 
 
This covers all assets that are revalued except for investment properties. 
 

  

Actual 
2011 
$000 

Actual 
2010 
$000 

Infrastructural:    

Land  (1,653) (1,653) 

Water   25,184 27,790 

Road Reserves  57,002 57,002 

Road Surface  89,213 88,047 

Other Roading  5,855 4,063 

Wastewater  41,580 26,529 

Stormwater  32,700 19,261 

Operational assets:    

Land  3,887 3,887 

Buildings  101 101 

Coastal Marine  363 363 

Library Books  785 785 

Restricted assets:    

Land  15,467 15,471 

Total general asset revaluation reserve  270,484 241,646 
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23 Reconciliation of net surplus / (deficit) to net cash 
flow from operating activities 
 

 Actual Actual 

 2011 2010 

  $000 $000 

Net surplus / (deficit) 6,718 830 

   

Add /(less) non-cash items   

Depreciation and amortisation 16,332 15,081 

Vested assets (5,211) (2,905) 

Gain on sale of assets  (66) 

Gain on valuation of assets (2,170) - 

Gain on investment in associates (96) - 

Loss on sale of assets 704 688 

Landfill aftercare provision (7) (8) 

Performance based contract (PBC) liability movement (1,190) (1,134) 

Unrealised interest (547) (489) 

Employee expenses 182 93 

Unrealised hedging movement 1,788 2,598 

Add /(less) movements in working capital items:   

Accounts receivable (3,332) (1,356) 

Accounts payable 2,743 (1,131) 

Add /(less) items classified as investing activities   

Revaluation of shares - (2) 

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities          15,914 12,199 
 

 

24 Capital commitments and operating leases 
 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Property, plant and equipment 12,153 4,634 

Total capital commitments 12,153 4,634 
 
 

Operating leases as lessee 
Western Bay leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of its business.  The 
majority of these leases have a non-cancellable term of 36 months.  The future aggregate 
minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Not later than one year 86 86 
Later than one year and not later than two years 86 86 
Later than two years and not later than five years 165 252 

Total non-cancellable operating leases 337 424 
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24 Capital commitments and operating leases (continued) 
 
Leases can be renewed at Western Bay‟s option, with rents set by reference to current market 
rates for items of equivalent age and condition. 
 
There are no restrictions placed on Western Bay by any of the leasing arrangements. 
 
No contingent rents have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income during the 
period. 
 

Other Commitments - performance based roading contract and utilities 
professional services contract 
In addition to the above commitments Council has entered into contracts for the provision of 
capital and maintenance work to the District‟s roading network and provision of professional 
management services to the utilities network. 
 
In October 2002, Council entered into a ten year performance based contract with Opus 
International Consultants Limited to provide capital and maintenance work to the District‟s roading 
network. The value of the contract is $125 million and as of 30 June 2011 $18.2 million (2010: 
$13.1 million) remained committed on this contract for the remaining 16 months, this includes the 
estimated escalations in the contract.  As part of the contract there is ongoing performance and 
condition monitoring to ensure compliance with the key performance indicators of the contract.  
Failure by the contractor to meet these key performance indicators can lead to termination of the 
contract.  The contract provided in the first five years for substantial capital works to be 
undertaken. 
 
 

25 Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Building Act claims 50 50 
Weathertight Homes Resolution Service (WHRS) 500 200 
Other legal proceedings - 60 

Total contingent liabilities 550 310 

 
Other legal proceedings 
Building Act claims 
The Building Act 2004 imposes certain obligations and liabilities on local authorities in respect to 
the issue of building consents and inspection of work done.  At the date of this report, six matters 
under that Act indicating potential liabilities of $50k (2010: $50k) had been brought to the 
Western Bay‟s attention. 
 

Unquantified claims 
There were ten additional claims lodged with the Weathertight Homes Resolution Service (WHRS) 
as at 30 June 2011 (2010: two additional claims).  These claims relate to weather-tightness issues 
of homes in the Western Bay of Plenty District area and name Western Bay of Plenty District 
Council as well as other parties.  Three of these claims have been closed. There are a total of 
eleven claims that are still open as at balance date (2010: seven). 
 

It is not yet certain whether these claims are valid and whom will be liable for the building defects, 
therefore, Western Bay is unable to assess its exposure to the claims lodged with the WHRS.  
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The costs of any successful claims against Western Bay with a claim date of 30 June 2009 or 
earlier are expected to be substantially covered under Western Bay‟s insurance policies, subject to 
an excess of $50,000 per claim.  
 
Any costs associated with a successful claim received after 1 July 2009 will be entirely met by 
Western Bay.  As a result $500,000 has been recognised as a contingent liability.  
 

Share of associates’ contingent liabilities 
There are no shared contingent liabilities associated with any associates of Council. 
 
 

26 Prior year adjustments 
 
There were no prior year adjustments  
 
 

27 Related party transactions 
 
Financial transactions have taken place during the financial years with the following related 
parties: 
 

Related party transactions with associates  
 
 2011 2010 

Western Bay Moana Rural Fire Authority   
Services provided by Western Bay  93,840 92,000 
Western Bay of Plenty Tourism and Visitors’ Trust   
Services provided to Western Bay 163,080 185,420 
Bay of Plenty Local Authority Shared Services Limited   
Services provided to Western Bay  172,883 95,816 
 
Council has a 50% interest in Western Bay Moana Rural Fire Authority which is an incorporated 
society established to co-ordinate delivery of rural fire support within the District.  In the 
2010/2011 year the Council‟s significant policies and objectives in regard to ownership and control 
of the organisation as set out in the constitution have been attained.  This is in respect of the 
resources, activities and entities under its control that it has operated effectively and efficiently; it 
has complied with laws, regulations and contractual requirements; and, its business has been 
conducted with regard to probity. 
 
Councillor Gwenda Merriman is on the Board of Western Bay Moana Rural Fire Authority. 
 
Council has a 50% interest in Western Bay of Plenty Tourism and Visitors‟ Trust.  This is a not-for-
profit entity established to promote the economic welfare and development of the Western Bay of 
Plenty region and its citizens through the marketing, management and any other activity which 
impacts on the region as a visitor and tourist destination. 
 
Council has a 1/9th share in Bay of Plenty Local Authority Shared Services Limited  
(BoP LASS Limited).  BoP LASS Limited has been established to foster collaboration between 
councils in the delivery of services particularly back office or support services. 
 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council‟s Chief Executive, Glenn Snelgrove, is a director of BoP LASS 

Limited. 
 
During 2009 BoP LASS Limited incorporated a subsidiary, BayBroadband Limited.  Its purpose is to 
facilitate and promote the development of broadband capability and reach in the Bay of Plenty.  
Council have no direct transactions with BayBroadband. 
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27 Related party transactions (continued) 
 
Western Bay of Plenty District Council‟s Chief Executive, Glenn Snelgrove and Group Manager 
Finance and Corporate Development, Miriam Taris are both directors of BayBroadband Limited. 
 

Transactions with key management personnel 
During the year Councillors and key management, as part of a normal customer relationship, were 
involved in minor transactions with Western Bay (such as payment of rates, purchase of rubbish 
bags, etc.).  
 
Western Bay has previously contracted with Te Puke Engineering Limited, of which Councillor Paul 
Thomas is a director.  The value of the contract works totalled $Nil (2010: $2,252, negotiated on 
normal commercial terms).  There was no balance outstanding at year-end (2010: $nil). 
 
During the year Western Bay purchased services from John Doggett, a repairs and maintenance 
firm, of which Community Board Chair John Doggett is a partner.  These services cost $492 (2010: 
$563) and were supplied on normal commercial terms.  There was no balance outstanding for 
unpaid invoices at year-end (2010: $nil). 
 
During the year Western Bay contracted with Mondo Cherrywood, of which Cherie Snelgrove (wife 
of Western Bay‟s Chief Executive Officer) is a shareholder.  The value of the contract works 
totalled $4,302 (2010: $528) and was negotiated on normal commercial terms.  There was no 
balance outstanding at year-end (2010: $Nil). 
 
Western Bay‟s Group Manager Customer Services‟ wife was employed at Western Bay in the role of 
Executive Assistant Communications. 
 
Apart from these transactions no other Councillors or senior management personnel have entered 
into related party transactions with the Council. 
 
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for impairment of receivables for any 
loans or other receivables to related parties (2010: $nil). 
 

Key management personnel compensation 
 Actual 

2011 
Actual 
2010 

 $000 $000 

Salaries and other short term employee benefits 876 961 

Termination benefits - 77 

Total key management personnel compensation  876 1,038 
 
Key management personnel include the Chief Executive Officer and other senior management 
personnel. 
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27 Related party transactions (continued) 

Council controlled organisation 
Bay of Plenty Local Authority Shared Services Limited (BoP LASS Ltd) 
The Council controlled organisation was formally established in January 2008.  The company was 
set up by the eight local authorities in the Bay of Plenty region to foster collaboration between 
councils in the delivery of services particularly back office or support services.  Gisborne District 
Council joined BoP LASS Ltd during the 2009/2010 financial year. 
 
As a Council Controlled Organisation, Bay of Plenty Local Authority Shared Services Limited (BoP 
LASS Ltd) is a separate legal entity from Council and is responsible for delivery of services in 
accordance with an agreed Statement of Intent.  The company is governed by a Board of Directors 
being the Chief Executives of the constituent local authorities. 
 
Financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

Parent Consolidated  Parent Consolidated 
2009/10 2009/10  2010/11 2010/11 

$000s $000s  $000s $000s 

     
267 269 Revenue 1,387 1,387 

(315) (271) Expenditure (1,083) (1,083) 

     
(48) (2) Surplus / (deficit) 304 304 

     

(48) (2) Net surplus / (deficit) year 304 304 

 
 
Statement of intent and performance 
The company has complied with section 64 of the Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) and has had 
the Statement of Intent for 2010/11 and associated budget formally adopted by the directors at 
the meeting held on 28th May 2010 including a confirmation of policy on council contributions from 

3rd July 2009. 
 
The following is a report of performance against targets set in the Statement of Intent for 
2010/11. 
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Performance Targets for 2010-2011 

Outcomes Measure Result 

Initiate at least one shared 
service each year and no less 
than two shared services 
successfully implemented within 
three years; 

 

No Shared services CRNP initiated 2010 
Rates initiated 2010/11 
Information Services Strategic Plan  
Plan completed 2011 
Implementation commenced 2011 
GIS Initiated 2009/10 
Inception report completed 2010 
Significant progress on 
implementation 

Implement Shared Services 
demonstrating best practice and 
added value to participating 
councils and stakeholders; 

 

Implementation  
Programme incorporates 
best practice 

GIS Inception plan developed with 
external support and peer review. 
ISSP developed with external 
support and internal review 

Facilitate Joint Procurement of 
goods and services from sources 
offering best value, service, and 
or continuity of supply. 

 

 

No of procurement 
initiatives investigated and 
or completed 

Office Supplies, Electronic 
procurement, Vehicle purchase, 
Vehicles services, Printing, Courier 
services, Fuel, Postage,  
P cards, Advertising, 
Accommodation. 

Communicate with each 
shareholding council at 
appropriate levels;  

 

At least one meeting with 
each council at  
Council and or/ 
management team level 

Meetings with all councils  

Partner with other non 
shareholding Councils and /or 
organisations to add benefit to 
the company. 
 

Meet with other 
organisation for joint 
initiatives 

Joint LASS group meetings, Hamilton 
city, Waikato Regional Council, South 
Waikato 

Ensure sufficient income is 
available from activities to sustain 
a viable company. 

 

Income received from 
contributing councils and 
funding from activities to 
meet operational budget 

Council contributions levied, activity 
groups levied, activities producing 
savings contribute. 
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28 Remuneration 
Chief Executive 
The Chief Executive of Western Bay of Plenty District Council, appointed under Section 42 of the 
Local Government Act 2002, received a salary of $296,966 (2010: $288,000). 
 
In terms of his contract the Chief Executive received the following remuneration: 
 
 Actual 

2011 
$ 

Actual 
2010 

$ 

Salary 296,966 288,000 
Vehicle (market value plus FBT) 12,628 26,119 
Performance bonus 15,000 - 
Other benefits (including medical insurance) 3,173 3,363 

Total remuneration 327,768 317,482 
 
 

Elected Representatives 
Elected representatives received the following remuneration: 
 

 2011 2010 

 $ $ 

Councillors   

Bruning, Norman Francis 8,119 28,147 

Burgess, Maureen 24,676 22,340 

Dunlop, Francis Miles (Sam) 10,446 36,213 

Gilmer, Anne Esther 17,394 - 

Goudie, Ross      8,119  28,147 

Gravit, Josephine Helen      8,119  28,147 

Jones, Michael Charles      8,119  28,147 

Marsh, Kevin Alexander     26,000  22,340 

Matthews, Susan     24,183  22,340 

Mayo, Norm     17,309  - 

Merriman, Gwenda     16,986  - 

Murray-Benge, Margaret Elizabeth     23,860  22,340 

Paterson, Ross James     85,339  80,305 

Pittar, Michael     17,479  - 

Thomas, Paul Geoffrey     32,957  28,147 

Thwaites, Donald Alan      23,945  22,340 

Williams, Michael     16,986  22,340 

Webber, Garry John 26,816 - 

   

Total Councillors 396,852 391,293 
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28 Remuneration (continued) 
Community Board Members 
Community board members received the following remuneration: 
 

 2011 2010 

 $ $ 

Community Board Members   

Bain, Wayne      2,202  - 

Cameron, Don      2,263  - 

Clarke, Rachel         862  - 

Coates, Patricia Margaret      2,751  9,536 

Craig, Murray Alexander      7,043  3,179 

Dally, Grant      2,201  - 

Doggett, John Douglas 1,375 4,767 

Dodd, Carol 2,263 - 

Dunlop, Sam 2,190 - 

Duske, Bruce 9,073 9,536 

Firth, Heather         917  3,179 

Gibbs, Brendan      3,180  3,179 

Goldsbury, Brian         862  - 

Gunn, Karyl      9,024  9,536 

Hassell, Peter      3,180  3,179 

Hicks, Robert         917  3,179 

Hughes, Trevor Richard         688  2,384 

Lawn, Alwyn         917  3,179 

Mason, Kathy 2,202 - 

Mills, Derek 2,202 - 

Miller, Peter 3,180 3,179 

Poihipi, Carol 5,282 2,384 

Simpson, Stephan      2,385  2,384 

Sole, Neil William         917  3,179 

Taylor, Gordon William John         917  3,179 

Van Dyke, George      2,202  - 

Walker, Graeme         917  3,179 

Webber, Garry John         917  3,179 

Whittaker, Glenn      8,999  9,536 

Williams, Susan         917  3,179 

Woods, Christopher 1,590 - 

Total Community Board Members 84,535 88,211 

   

   

Non-monetary remuneration   

Paterson, Ross James 23,817 35,035 
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29 Severance payments 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 Western Bay of Plenty District Council made eight (2010: three) 
severance payments to employees of $37,685, $31,019, $14,474, $11,744 $11,000 $8,868, $6,293 
$4,000 totalling $125,084 (2010: $89,769). 
 
 

30 Events after the balance date 
There were no significant events after balance date. 
 
 

31 Financial instruments 
31a Financial instrument categories 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 
 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Financial assets   
   
Fair value through surplus and deficit   
Derivative financial instrument assets - - 
- Te Tumu investment 5,183 4,636 

 5,183 4,636 
   
Loans and receivables   
Cash and cash equivalents 15,637 1,188 
Debtors and other receivables 11,543 8,401 

Total loans and receivables 27,180 9,589 
   
Fair value through other comprehensive income   
Other financial assets:   
- local authority stock 24 49 
- listed shares 8 18 

Total Fair value through other comprehensive income 34 67 
   
Financial liabilities   
   

Fair value through surplus and deficit   
Derivative financial instrument liability 6,656 4,868 

Total Fair value through surplus and deficit 6,656 4,868 
   
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   
Creditors and other payables 14,127 10,424 
Borrowings:   

- secured loans 150,437 122,514 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 164,564 132,938 
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31a Financial instruments categories (continued) 
Te Tumu Financial Instrument 
Tauranga City Council (TCC) and Western Bay of Plenty District Council (Western Bay) together 
acquired a block of land at Papamoa referred to as Te Tumu.  This land was purchased with the 
condition of providing the vendor the option to acquire it sometime from December 2016 to 
December 2026 repaying the loan and interest to TCC/Western Bay.  The rationale for 
TCC/Western Bay purchasing the land was to ensure development of this land was consistent with 
SmartGrowth initiatives.  Neither council intends to be the developer of this land or retain 
ownership in the long-term. 
 
With this purchase of the land, the vendor has the right to use the land in its undeveloped state 
until December 2016.  This gives rise to the creation of a financial asset which is available for sale 
whereby TCC/Western Bay have a right to receive cash if the vendor exercises their option to 
repurchase the property.  The initial impairment of the loan is recognised as the amount payable 
to Council for the right to use the land in its undeveloped state, which in turn creates a “Property 
Subdivision Right” asset.  The asset is recognised as an intangible asset and amortised over the 
period the vendor is expected to exercise their option to repurchase the property. 
 
The sale/purchase agreement for the land includes a number of restrictions/obligations upon both 
the vendor and TCC/Western Bay.  The sale/purchase agreement also provides the vendor rights 
to acquire the land from TCC/Western Bay, initially in December 2016 and then annually until 
December 2026 by repaying the loan and interest. 
 

31b Fair value hierarchy disclosures 
For those instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position, fair values are 
determined according to the following hierarchy: 
 

 Quoted market price (level 1) – financial instruments with quoted prices for identical 
instruments in active markets. 

 
 Valuation technique using observable inputs (level 2) – financial instruments with quoted 

prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where all 
significant inputs are observable. 

 
 Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs (level 3) – financial 

instruments valued using models where one or more significant inputs are not observable. 

 
The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured 
at fair value in the statement of financial position: 
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31b Fair value hierarchy disclosures (continued) 
 
  Valuation Technique 
 Total Quoted 

market 
price 

Observable 
inputs 

Significant 
non-

observable 
inputs 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 

30 June 2011     
Financial assets     
Local authority stock 24 24   
Shares 8 8   
Te Tumu investment 5,183   5,183 
     
Financial liabilities     
Derivatives 6,656 6,656   
     
30 June 2010     
Financial assets     
Local authority stock 49 49   
Shares 18 18   
Te Tumu investment 4,636   4,636 
     
Financial liabilities     
Derivatives 4,868 4,868   
 
There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 
 

Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs (level 3) 
 
The table below provides a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for the 
level 3 fair value measurements: 
 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July 4,636 4,147 
Gains recognised in surplus and deficit 547 489 

Balance at 30 June 5,183 4,636 

 
 

31c Financial instrument risks 
Western Bay has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments. 
Western Bay is risk averse and seeks to minimise exposure from its treasury activities.  Western 
Bay has established Council approved liability management and investment policies.  These policies 
do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are speculative in nature. 
 

Market risk 
Price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
as a result of changes in market prices. Western Bay is exposed to equity securities price risk on 
its investments.  This price risk arises due to market movements in listed securities.  This price risk 

is managed by diversification of Western Bay‟s investment portfolio in accordance with the limits 
set out in Western Bay‟s investment policy. 
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Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Council purchases plant and equipment associated with the construction of certain 
infrastructural assets from overseas, which require it to enter into transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. 
 
It is the Council‟s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments 
and liabilities that are above $15,000 by entering into forward foreign exchange contracts to 
manage the foreign currency risk exposure. This means the Council is able to fix the New Zealand 
dollar amount payable prior to delivery of the plant and equipment from overseas. 
 

Fair value interest rate risk 
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates.  Borrowings and investments issued at fixed rates of interest 
expose the Western Bay to fair value interest rate risk.  Western Bay‟s liability management policy 
is to maintain between 50% and 95% of its borrowings in fixed rate instruments.  Interest rate 
swaps are entered into to hedge the fair value interest rate risk arising from Western Bay‟s 
borrowings to ensure they remain within these limits. 
 

Cash flow interest rate risk 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  Borrowings and investments issued at variable 
interest rates expose Western Bay to cash flow interest rate risk. 
 
Generally, Western Bay raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed 
rates using interest rate swaps in order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk.  Such interest 
rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings at floating rates into fixed rates that 
are generally lower than those available if Western Bay borrowed at fixed rates directly.  Under the 
interest rate swaps, Western Bay agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the 
difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference 
to the agreed notional principal amounts. 
 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Western Bay, causing 
Western Bay to incur a loss.  Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Western Bay 
invests surplus cash into term deposits and local authority stock which gives rise to credit risk. 
 
Western Bay‟s investment policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial 
institution or organisation.  Investments in other Local Authorities are secured by charges over 
rates.  Other than other local authorities, the Council only invests funds with entities that have a 
Standard and Poor‟s or Moody‟s credit rating of A- or above for long-term investments. 
 
Western Bay has no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial instruments that give rise 
to credit risk. 
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31c Financial instrument risks (continued) 
Maximum exposure to credit risk 
Western Bay‟s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is as follows: 
 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Cash at bank and term deposits 15,637 1,188 
Debtors and other receivables 11,543 8,401 
Local authority and government stock 32 67 
Derivative financial instrument assets (6,656) (4,868) 
Financial instruments 5,183 4,636 

Total credit risk 25,739 9,424 
 

Credit quality of financial assets 
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by 
reference to Standard and Poor‟s credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about 
counterparty default rates. 
 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 

Counterparties with credit ratings   
Cash at bank and term deposits:   
A-1+ 15,637 1,188 

Total cash at bank and term deposits 15,637 1,188 

   
   
Local authority and government stock:   
A 24 49 

Total local authority and government stock 24 49 
   
   

Derivative financial instrument assets:   
AA - - 

Total derivative financial instrument assets - - 

   
Financial instrument assets   
No rating 5,183 4,636 

Total derivative financial instrument assets 5,183 4,636 
   
 
Counterparties without credit ratings 

  

Existing community and related party loans with no defaults in the 
past 

8 18 

Total community and related party loans 8 18 
 
Debtors and other receivables mainly arise from Western Bay‟s statutory functions, therefore there 
are no procedures in place to monitor or report the credit quality of debtors and other receivables 
with reference to internal or external credit ratings.  Western Bay has no significant concentrations 
of credit risk in relation to debtors and other receivables, as it has a large number of credit 
customers, mainly ratepayers and Western Bay has powers under the Local Government (Rating) 
Act 2002 to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers. 
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Liquidity risk 
Management of liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that Western Bay will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet 
commitments as they fall due.  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the 
ability to close out market positions.  Western Bay aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available. 
 
Western Bay manages its borrowings in accordance with its funding and financial policies, which 
include a Liability Management policy.  These policies have been adopted as part of the Western 
Bay‟s Long Term Council Community Plan. 
 
Western Bay has a maximum amount that can be drawn down against its overdraft facility of 
$600,000 (2010: $600,000).  There are no restrictions on the use of this facility.  
 

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities 
The table below analyses Western Bay‟s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date.  Future interest 
payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating rate on the instrument at the balance 
date.  The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  
 
  

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 

cash 
flows 

Less 
than 1 
year 

 
1-2 

years 

 
2-5 

years 

More 
than 5 
years 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Council 2011       
Creditors and other payables 14,127 14,127 14,127 - - - 
Net settled derivative liabilities 6,656 4,045 535 516 (146) 3,139 
Secured loans 150,438 166,860 65,023 9,574 52,643 39,619 

Total 171,221 185,032 79,685 10,090 52,497 42,758 
       
       
Council 2010       
Creditors and other payables 10,424 10,424 10,424 - - - 
Net settled derivative liabilities 4,868 6,407 654 133 1,627 3,992 
Secured loans 122,514 135,402 31,547 33,292 57,176 13,387 

Total 137,806 152,233 42,625 33,425 58,803 17,379 

 

Contractual maturity analysis of financial assets 
The table below analyses Western Bay‟s financial assets into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. 
 
  

Carrying 
amount 

 

Contractual 

cash flows 

Less 

than 1 
year 

 

1-2 
years 

 

2-5 
years 

More 

Than 
5 yrs 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Council 2011       

Cash and cash equivalents 15,637 15,637 15,637 - - - 
Debtors and other receivables 11,543 11,543 11,543 - - - 
Net settled financial instruments 5,183 10,305 - - - 10,305 
Other financial assets:       

- local authority and government stock 32 32 32 - - - 

Total 32,395 37,517 27,212 - - 10,305 
       
       

Council 2010       

Cash and cash equivalents 1,188 1,188 1,188 - - - 
Debtors and other receivables 8,401 8,401 8,401 - - - 
Net settled financial instruments 4,636 10,305 - - - 10,305 

Other financial assets:       
- local authority and government stock 67 67 67 - - - 

Total 14,292 19,961 9,656 - - 10,305 



 PEOPLE    PLAN    PROGRESS 

 

127 

 

Sensitivity analysis 
The tables below illustrate the potential profit and loss and equity (excluding retained earnings) 
impact for reasonably possible market movements, with all other variables held constant, based on 
Western Bay‟s financial instrument exposures at the balance date. 
 
 Note 2011 

$000 
2010 
$000 

   -
100bps 

 + 
100bps 

 -
100bps 

 + 
100bps 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

  

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

 

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

 

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

 

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

Financial assets          
Cash and cash equivalents 1 (156)  156  (12)  12  
Derivatives – interest rate 
swaps 

2 (4,921)  4,741  (9,190)  (552)  

Financial instruments 3 (52)  52  (50)  50  
Other financial assets:          
- local authority stock 4  (1)  1  (2)  2 
          
          

Financial liabilities          
Borrowings:          
- debentures 5 1,429  (1,429)  955  (955)  

Total sensitivity to 

interest rate risk 

 (3,700) 

 

(1) 3,520 1 (8,297) (2) (1,445) 2 

          
          
   -10%  +10%  -10%  +10% 
 

Equity Price Risk 

  

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

 

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

 

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

 

Profit 

Other 

Equity 

Financial assets          
Other financial assets:          
- quoted share investments 6  (1)  1  (2)  2 

Total sensitivity to equity 
price risk 

  (1)  1  (2)  2 

 

Explanation of sensitivity analysis  
1 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits on call totalling $15,637,000 (2010: $1,188,000) which 
are at floating rates.  A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 1.0% has an effect on interest 

income of $156,370 (2009: $11,880). 
 

Derivatives 
2 Financial liabilities 
Derivative financial assets not hedge accounted includes interest rate swaps with a fair value 
totalling ($6.59) million (2010: ($4.87) million).  A movement in interest rates of plus 1.0 % has 
an effect of reducing the swap deficit value by $4.74m (2010: $0.55m).  A movement in interest 

rates of minus 1.0% has an effect of increasing the swap deficit value by $4.92m (2010: $9.19m).  
 
3 Financial instruments 
Financial instruments include Te Tumu land purchase totalling $5.18 million (2010: $4.64 million).   
 
A movement in interest rates of 1.0% has an effect of $52,000 (2010: $50,000) on the unrealised 
value of the financial instruments. 

 
4 Local authority stock  
A total of $24,000 (2010: $49,000) of investments in local authority stock are classified at fair 
value through equity.  A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 1.0% has an effect of $1,000 
(2010: $2,000) on the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve. 
 
5 Debentures - secured loans  

Council has floating rate debt with a principal amount totalling $142.93 million  
(2010: $115.01 million).  A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 1.0% has an effect on 
interest expense of $1,429,300 (2010: $955,140).  A movement in market interest rates on fixed 
rate debt does not have any impact because secured loans are accounted for at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
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6 Listed shares  
Western Bay holds equity instruments in Zespri Group Limited valued at $8,000 (2010: $18,000), 
these are not publicly traded.  If there was a movement of plus or minus 10% in the share price 
the effect would be a movement in the fair value through other comprehensive income reserve of 
$800 (2010: $1,800). 
 
Creditors and other payables  
Trade payables do not include any foreign currency denominated payables in relation to plant and 
equipment purchases.  Therefore there is no currency price risk and no movement under 
sensitivity analysis. 
 
 

32 Capital management 
The Council‟s capital is its equity (or ratepayers‟ funds), which comprise retained earnings and 
reserves.  Equity is represented by net assets. 
 
The Local Government Act 2002 (the Act) requires the Council to manage its revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, investments and general financial dealings prudently and in a manner that 
promotes the current and future interests of the community.  Ratepayers‟ funds are largely 
managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and 
general financial dealings. 
 
The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a principle 
promoted in the Act and applied by the Council.  Intergenerational equity requires today‟s 
ratepayers to meet the costs of utilising the Council‟s assets and not expecting them to meet the 
full cost of long term assets that will benefit ratepayers in future generations.  Additionally, the 
Council has in place asset management plans for all major classes of assets detailing renewal and 
maintenance programmes, to ensure ratepayers in future generations are not required to meet the 
costs of deferred renewals and maintenance. 
 
The Act requires the Council to make adequate and effective provision in its Long Term Council 
Community Plan (LTCCP) and in its annual plan (where applicable) to meet the expenditure needs 
identified in those plans.  The Act sets out the factors that the Council is required to consider when 
determining the most appropriate sources of funding for each of its activities.  The sources and 
levels of funding are set out in the funding and financial policies in the LTCCP. 
 
Western Bay has the following Council created reserves:  
 

 reserves for different areas of benefit; 
 self-insurance reserves; and 
 trust and bequest reserves. 

 
Reserves for different areas of benefit are used where there is a discrete set of rate or levy payers 
as distinct from the general rate.  Any surplus or deficit relating to these separate areas of benefit 
is applied to the specific reserves.  
 
Self-insurance reserves are built up annually from general rates and are made available for specific 
unforeseen events.  The release of these funds generally can only be approved by Council. 
 
Trust and bequest reserves are set up where Council has been donated funds that are restricted 
for particular purposes.  Interest is added to trust and bequest reserves where applicable and 
deductions are made where funds have been used for the purpose for which they were donated. 
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33 Explanation of major variances  
Explanations for major variations from Western Bay‟s estimated figures in the 2010/2011 Annual 
Plan and 2011 actuals are as follows: 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Actual 2011 surplus of $6.718 million versus 2011 budget surplus of $7.967 million.  
An unfavourable variance of $1.249 million. 
 
The major contributors to the variance were: 
 
Total revenue was $4.337 million below budget. 
 
Revenue variances positive / (negative): $000 
1 Revenue from activities (8,653) 
2 Rate Income 197 
3 Separate Rates 1,009 
4 Finance income 274 
5 Financial contributions received (3,454) 
6 Vested assets (non cash) 4,121 
7 Gains (non cash) 2,170 
 (4,337) 
 
Total expenditure was $2.992m below budget 
 

 

Expenditure positive / (negative):  
8  Other expenses 4,748 
9  Personnel costs 587 
10 Depreciation and amortisation (898) 
11  Finance costs      (1,445) 
 2,992 
 
1 Revenue from activities of $17.985 million (m) is $8.653m below budget as a result of only 

$4.20m of the $9.89m Maketu wastewater scheme subsidy being received.  The balance of 
the subsidy will be received in the 2011/12 year.  Regulatory income was also lower than 
budget by $1.340m due to lower fees received as a result of the continued economic 
downturn.  Internal services income was $1.7m lower than budget due to the allocation of 
internal interest across all the activities.  

 
2  Rate income of $28,304m is $0.197m higher than the $28.107m budget. This is due to the 

additional lots created in the district from the time the budget was prepared and the rates 
being struck. 

 
3  Separate rates of $17.179m were $1.009m ahead of the $16.170m budget. This is due to a 

higher number of properties connected to Council‟s water and wastewater schemes than at 
the time of the budget being prepared. 

 
4  Finance income of $1.015m was $0.274m ahead of the $0.741m budget. This is due to 

Council‟s having a higher average cash balance during the year than initially budgeted for. 
 
5  Financial contributions of $2.990m were $3.454m below the budget of $6.444m due to the 

continued economic downturn. 

 
6  Vested assets income of $5.211m was $4.121m ahead of the budget of $1.090m, this was 

due to additional land being vested to council that was not initially budgeted for.  In particular 
a portion of State Highway 36 was vested by the New Zealand Transport Agency valued at 
$2.810m and the allocation of New Zealand emissions trading units.  This income is non-cash. 
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7  Gains income of $2.170m relates to the valuation of forestry assets owned by Council at the 

TECT all terrain park. These assets have not been valued in previous years. This income is 
non-cash. 

 
8 Other expenses of $30.998m were $4.748 million below the budget of $35.746m.  
 This was due to roading maintenance costs being $1.693m below budgeted and a reduction 

in the PBC liability of $1.190m. These form part of the 10 year performance based roading 
contract (PBC) and was managed by the contractor. 

 Level of service projects being $1.531m under budget as a result of project timing and 
deferrals.  

 The remaining $0.400m reduction in expenditure are made up of small savings across 
councils activities 

 
9 Personnel costs of $12,225 million were $0.587 million below the budget of $12.812 million. 

This is due to lower staff numbers during the financial year. 
 
10 Depreciation and amortisation expenses of $16.332m was $0.898m ahead of the budget of 

$15.434 million.  This is due to the timing of assets being capitalised and the significant 
upwards revaluations of the wastewater and stormwater assets. 

 
11 Finance costs were $1.445m ahead of the budget of $8.896m due to the downwards 

revaluation of Councils interest rate swaps.  This is a non-cash adjustment required for 
accounting purposes. 

 
In addition to the net surplus there was also $28.838m of revaluation increases as a result of the 
revaluations of Council assets performed during the year.   
 
 

Statement of Financial Position 
Actual net equity of $992.662 million versus $957.140 million in 2010. 
There was an increase in overall net equity from actual 2010 of $35.522m.  The majority of this 
movement is due to: 
 
 $000 
Increase in cash held at year end 14,449 
Increase in debtors 3,258 
Decrease in non-current assets held for sale (491) 
Increase in investment and financial assets 609 
Increase in property plant and equipment assets (including intangible assets) 48,779 

 66,604 
  
Increase in term debt for year (27,923) 
Increase in swap liability (1,788) 
Increase in creditors (3,882) 
Decrease in other liabilities 2,511 

 (31,082) 

Net movement 35,522 
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33 Explanation of major variances (continued) 
Statement of Cash flows 
2011 actual was a net increase in cash held of $14.449 million versus a budgeted net 
increase of $6.596 million and actual 2010 net decrease in cash held of  
$16.119 million. 
 
The large cash balance remaining at year end in 2011 was a result of the unspent portion of debt 
drawn down in May due to the timing of projects and anticipated debt requirements. 
 
Net cash flows from operating activities of $15.914 million versus $21.656 million 
budget and $12.199 million 2010 actual. 
 
The unfavourable variance to budget can be attributed to the $9.898m subsidy for the 
Maketu/Little Waihi wastewater scheme not being received during the 2010/11 year. AT balance 
date $4.200m had been invoiced but not received. This was offset by lower payments to supplier 
and higher cash receipts from rates and interest.   The positive variance to 2009 actual was the 
results of greater rates and interest income, as well as lower payments to suppliers.  
 
Net cash flows from investing activities of $(29.388)million versus $(34.060) million 
budget and $(24.315) million 2010 actual. 
 
Lower actual cash expenditure for capital purchases/construction was the reason for lower net cost 
compared to budget. This can be attributed to the Maketu/Little Waihi wastewater scheme not 
being completed in the 2010/11 year. The increase over 2010 was due to higher capital 
expenditure on property, plant and equipment.  
 
Net cash flows from financing activities of $27.924 million versus $19.000 million 
budget and $(4.003) million 2010 actual. 
 
The unfavourable variance to budget is due to the timing of refinancing of debt to take advantage 
of lower interest rates. This is reflected in the higher cash on hand at balance date. The variance 
to 2010 was due to lower debt repayments being made during the year as funds were required for 
the capital works programme. 
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Council’s elected members 
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Committees and membership 
 
 Council  

 His Worship the Mayor, Ross Paterson 
Cr Paul Thomas  (Deputy Mayor) 
Cr Maureen Burgess  
Cr Anne Gilmer 
Cr Kevin Marsh  
Cr Sue Matthews 
Cr Norm Mayo  
 

  
Cr Gwenda Merriman 
Cr Margaret Murray-Benge 
Cr Michael Pittar  
Cr Don Thwaites 
Cr Garry Webber  
Cr Mike Williams 

   

Operational Services Committee 
 
Cr Kevin Marsh (Chairperson) 
Cr Garry Webber (Deputy) 
Mayor Ross Paterson 
All Councillors 
 

 Strategy & Policy Committee 
 
Cr Mike Williams (Chairperson) 
Cr Don Thwaites (Deputy) 
Mayor Ross Paterson 
All Councillors 
 

Regulatory Hearings 
 
Cr Paul Thomas(Chairperson) 
Cr Maureen Burgess 
Cr Anne Gilmer 
Cr Sue Matthews  
Cr Norm Mayo  
Cr Michael Pittar  
Cr Don Thwaites 
Cr Mike Williams 
 

 Māori Forum 
 
H Rewa (Chairperson) 
Mayor Ross Paterson (Deputy) 
Cr Maureen Burgess 
Cr Anne Gilmer  
Cr Sue Matthews 
Cr Michael Pittar 
Cr Paul Thomas 
Cr Mike Williams 

Community Partnerships Sub Committee 
 
Cr Sue Matthews (Chairperson) 
Cr Margaret Murray-Benge (Deputy) 
His Worship the Mayor Ross Patterson 
Cr Kevin Marsh  
Cr Gwenda Merriman  
Cr Don Thwaites  
Cr Garry Webber  
 

 TECT All Terrain Park Sub-Committee 
 
TCC* Cr Bill Faulkner (Chairperson) 
Cr Maureen Burgess (Deputy) 
Cr Margaret Murray-Benge 
Cr Garry Webber 
Cr Tony Christiansen TCC* 
Cr Murray Guy TCC* 
 
*TCC – Tauranga City Council 
 

Risk & Assurance Sub Committee 
 
Cr Gwenda Merriman (Chairperson) 
Cr Garry Webber (Deputy) 
Mayor Ross Patterson 
All Councillors 

 Discretionary Grants Sub Committee 
 
Cr Margaret Murray-Benge (Chairperson) 
Mayor Ross Paterson 
Cr Mike Williams 
Cr Sue Matthews 
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Community Board representatives 
 

 
Katikati Community Board 
Member Bruce Duske (Chairperson) 

Member Brendan Gibbs (Deputy) 

Member Sam Dunlop 

Member George Van Dyke 
Cr Norm Mayo 

Cr Mike Williams 

 
 

 
 

 
Omokoroa Community Board 
Member Glenn Whittaker (Chairperson) 

Member Don Cameron (Deputy) 

Member Carol Dodd 

Member Chris Woods 
Cr Don Thwaites 

Cr Garry Webber 

 

 Maketu Community Board 
Member Carol Poihipi (Chairperson) 

Member Stephan Simpson (Deputy) 
Member Brian Goldsbury 

Member Rachel Clark 

Cr Kevin Marsh 

Cr Sue Matthews 

 

 

Te Puke Community Board 
Member Karyl Gunn (Chairperson) 
Member Peter Miller (Deputy) 
Member Wayne Bain 
Member Grant Dally 
Cr Maureen Burgess 
Cr Michael Pittar 
Cr Paul Thomas 

 

 Waihi Beach Community Board 
Member Murray Craig (Chairperson) 
Member Kathy Mason (Deputy) 
Member Peter Hassell 
Member Derek Mills 
Cr Anne Gilmer 
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District profile 
  Western Bay of Plenty District Council is the 
local government authority serving the 
Western Bay of Plenty located in the North 
Island of New Zealand.  The Council‟s 
catchment area covers 212,000 hectares and 
consists of 5 Wards, Waihi Beach, Katikati, 
Kaimai, Te Puke and Maketu.   
  With 42,075 people, the Western Bay of 
Plenty District has 1% of the total population 
of New Zealand.  (Statistics NZ, 2006 
Census, usually resident population count, 
ethnicity statistics reflect that people identify 
with more than one ethnic group.) 
  The District is less ethnically diverse than 
the New Zealand population as a whole and 
is dominated by Europeans (72.8%) and 
Māori (17.4%), and contains smaller 
proportions of Pacific Island (1.8%) and 
Asian people (2.5%), , other (5.5%).  
(Statistics NZ, 2006 Census, usually resident 
population count, ethnicity statistics reflect 
that people identify with more than one 
ethnic group.) 
  The District is characterised by a larger 
proportion of older (65 years and over) 
people than the national average, 15.5% 
compared with 12.3% for New Zealand.  This 
is reflected in a higher median age of 41.0 
years for residents within the District 
compared with 35.0 years for the total New 
Zealand population.  (Statistics NZ, 2006 
Census, usually resident population count, 
ethnicity statistics reflect that people identify 
with more than one ethnic group.) 
  The District has a similar proportion of 
younger people (under 15 years) as the 
national average, with 21.6% compared with 
21.5%. 
  Approximately 40% of the District‟s 
population live in urban areas. 
  Population characteristics vary significantly 
within the District.  For example, Omokoroa 
is characterised by an older population base 
while Maketu is dominated by a more 
youthful, Māori population. (Statistics NZ, 
2006 Census, usually resident population 
count, ethnicity statistics reflect that people 
identify with more than one ethnic group.) 
  Western Bay of Plenty is a growth district.  
Over the period 2001-2006 the population of 
the District increased by 10.1%, the principal 
source of this growth was through migration. 
This trend is anticipated to continue over the 
next 20 years, with a projected District 
population of 60,268 in 2026 (Western Bay 
of Plenty District Council population  

 
projections by University of Waikato 
(December 2002), updated April 2007).  
  Between 2001 and 2006, Katikati was the 
fastest growing area in the District and 
during this time the population grew by 
22.7%.  Most areas in the District 
experienced population growth since the last 
Census in 2001.  However, Waihi Beach, 
Island View-Pios Beach and Matakana Island 
all experienced a decline in population, by 
7.2%, 7.9% and 22.7% respectively. 
  The number of people aged 15 years or 
over within the District with no formal 
qualifications (28.9%) is higher than the 
national average (25.0%).  

  52.6% of householders in the District own 
or partly own their homes1 and an additional 
20.8% are owned through a family trust. 
  Couples without children make up 46.5% of 
all families in the Western Bay of Plenty 
District.  13.9% are one parent families and 
couples with children make up the remaining 
39.6%. 
  60.6% of households in the District have 
access to the internet, compared with 34.6% 
five years ago. 
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Age - Sex Distribution - 2006
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